H. G. DALES and A. ÜLGER

Pointwise approximate identities in Banach function algebras

H. G. Dales
Department of Mathematics and Statistics
University of Lancaster
Lancaster, LA1 4YF
United Kingdom
E-mail: g.dales@lancaster.ac.uk

A. Ülger Department of Mathematics Boğaziçi University 34450 Bebek, Istanbul Turkey E-mail: ali.ulger@boun.edu.tr

Contents

1. Introduction	5
2. Notation and terminology	8
3. Approximate identities	
4. The separating ball property	19
4.1. Uniform algebras	23
5. The space $L(A)$ and BSE norms	28
6. The algebra $A''/L(A)^{\perp}$	32
6.1. The subset Φ_A of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$	36
6.2. Compactness in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$	38
7. Examples	40
7.1. Elementary examples	40
7.2. Uniform algebras	40
7.3. Harmonic analysis	44
8. Existence of contractive pointwise approximate identities	
9. ℓ^1 -norms on $L(A)$	53
10. Imbedding multiplier algebras	59
11.1. Leflexive ideals	62
11.2. Weakly compact homomorphisms $\dots \dots \dots$	
12. pen questions	66
References	67
Index of terms	70
Index of symbols	73

Abstract

In this memoir, we shall study Banach function algebras that have bounded pointwise approximate identities, and especially those that have contractive pointwise approximate identities. A Banach function algebra A is (pointwise) contractive if A and every non-zero, maximal modular ideal in A have contractive (pointwise) approximate identities.

Let A be a Banach function algebra with character space Φ_A . We shall show that the existence of a contractive pointwise approximate identity in A depends closely on whether $\|\varphi\| = 1$ for each $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. The linear span of Φ_A in the dual space A' is denoted by L(A), and this is used to define the BSE norm $\|\cdot\|_{BSE}$ on A; the algebra A has a BSE norm if this norm is equivalent to the given norm. We shall then introduce and study in some detail the quotient Banach function algebra $Q(A) = A''/L(A)^{\perp}$; we shall give various examples, especially uniform algebras and those involving algebras that are standard in abstract harmonic analysis, including Segal algebras with respect to the group algebra of a locally compact group.

We shall characterize the Banach function algebras for which $\overline{L(A)} = \ell^1(\Phi_A)$, and then classify contractive and pointwise contractive algebras in the class of unital Banach function algebras that have a BSE norm; they are uniform algebras with specific properties. We shall also give examples of such algebras that do not have a BSE norm.

Finally we shall discuss when some classical Banach function algebras of harmonic analysis have non-trivial reflexive closed ideals, and make some remarks on weakly compact homomorphisms between Banach function algebras.

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 46B15; Secondary 46B28, 46B42, 47L10.

Key words and phrases: Banach algebra, Banach function algebra, regular, strongly regular, Tauberian, uniform algebra, Cole algebra, disc algebra, Gleason part, group algebra, measure algebra, Fourier algebra, Fourier–Stieltjes algebra, Beurling algebra, Figà-Talamanca–Herz algebra, Lipschitz algebra, Segal algebra, approximate identity, pointwise contractive approximate identity, contractive algebra, pointwise contractive algebra, separating ball property, bidual algebra, Arens product, BSE norm, reflexive ideals, weakly compact homomorphisms, Bochner–Schoenberg–Eberlein theorem, Markov–Kakutani fixed-point theorem, Schauder– Tychonoff fixed-point theorem.

1. Introduction

Let A be a Banach function algebra, so that A is a commutative, semi-simple Banach algebra, with character space Φ_A . There are many notions of 'approximate identity' associated with A and its maximal modular ideals. Here we concentrate on studying bounded pointwise approximate identities (BPAIs) and contractive pointwise approximate identities (CPAIs) in A. A net (e_α) in a Banach function algebra A is a CPAI if $||e_\alpha|| \leq 1$ for each α and $\lim_{\alpha} e_\alpha(\varphi) = 1$ ($\varphi \in \Phi_A$); as in [18], a Banach function algebra is defined to be pointwise contractive if A and all its non-zero, maximal modular ideals have a CPAI. These nets play an important role in the study of so-called BSE algebras, of the BSE norm, and the determination of the space $\overline{L(A)}$ and the algebra $A''/L(A)^{\perp}$, where $L(A) = \lim \Phi_A$ in A'. Here A'' is the bidual space of a Banach algebra A, taken with the first Arens product.

In this memoir, we shall characterize in various ways Banach function algebras that have a CPAI and that are pointwise contractive, and give various properties of Banach function algebras with a CPAI. In particular, we shall obtain new results about Segal algebras with respect to a Banach function algebra. We shall also define and study the quotient algebra $Q(A) = A''/L(A)^{\perp}$, showing that it is also always a Banach function algebra; we shall discuss when this quotient algebra is a uniform algebra.

We shall give various examples of Banach function algebras to illustrate the above concepts. These will mainly be uniform algebras and algebras that arise in harmonic analysis, including group algebras, measure algebras, and Segal algebras.

Summary In Chapter 2, we shall recall some definitions and establish our notation; in particular, we shall define Banach function algebras and recall some of their standard properties, including regularity and strong regularity; we shall define multipliers on and the bidual of a Banach function algebra using the Arens products, noting that sometimes a Banach function algebra is an ideal in its bidual. We shall also define dual Banach function algebras.

In Chapter 3, we shall give some preliminary results on pointwise contractive Banach function algebras and, in particular, pointwise contractive uniform algebras. We shall define an abstract Segal algebra with respect to a given Banach function algebra.

In Chapter 4, we shall define the separating ball property and weak separating ball property for Banach function algebras, and shall obtain some results, in particular involving strong boundary points and Gleason parts for uniform algebras.

In Chapter 5, we shall introduce the key space L(A) for a Banach function algebra A, and use it to define the BSE norm on A. The terminology 'BSE norm' arises from the

Bochner–Schoenberg–Eberlein theorem, which shows, in particular, that the BSE norm on a group algebra $L^1(G)$ for a locally compact abelian group G is equal to the given norm. For example, in this chapter, we shall show that a Banach function algebra that is an ideal in its bidual and has a bounded pointwise approximate identity has a BSE norm.

The space L(A) will lead us in Chapter 6 to the definition of the Banach space $Q(A) = A''/L(A)^{\perp}$, an apparently new abstract definition; we shall prove that Q(A) is also a Banach function algebra for every Banach function algebra A. The algebra Q(A) has an identity if and only if A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. The character space Φ_A of A is naturally regarded as a subset of the character space $\Phi_{Q(A)}$ of Q(A) (although the embedding of Φ_A in $\Phi_{Q(A)}$ is rarely continuous). We shall consider when Φ_A , regarded as a subset of $\Phi_{Q(A)}$, is open and discrete and when its closure is compact. We shall see that Φ_A is open and discrete when A has the weak separating ball property; the closure of Φ_A in $\Phi_{Q(A)}$ is compact if and only if Φ_A is weakly closed in A'.

In Chapter 7, we shall give a number of examples of Banach function algebras A, and we shall determine the corresponding Banach function algebras $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ and the character space $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$; most of these examples are uniform algebras or are related to well-known Banach algebras that arise in abstract harmonic analysis. In particular, we shall identify $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ when A is the disc algebra and when A is the group algebra of a locally compact abelian group.

In Chapter 8, we shall characterize those Banach function algebras that have a contractive pointwise approximate identity, and then use this to prove as a main result the equality of two Banach function algebras $\mathcal{Q}(S_1)$ and $\mathcal{Q}(S_2)$, where S_1 and S_2 are Segal algebras with respect to the same Banach function algebra and both have contractive pointwise approximate identities. This implies that a Segal algebra S with respect to a group algebra on a locally compact abelian group G such that S has a contractive pointwise approximate identity has a BSE norm only in the special case that $S = L^1(G)$.

In Chapter 9, we shall first prove in Theorem 9.3 a classification theorem for contractive and for pointwise contractive unital Banach function algebras A that have a BSE norm: these Banach function algebras are equivalent to uniform algebras that have specific properties. It will be shown in Examples 9.11 and 9.12, respectively, that pointwise contractive and contractive Banach function algebras do not necessarily have a BSE norm and may not be equivalent to a uniform algebra.

We shall also in Chapter 9 compare, for a Banach function algebra A, the two Banach spaces $(\overline{L(A)}, \|\cdot\|)$ and $(\ell^1(\Phi_A), \|\cdot\|_1)$, and consider when these spaces are isomorphic or isometrically isomorphic. For example, in Theorem 9.8, we shall show that the canonical linear map $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isometric surjection if and only if A is pointwise contractive and its BSE norm is equal to the uniform norm. We shall address the question when $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra. In Theorem 9.10(i), we shall show that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra whenever it is the case that the above canonical linear map is an isometric surjection; the converse holds whenever A is dense in the space $(C_0(\Phi_A), |\cdot|_{\Phi_A})$, but the disc algebra will show that the converse is not true in general. Further, Example 9.11 will show that, for a certain Segal algebra M with respect to $C_0((0, 1])$, the algebra $\mathcal{Q}(M)$ is a uniform algebra, but M is not itself a uniform algebra.

In Chapter 10, we shall show that, for each Banach function algebra A that has a contractive pointwise approximate identity and whose norm is equal to its BSE norm, the multiplier algebra of A embeds isometrically into the unital Banach function algebra Q(A). This result extends a known theorem in which it is supposed that the algebra A has a contractive approximate identity.

In Chapter 11, we shall use the earlier results to consider when certain Banach function algebras contain non-trivial closed ideals that are reflexive Banach spaces, and consider when there are non-trivial weakly compact homomorphisms between two Banach function algebras.

We shall conclude with a list of some questions that we cannot resolve.

Acknowledgements The first author is grateful to the second author and Boğaziçi University for generous hospitality on several occasions.

We are very grateful indeed to the referee for a very careful reading of the first and second submissions of this manuscript, and for many valuable comments that led to corrections and improvements of some initial theorems.

2. Notation and terminology

We shall now recall some definitions and notations that we shall use in this memoir; in general, we shall follow the notation of the monograph [12] and our earlier paper [18].

The natural numbers and integers are $\mathbb{N} = \{1, 2, 3, ...\}$ and \mathbb{Z} , respectively; the complex plane is denoted by \mathbb{C} ; the open unit disc in \mathbb{C} is denoted by

$$\mathbb{D} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1 \},\$$

and the unit circle is $\mathbb{T} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$. The closed unit interval [0, 1] in the real line \mathbb{R} is denoted by \mathbb{I} . For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, set $\mathbb{N}_n = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$. The cardinality of a set S is denoted by |S|.

All linear spaces are taken to be over \mathbb{C} unless stated otherwise. Let E be a linear space, with a non-empty subset S. Then the linear span of S is $\lim S$ and the convex hull in E of S is denoted by $\cos S$.

Let E be a normed space. Then we denote the Banach space which is the dual space of E by E', with the duality specified by

$$(x,\lambda) \mapsto \langle x, \lambda \rangle, \quad E \times E' \to \mathbb{C};$$

sometimes this duality is written as $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{E,E'}$. The second dual space, or *bidual space*, of E is E'' = (E')', and we regard E as a subspace of E''; the canonical embedding is $\kappa_E : E \to E''$, where

$$\langle \kappa_E(x), \lambda \rangle = \langle x, \lambda \rangle \quad (x \in E, \lambda \in E').$$

The closed ball in E that is centred at 0 and of radius $r \ge 0$ is $E_{[r]}$; the weak topology on E is $\sigma(E, E')$ and the weak-* topology on E' is $\sigma(E', E)$. Thus the closed ball $E'_{[r]}$ is weak-* compact and $E_{[r]}$ is weak-* dense in $E''_{[r]}$ for each $r \ge 0$.

Suppose that $\|\cdot\|_1$ and $\|\cdot\|_2$ are two norms on a linear space E. Then we say that $\|\cdot\|_1 \leq \|\cdot\|_2$ if there is a constant C > such that $\|x\|_1 \leq C \|x\|_2$ $(x \in E)$, and

 $\|\cdot\|_1\sim\|\cdot\|_2$

when the two norms are equivalent, so that $\|\cdot\|_1 \leq \|\cdot\|_2$ and $\|\cdot\|_2 \leq \|\cdot\|_1$.

Let E and F be two Banach spaces. The Banach space of all bounded linear operators from E to F is denoted by

$$\left(\mathcal{B}(E,F), \left\|\cdot\right\|_{\mathrm{op}}\right),$$

with $\mathcal{B}(E)$ for $\mathcal{B}(E, E)$. Let $T \in \mathcal{B}(E, F)$. Then $T' \in \mathcal{B}(F', E')$ and $T'' \in \mathcal{B}(E'', F'')$ are the *adjoint* and the *second adjoint* of T, respectively; certainly, we have

$$||T||_{\text{op}} = ||T'||_{\text{op}} = ||T''||_{\text{op}}.$$

The two spaces E and F are *isomorphic* if there is an operator $T \in \mathcal{B}(E, F)$ that is bijective, and we then write

$$E \sim F;$$

the spaces are *isometrically isomorphic* if there is an isometry $T \in \mathcal{B}(E, F)$ that is bijective, and we then write

$$E \cong F$$
.

Let E be a Banach space with a closed linear subspace F. Then the quotient space E/F is a Banach space with respect to the quotient norm. The *annihilator* in E' of a non-empty subset S of E is

$$S^{\perp} = \{ \lambda \in E' : \lambda \mid S = 0 \},\$$

so that S^{\perp} is a weak-* closed linear subspace of E' and $E'/S^{\perp} \cong F'$, where F is the closed linear span of S. For each closed linear subspace F of E, we have

$$\left\|\lambda + F^{\perp}\right\| = \inf\{\|\lambda + \mu\| : \mu \in F^{\perp}\} = \sup\{|\langle \zeta, \lambda \rangle| : \zeta \in F_{[1]}\}$$
(2.1)

for each $\lambda \in E'$; further, we always have $(E/F)' \cong F^{\perp}$. Indeed, $\lambda \in F^{\perp}$ acts on E/F by setting

$$\langle x + F, \lambda \rangle = \langle x, \lambda \rangle \quad (x \in E).$$
 (2.2)

The space F'' is identified with the space $(F^{\perp})^{\perp}$.

A closed subspace F of a Banach space E is *complemented in* E if there is a closed subspace G of E such that $E = F \oplus G$, or, equivalently, such that there is a projection $P \in \mathcal{B}(E)$ with P(E) = F. We shall later consider Banach spaces that are complemented in their biduals. For example, suppose that E is isomorphically a dual Banach space, so that $E \sim F'$ for a Banach space F. Then the dual of the canonical embedding of F into F'' is a bounded projection

$$P: \Lambda \mapsto \Lambda \mid \kappa_F(F), \quad E'' \to E,$$

such that $||P: F''' \to F'||_{op} = 1$ (this is the *Dixmier projection*), and so we can regard F as a closed subspace of E' and write

$$E'' = \kappa_E(E) \oplus F^{\perp} = E \oplus F^{\perp}$$
(2.3)

as a Banach space; this shows that E is complemented in its bidual.

All algebras considered here are linear (over \mathbb{C}) and associative. The *centre* and *character space* of an algebra A are denoted by $\mathfrak{Z}(A)$ and Φ_A , respectively; the maximal modular ideal that is the kernel of a character φ is denoted by M_{φ} . An *idempotent* in A is an element $p \in A$ such that $p^2 = p$. Let B be a subalgebra and I an ideal of A such that $A = B \oplus I$ as linear spaces. Then A is the *semi-direct product* of B and I, and we write

$$A = B \ltimes I$$

The algebra formed by adjoining an identity to a non-unital algebra A is denoted by A^{\sharp} ; in the case where A already has an identity, we set $A^{\sharp} = A$.

Let A be a Banach algebra. Each character φ on A is continuous, with $\|\varphi\| \leq 1$, and Φ_A is a locally compact subspace of the dual space A' of A (when A' has the weak-* topology); in fact, $\Phi_A \cup \{0\}$ is always a weak-*-compact subset of $A'_{[1]}$, and Φ_A is compact when A has an identity.

Let I be a closed ideal in a Banach algebra A, with quotient map $q: A \to A/I$. Then the identification of $\varphi \in \Phi_{A/I}$ with $\varphi \circ q \in \Phi_A$ gives a homeomorphism that identifies $\Phi_{A/I}$ as a closed subset of $\Phi_A \cup \{0\}$.

A multiplier of a commutative algebra A is a linear map $T: A \to A$ such that

$$T(ab) = aT(b) = T(a)b \quad (a, b \in A)$$

The collection of all the multipliers on A is a unital, commutative subalgebra of the algebra of all linear maps on A; it is called the *multiplier algebra* of A, and it is denoted by $\mathcal{M}(A)$. For a study of multipliers on general (non-commutative) Banach algebras, see the texts [12, 41, 42, 44], for example.

We denote by $(C^{b}(K), |\cdot|_{K})$ the commutative Banach algebra of all bounded, continuous functions on a non-empty, locally compact space K (always taken to be Hausdorff), where $|\cdot|_{K}$ is the uniform norm on K. The function that is constantly 1 on K is 1_{K} , so that 1_{K} is the identity of $C^{b}(K)$. We denote by $C_{0}(K)$ the algebra of all continuous functions that vanish at infinity on K (with C(K) for $C_{0}(K)$ when K is compact), so that $C_{0}(K)$ is a closed ideal in $C^{b}(K)$. The ideal in $C_{0}(K)$ consisting of the functions of compact support is $C_{00}(K)$, so that $C_{00}(K)$ is uniformly dense in $C_{0}(K)$.

Let S be a non-empty set, and let E be a subset of \mathbb{C}^S . The weakest topology τ on S such that each $f \in E$ is continuous with respect to τ is the *E*-topology on S; it is denoted by τ_E .

DEFINITION 2.1. Let K be a non-empty, locally compact space. A function algebra on K is a non-zero subalgebra A of $C^{b}(K)$ that separates strongly the points of K, in the sense that, for each $x, y \in K$ with $x \neq y$, there exists $f \in A$ with f(x) = 0 and f(y) = 1, and is such that the given topology on K is τ_A .

In the case where A is a subalgebra of $C_0(K)$ that separates strongly the points of K, the topology τ_A is necessarily equal to the given topology on K [12, Proposition 4.1.2].

DEFINITION 2.2. Let K be a non-empty, locally compact space. A Banach function algebra on K is a function algebra A on K that is also a Banach algebra with respect to a norm $\|\cdot\|$. In the case where $1_K \in A$ and $\|1_K\| = 1$, the algebra A is a unital Banach function algebra on K.

Let $(A, \|\cdot\|_A)$ and $(B, \|\cdot\|_B)$ be Banach function algebras on the same locally compact space K. Then we write write A = B to show that A and B consist of the same functions on K; in this case, $\|\cdot\|_A \sim \|\cdot\|_B$. We write $((A, \|\cdot\|_A) = (B, \|\cdot\|_B)$ to show that, further, the norms $\|\cdot\|_A$ and $\|\cdot\|_B$ are equal on the algebra, so that $A \cong B$ as Banach spaces.

Each Banach function algebra A on a locally compact space is a commutative, semisimple Banach algebra and $||f|| \ge |f|_K$ $(f \in A)$. Further, A is algebraically isomorphic by the Gel'fand transform to a Banach function algebra on Φ_A that is contained in $C_0(\Phi_A)$, and we shall usually identify A with its image by this transform. The space Φ_A is compact if and only if A has an identity. See [12, 18], etc.

Let A be a Banach function algebra. A subset Ω of Φ_A is determining for A if f = 0whenever $f \in A$ and $f \mid \Omega = 0$.

DEFINITION 2.3. A Banach function algebra $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ on a non-empty, locally compact space K is a uniform algebra if $\|f\| = |f|_K$ $(f \in A)$, and A is equivalent to a uniform algebra on K if there is a constant C > 0 such that $\|f\| \le C \|f\|_K$ $(f \in A)$, so that $\|\cdot\| \sim \|\cdot\|_K$.

Thus $C^{b}(K)$ is a unital uniform algebra on K, and $C_{0}(K)$ is a uniform algebra on K. The Gel'fand transform of a uniform algebra A is a uniform algebra on Φ_{A} . The classic texts on uniform algebras include those of Browder [7], Gamelin [31], and Stout [51]. Note that, in these texts, a uniform algebra is, by definition, a closed subalgebra A of C(K) for a (non-empty) compact space K such that A contains the constant functions and separates the points of K, so our definition is somewhat more general.

Let A be a Banach function algebra on a non-empty, locally compact space K. The *evaluation character* at $x \in K$ is the map

$$\varepsilon_x : f \mapsto f(x), \quad A \to \mathbb{C}.$$
 (2.4)

The map $x \mapsto \varepsilon_x$, $K \to \Phi_A$, is a homeomorphic embedding, and we regard K as a subspace of Φ_A . The algebra A is *natural* if $K = \Phi_A$. For $x \in K$, we write M_x for the corresponding maximal modular ideal of A that is the kernel of the character ε_x , and, for convenience, we also set $M_{\infty} = A$. In the case where $|K| \ge 2$, the ideal M_x is a Banach function algebra on $K \setminus \{x\}$ for each $x \in K$.

Let M be a uniform algebra, and suppose that M does not have an identity, so that Φ_M is not compact. Set $K = \Phi_M \cup \{\infty\}$, the one-point compactification of Φ_M , and regard M as a subalgebra of C(K) by setting $f(\infty) = 0$ $(f \in M)$. We identify $A = M^{\sharp}$ with $\{z_{1K} + f : z \in \mathbb{C}, f \in A\}$, and define

$$||z1_K + f|| = |z1_K + f|_K \quad (z \in \mathbb{C}, f \in M),$$

so that A is a natural, unital uniform algebra on K and A contains M as a maximal ideal.

The Banach space of all complex-valued, regular Borel measures on a locally compact space K with the total variation norm is M(K), identified with the dual space, $C_0(K)'$, of $C_0(K)$ by the Riesz representation theorem. A particular closed subspace of M(K) is $\ell^1(K)$, identified with

$$\left\{\mu = \sum_{x \in K} \alpha_x \delta_x \in M(K) : \|\mu\| = \sum_{x \in K} |\alpha_x| < \infty\right\},\$$

where δ_x is the point mass at x and $\alpha_x \in \mathbb{C}$ for $x \in K$.

Let K be a non-empty, locally compact space. Then $\overline{f}(x) = \overline{f(x)}$ $(x \in K)$ for $f \in C^b(K)$. A natural Banach function algebra $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ on K is *self-adjoint* if $\overline{f} \in A$ and $\|\overline{f}\| = \|f\|$ for each $f \in A$, so that the map $f \mapsto \overline{f}$ is an isometric involution on A. Of course, every self-adjoint Banach function algebra on K is dense in $(C_0(K), |\cdot|_K)$.

Let $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach function algebra, with multiplier algebra $\mathcal{M}(A)$. We regard $\mathcal{M}(A)$ as a subalgebra of $C^{b}(\Phi_{A})$ by setting

$$\mathcal{M}(A) = \{ f \in C^{b}(\Phi_{A}) : fA \subset A \},\$$

so that $(\mathcal{M}(A), \|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{op}})$ is a unital Banach function algebra on Φ_A , and we regard A as an ideal in $\mathcal{M}(A)$ by identifying a function $f \in A$ with the multiplier $L_f : g \mapsto fg, A \to A$, in $\mathcal{M}(A)$. Clearly we have

$$|f|_{\Phi_A} \le ||f||_{\text{op}} \le ||f|| \quad (f \in A).$$
(2.5)

Let A be a Banach function algebra on a non-empty, locally compact space K. A non-empty, closed subset S of K is a *peak set* for A if there is a function $f \in A$ with

f(x) = 1 $(x \in S)$ and |f(y)| < 1 $(y \in K \setminus S)$. A point $x \in K$ is a *peak point* if $\{x\}$ is a peak set and a *strong boundary point* if, for each open neighbourhood U of x, there exists $f \in A$ with $f(x) = |f|_K = 1$ and $|f|_{K \setminus U} < 1$. In the case where X is metrizable, every strong boundary point for A is a peak point.

Let K be a non-empty, compact subspace of \mathbb{C}^n , where $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The coordinate projections on K are denoted by Z_1, \ldots, Z_n . Consider the algebra of restrictions to K of all polynomials; the uniform closure in C(K) of this algebra is denoted by P(K). The uniform closure of the restrictions to K of the rational functions that are analytic on a neighbourhood of K is denoted by R(K), and the space consisting of all functions in C(K) that are analytic on int K, the interior of K, is denoted by A(K). Thus P(K), R(K), and A(K) are unital uniform algebras on K with

$$P(K) \subset R(K) \subset A(K) \subset C(K).$$

In particular, we shall mention the *disc algebra*, defined to be $P(\overline{\mathbb{D}}) = A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$; $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ is a natural uniform algebra on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$.

A Banach function algebra A on a locally compact space K is regular on K if, for each non-empty, closed subspace S of K and each $x \in K \setminus S$, there exists $f \in A$ with f(x) = 1 and $f \mid S = 0$; a Banach function algebra A is regular if it is regular on Φ_A . For $x \in K \cup \{\infty\}$, we set

$$J_x = J_x(A) = \{ f \in A \cap C_{00}(K) : x \notin \operatorname{supp} f \},\$$

so that J_x is also an ideal in A, with $J_x \subset M_x$. Here, supp f, the support of $f \in A$, is the closure in K of the set $\{x \in K : f(x) \neq 0\}$. The Banach function algebra A is strongly regular at x if J_x is dense in M_x , and A is strongly regular on K if this holds for each $x \in K \cup \{\infty\}$. Every strongly regular Banach function algebra is natural and regular. The algebra A is Tauberian if $J_{\infty}(A)$ is dense in A, and so a strongly regular Banach function algebra is Tauberian. For proofs of these remarks and more, related properties of Banach function algebras, see [12, §4.1].

Let A be a Banach function algebra, and suppose that I is a closed ideal in A. The *hull* of I is the closed subset

$$h(I) = \{\varphi \in \Phi_A : \varphi(f) = 0 \ (f \in I)\}$$

of Φ_A . We can identify Φ_I with $\Phi_A \setminus h(I)$ and $\Phi_{A/I}$ with h(I). For a closed subset S of Φ_A , set

$$I(S) = \{ f \in A : f \mid S = 0 \},\$$

so that I(S) is a closed ideal in A, and also set

$$J(S) = \{ f \in J_{\infty} : \operatorname{supp} f \cap S = \emptyset \},\$$

an ideal in A. When A is a regular Banach function algebra, h(I(S)) = S and

$$\overline{I(S)} \subset I \subset I(S)$$
, where $S = h(I)$, (2.6)

for each closed ideal I in A. The set S is a set of synthesis if $\overline{J(S)} = I(S)$.

A Banach sequence algebra on a non-empty set S is a Banach function algebra A on S (taken with the discrete topology) such that $c_{00}(S) \subset A \subset \ell^{\infty}(S)$, where $c_{00}(S)$ denotes the algebra of functions of finite support on S and $\ell^{\infty}(S)$ is the algebra of all bounded functions on S. A natural Banach sequence algebra on S is contained in $c_0(S)$. For Banach sequence algebras, $J_{\infty}(A) = c_{00}(S)$, and so a Banach sequence algebra is Tauberian if and only if $c_{00}(S)$ is dense in A. A Tauberian Banach sequence algebra is natural, a natural Banach sequence algebra is always regular, and it is strongly regular if and only if it is Tauberian. For example, the space ℓ^p of all p-summable sequences on \mathbb{N} is a Tauberian Banach sequence algebra whenever $1 \leq p < \infty$.

Let A be a Banach algebra. Then the dual and bidual spaces A' and A'' are Banach Abimodules for operations denoted by \cdot . There are two products, \Box and \diamond , on the Banach space A'', called the *first* and *second Arens products*, that extend the module actions on A''. We recall the definition of the product \Box . Let $a \in A$, $\lambda \in A'$, and $M \in A''$. Then $a \cdot \lambda \in A'$ and $\lambda \cdot M \in A'$ are defined by

$$\langle b, a \cdot \lambda \rangle = \langle ba, \lambda \rangle \quad (b \in A), \quad \langle a, \lambda \cdot M \rangle = \langle M, a \cdot \lambda \rangle \quad (a \in A),$$

and then, for $M, N \in A''$, we define $M \square N \in A''$ by

$$\langle \mathbf{M} \Box \mathbf{N}, \lambda \rangle = \langle \mathbf{M}, \mathbf{N} \cdot \lambda \rangle \quad (\lambda \in A').$$

The basic theorem of Arens is that $\kappa_A : A \to A''$ is an isometric algebra monomorphism of a Banach algebra A into both (A'', \Box) and (A'', \diamondsuit) . The algebra A is *Arens regular* if the two products \Box and \diamondsuit agree on A''.

For detailed terminology and a full definition of the two Arens products, see [12, §2.6]. Let A be a Banach algebra. We shall usually identify A with $\kappa_A(A)$ and write just A'' for (A'', \Box) . For each $N \in A''$, the map

$$R_{\rm N}: {\rm M} \mapsto {\rm M} \Box {\rm N}, \quad A'' \to A'',$$

is always weak-* continuous on A'', and the map $L_a : \mathbf{M} \mapsto a \cdot \mathbf{M}, A'' \to A''$, is weak-* continuous for each $a \in A$. The algebra A is Arens regular if and only if the map

$$L_{\rm N}: {\rm M} \mapsto {\rm N} \Box {\rm M}, \quad A'' \to A'',$$

is also weak-* continuous for each $N \in A''$. (For certain 'strongly Arens irregular' Banach function algebras, including the group algebra of a locally compact group, the map $L_N : M \mapsto N \square M, A'' \to A''$, is continuous only when $N \in A$; see [16, 17].)

Let A be a commutative Banach algebra. We see that

$$\mathbf{M} \cdot \varphi = \varphi \cdot \mathbf{M} = \langle \mathbf{M}, \varphi \rangle \varphi \quad (\mathbf{M} \in A'', \varphi \in \Phi_A), \qquad (2.7)$$

and so

$$\langle \mathbf{M} \Box \mathbf{N}, \varphi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{M}, \varphi \rangle \langle \mathbf{N}, \varphi \rangle \quad (\mathbf{M}, \mathbf{N} \in A'', \varphi \in \Phi_A).$$
 (2.8)

For each $\varphi \in \Phi_A$, define $\tilde{\varphi}$ on A'' by setting $\tilde{\varphi}(M) = \langle M, \varphi \rangle$ $(M \in A'')$. Then it follows from (2.8) that $\tilde{\varphi} \in \Phi_{A''}$, and so we shall regard Φ_A as a subset of $\Phi_{A''}$ via the embedding $\varphi \mapsto \tilde{\varphi}$. However the embedding of Φ_A into $\Phi_{A''}$ is not necessarily continuous; this occurs if and only if the weak and weak-* topologies of A' coincide when restricted to Φ_A . There is a natural projection

$$\pi_A: \varphi \to \varphi \mid \kappa_A(A), \quad \Phi_{A''} \to \Phi_A \cup \{0\}$$

A commutative Banach algebra A is Arens regular if and only if (A'', \Box) is commutative, i.e., if and only if $\mathfrak{Z}(A'') = A''$. For example, for each locally compact space K, the algebra $C_0(K)$ is Arens regular, and the bidual $C_0(K)''$ is identified with $C(\tilde{K})$, where \tilde{K} is the compact space which is the *hyper-Stonean envelope* of the locally compact space K; see [13] for a discussion and several 'constructions' of \tilde{K} . Since closed subalgebras (and quotients) of Arens regular Banach algebras are Arens regular, it follows that every uniform algebra A is Arens regular, and A'' is a closed subalgebra of $C(\tilde{K})$ (although it may not separate the points of \tilde{K}). Thus A'' is a uniform algebra on $\Phi_{A''}$.

A Banach function algebra A is an ideal in its bidual if $\kappa_A(A)$ is an ideal in (A'', \Box) . This is the case if and only if the map

$$L_f: g \mapsto fg, \quad A \to A,$$

is weakly compact for each $f \in A$. Let A be a Tauberian Banach sequence algebra. Then it is easy to see that A is an ideal in its bidual [18, Proposition 2.8].

For the next definition, we follow the new book of V. Runde [49, Chapter 5], where references to earlier work are given.

Let A be a Banach algebra, with dual module A', and take a closed subspace F of A'. Then there is a canonical operator $\theta : a \mapsto \kappa_A(a) \mid F, A \to F'$, so that

$$\theta(a)(\lambda) = \langle a, \lambda \rangle \quad (a \in A, \lambda \in F)$$

Clearly θ is a contraction, and θ is a module homomorphism when F is a submodule of A'. A predual for A is a closed submodule F of A' such that the above map θ is an isomorphism. The algebra A is a dual Banach algebra if it has a predual; A is an isometric dual Banach algebra if the map θ is an isometry. A predual for A is unique if it is the only closed submodule of A' with respect to which A is a dual Banach algebra.

We note that a predual of a Banach algebra is not necessarily unique. For example, let E be any non-zero Banach space, so that E is a Banach algebra for the zero product. Then any Banach space F such that F' = E, regarded as a closed subspace of F'' = E' is a predual for E, so that E is a dual Banach algebra. Certainly the Banach space ℓ^1 has many Banach-space preduals no two of which are mutually isomorphic as Banach spaces. Thus, strictly, we should refer to a pair (A, F) when discussing dual Banach algebras. However, when the predual is clear from the context, as will almost always be the case in this memoir, we shall not indicate F in the notation, and just say that 'A is a dual Banach algebra'. A dual Banach function algebra is a Banach function algebra that is a dual Banach algebra.

For example, let G be a locally compact group. Then it is standard that the measure algebra $(M(G), \star, \|\cdot\|)$ on G is a dual Banach algebra with predual $C_0(G)$; for details, see [49, Example 5.1.3]. The uniqueness of preduals for various examples, including M(G) and some semigroup algebras, is explored in the papers [20, 21]. A C^{*}-algebra is a dual Banach algebra if and only if it is a von Neumann algebra.

Let A be a Banach algebra that is a dual Banach algebra with predual F. Then it is clear that the product in A is separately $\sigma(A, F)$ -continuous. On the other hand, as in [49], a Banach space F that is an isomorphic predual of A and such that the product in A is separately $\sigma(A, F)$ -continuous is a predual of A in a natural way.

Let (A, F) be a dual Banach algebra. Then it follows that

$$A'' = \kappa_A(A) \oplus F^{\perp} = A \oplus F^{\perp}$$
(2.9)

as a Banach space, where the projection $P : A'' \to A$ is the restriction map given by $P(\mathbf{M}) = \mathbf{M} \mid F \ (\mathbf{M} \in A'')$, and hence F^{\perp} is a weak-*-closed ideal in A'', and

$$A'' = A \ltimes F^{\perp} \tag{2.10}$$

as an algebra.

Let A be a Banach algebra. Then it is immediate from the definition that A'' is a dual Banach algebra, with Banach-algebra predual A', if and only if A is Arens regular. In particular, in the case where A is a uniform algebra, the bidual A'' is a uniform algebra on $\Phi_{A''}$ that is a dual Banach function algebra.

We shall several times use the following famous *Markov–Kakutani fixed-point theorem*; see [23, V.10.6] or [45, Proposition (0.14)] for classical proofs.

THEOREM 2.4. Let L be a non-empty, compact, convex set in a locally convex space. Suppose that \mathcal{F} is a commuting family of continuous, affine maps from L to L. Then the operators in \mathcal{F} have a common fixed point in L.

We shall also use the Schauder-Tychonoff fixed-point theorem [23, V.10.5].

THEOREM 2.5. Let K be a non-empty, compact, convex set in a locally convex space. Then every continuous function from K to K has a fixed point. \blacksquare

3. Approximate identities

We shall recall the definitions of various types of approximate identities that we shall consider in a commutative Banach algebra, and give some preliminary results.

DEFINITION 3.1. Let A be a commutative Banach algebra. A net (e_{α}) in A is an approximate identity if $\lim_{\alpha} e_{\alpha} a = a$ $(a \in A)$; it is a bounded approximate identity (BAI) if, further, $\sup_{\alpha} ||e_{\alpha}|| < \infty$, and in this case the bound is $\sup_{\alpha} ||e_{\alpha}||$. A BAI is a contractive approximate identity (CAI) if the bound is 1.

The following result is immediate.

PROPOSITION 3.2. Let A be a Banach function algebra with a bounded approximate identity of bound m. Then

 $\left\|f\right\|_{\mathrm{op}} \le \left\|f\right\| \le m \left\|f\right\|_{\mathrm{op}} \quad \left(f \in A\right),$

and so $\|\cdot\|$ and $\|\cdot\|_{op}$ are equivalent on A.

DEFINITION 3.3. Let $(A, \|\cdot\|_A)$ be a Banach function algebra. A Banach function algebra $(S, \|\cdot\|_S)$ on Φ_A is a *Segal algebra* (with respect to A) if S is an ideal in A and if there is a net in S that is an approximate identity for both $(A, \|\cdot\|_A)$ and $(S, \|\cdot\|_S)$.

Thus, in this situation, S is dense in A; the Banach function algebra S is natural on Φ_A , and we may, and shall, suppose that

 $\left\|f\right\|_{A} \leq \left\|f\right\|_{S} \quad (f \in S) \quad \text{and} \quad \left\|fg\right\|_{S} \leq \left\|f\right\|_{A} \left\|g\right\|_{S} \quad (f \in A, \, g \in S) \,.$

This shows that a Segal algebra is a Banach A-module in the sense of [12, p. 239].

Examples of Segal algebras will be given later. For more information on Segal algebras, see [12, pp. 409–410, 491–492].

The following two definitions were essentially given as [18, Definitions 2.3 and 2.11].

DEFINITION 3.4. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then A is *contractive* if A and each of its non-zero, maximal modular ideals have a contractive approximate identity.

For example, for any non-empty, locally compact space K, the Banach function algebra $C_0(K)$ is contractive. Note that $C_0(K) = \mathbb{C}$ when |K| = 1.

DEFINITION 3.5. Let A be a Banach function algebra. A net (e_{α}) in A is a pointwise approximate identity (PAI) if

$$\lim_{\alpha} e_{\alpha}(\varphi) = 1 \quad (\varphi \in \Phi_A);$$

the pointwise approximate identity (e_{α}) is bounded, with bound m > 0, if

$$\sup_{\alpha} \|e_{\alpha}\| = m \,,$$

and then (e_{α}) is a bounded pointwise approximate identity (BPAI); a bounded pointwise approximate identity of bound 1 is a contractive pointwise approximate identity (CPAI). The algebra A is pointwise contractive if A and each of its non-zero, maximal modular ideals have a contractive pointwise approximate identity. We note that, despite the use of the term 'approximate identity' in the above definition, a bounded pointwise approximate identity need not be an approximate identity in the sense of Definition 3.1.

Thus a Banach function algebra $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ with $|\Phi_A| \ge 2$ is pointwise contractive if and only if, for each $\varphi \in \Phi_A \cup \{\infty\}$, each non-empty, finite subset F of Φ_A with $\varphi \notin F$, and each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $f \in M_{\varphi}$ with $\|f\| < 1 + \varepsilon$ and $|1 - f(\psi)| < \varepsilon$ ($\psi \in F$), and this holds if and only if, for each $\varphi \in \Phi_A \cup \{\infty\}$, there exists $M \in M_{\varphi}^{"}$ such that $\|M\| = 1$ and $\langle M, \psi \rangle = 1$ ($\psi \in \Phi_A \setminus \{\varphi\}$).

Examples of Banach function algebras with contractive pointwise approximate identities, but no approximate identities, were first given by Jones and Lahr in [37]; further examples are given in [18] and [35]. We shall note in Example 7.7 that there are natural, unital uniform algebras A on a compact space with maximal ideals M such that M has a contractive pointwise approximate identity, but such that M has no approximate identity.

The following is clear.

PROPOSITION 3.6. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$ such that M_{φ} is non-zero. Suppose that A and M_{φ} have bounded pointwise approximate identities. Then there exists an element $M \in A''$ such that $\langle M, \varphi \rangle = 1$ and $\langle M, \psi \rangle = 0$ ($\psi \in \Phi_A \setminus \{\varphi\}$).

PROPOSITION 3.7. Let A be a Banach function algebra that is an ideal in its bidual, and suppose that A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Then A has a bounded approximate identity with the same bound.

Proof. This is [18, Proposition 3.1].

PROPOSITION 3.8. Let A be a pointwise contractive Banach function algebra.

(i) Take F and G to be disjoint, non-empty, finite subsets of Φ_A , and take $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists $f \in A_{[1]}$ such that $|1 - f(\varphi)| < \varepsilon$ ($\varphi \in F$) and such that $f(\psi) = 0$ ($\psi \in G$).

(ii) Let $\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n$ be distinct points in Φ_A , take $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$, and take $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists $f \in A_{[4]}$ such that $|f(\varphi_i) - \alpha_i| < \varepsilon$ $(i \in \mathbb{N}_n)$.

Proof. (i) Set k = |G|, and choose $\eta \in (0, \varepsilon/k)$. For each $\psi \in G$, there exists $f_{\psi} \in A_{[1]}$ with $f_{\psi}(\psi) = 0$ and $|1 - f_{\psi}(\varphi)| < \eta \ (\varphi \in F)$. Now define

$$f = \prod \{ f_{\psi} : \psi \in G \} \,.$$

Then clearly $f \in A_{[1]}$ and $f(\psi) = 0$ ($\psi \in G$). For each $\varphi \in F$, we have

$$|1 - f(\varphi)| \le \sum \{ |1 - f_{\psi}(\varphi)| : \psi \in G \} < k\eta < \varepsilon \,,$$

as required.

(ii) First suppose that $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in [0, 1]$, say $0 \leq \alpha_1 \leq \cdots \leq \alpha_n \leq 1$, and set $\alpha_0 = 0$. By (i), for each $j \in \mathbb{N}_n$, there exists $f_j \in A$ with $||f_j|| \leq \alpha_j - \alpha_{j-1}$, with $f_j(\varphi_i) = 0$ $(i = 1, \ldots, j - 1)$, and with

$$|f_j(\varphi_i) - (\alpha_j - \alpha_{j-1})| < \frac{\varepsilon}{4n}$$
 $(i = j, \dots, n).$

Define $f = f_1 + \cdots + f_n$. Then $f \in A_{[1]}$ and $|f(\varphi_i) - \alpha_i| < \varepsilon/4$ $(i \in \mathbb{N}_n)$.

Now consider the general case, where $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{D}$. For $j \in \mathbb{N}_n$, there exist $\alpha_{1,j}, \alpha_{2,j}, \alpha_{3,j}, \alpha_{4,j} \in [0, 1]$ such that

$$\alpha_j = \alpha_{1,j} - \alpha_{2,j} + \mathbf{i}(\alpha_{3,j} - \alpha_{4,j}) \,.$$

For each i = 1, 2, 3, 4, choose $f_i \in A_{[1]}$ with $|f_i(x_j) - \alpha_{i,j}| < \varepsilon/4$ $(j \in \mathbb{N}_n)$, and then set $f = f_1 - f_2 + i(f_3 - f_4)$, so that $f \in A_{[4]}$. Clearly we have $|f(\varphi_j) - \alpha_j| < \varepsilon$ $(j \in \mathbb{N}_n)$, as required.

LEMMA 3.9. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\zeta_0 \in \mathbb{T}$. Then there exist $\delta > 0$ and $h \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})_{[1]}$ with $|h(0) - \zeta_0| < \varepsilon$ and $|h(z) - 1| < \varepsilon$ whenever $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ with $|z - 1| < \delta$.

Proof. Take $r \in (1 - \varepsilon, 1)$, and set

$$h(z) = \left(\frac{1 - r\overline{\zeta}}{1 - r\zeta}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{z - r\zeta}{1 - r\overline{\zeta}z}\right) \quad (z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}),$$

where $\zeta \in \mathbb{T}$ is to be specified. Then $h \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})_{[1]}$. Since h(1) = 1, clearly there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $|h(z) - 1| < \varepsilon$ whenever $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ is such that $|z - 1| < \delta$. We see that $h(0)/r = (r - \zeta)/(1 - r\zeta)$. Since the map

$$\zeta \mapsto (r-\zeta)/(1-r\zeta), \quad \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T},$$

is a continuous surjection, there is a choice of $\zeta \in \mathbb{T}$ such that $h(0) = r\zeta_0$, and this implies that $|h(0) - \zeta_0| = 1 - r < \varepsilon$, as required.

We shall now show that, in the case where A is a uniform algebra, we can reduce the bound '4' that occurs in Proposition 3.8(ii) to '1'.

PROPOSITION 3.10. Let A be a pointwise contractive, unital uniform algebra. Take $\varepsilon > 0$, $n \in \mathbb{N}, \varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n$ to be distinct points in Φ_A , and $\zeta_1, \ldots, \zeta_n \in \mathbb{T}$. Then there exists $f \in A_{[1]}$ with

$$|f(\varphi_j) - \zeta_j| < \varepsilon \quad (j \in \mathbb{N}_n).$$

Proof. We have shown in Lemma 3.9 that there are $\delta_1 > 0$ and $h_1 \in A(\mathbb{D})_{[1]}$ with $|h_1(0) - \zeta_1| < \varepsilon/n$ and $|h_1(z) - 1| < \varepsilon/n$ whenever $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ with $|z - 1| < \delta_1$. By Proposition 3.8(i), there is $g_1 \in A_{[1]}$ with $g_1(\varphi_1) = 0$ and $|g(\varphi_j) - 1| < \delta_1$ (j = 2, ..., n). Set $f_1 = h_1 \circ g_1$, so that $f_1 \in A_{[1]}$. Then $|f_1(\varphi_1) - \zeta_1| < \varepsilon/n$ and $|f_1(\varphi_j) - 1| < \varepsilon/n$ for j = 2, ..., n.

Similarly, there exist functions $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in A_{[1]}$ such that $|f_j(\varphi_j) - \zeta_j| < \varepsilon/n$ and $|f_i(\varphi_j) - 1| < \varepsilon/n$ for $i, j \in \mathbb{N}_n$ with $i \neq j$.

Set $f = f_1 \cdots f_n$, so that $f \in A_{[1]}$ and

$$|f(\varphi_j) - \zeta_j| \le |f_j(\varphi_j) - \zeta_j| + \sum_{i=1, i \ne j}^n |f_i(\varphi_j) - 1| < n \cdot (\varepsilon/n) = \varepsilon$$

for each $j \in \mathbb{N}_n$, as required.

4. The separating ball property

In this section, we shall introduce the separating ball property for Banach function algebras. The notion originates in the paper [57]. We shall also introduce a related notion by defining when a Banach function algebra 'has norm-one characters'.

DEFINITION 4.1. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. Then A has the separating ball property at φ if, given $\psi \in \Phi_A \cup \{\infty\}$ with $\psi \neq \varphi$, there is $f \in (M_{\psi})_{[1]}$ with $f(\varphi) = 1$. The algebra A has the separating ball property if it has the separating ball property at each $\varphi \in \Phi_A$.

Many Banach function algebras that arise in the theory of harmonic analysis have the separating ball property. For example, the Fourier algebra $A(\Gamma)$ has the separating ball property for each locally compact group Γ [57, Proposition 2.5] (see also Example 11.3(ii)), but it has a bounded pointwise approximate identity if and only if Γ is amenable [8]. The Banach sequence algebras ℓ^p for $1 \leq p < \infty$ also have the separating ball property, but no bounded pointwise approximate identity.

Note that, for each non-empty, locally compact space K, the algebra $C_0(K)$ has the separating ball property; in particular, the one-dimensional algebra $(\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|)$ has the separating ball property.

PROPOSITION 4.2. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. Suppose that A has the separating ball property at φ . Then φ is a strong boundary point for A.

Proof. There exists $f_0 \in A_{[1]}$ with $f_0(\varphi) = 1$. Set $L = \{\psi \in \Phi_A : |f_0(\psi)| \ge 1/2\}$, so that L is a compact subset of Φ_A .

Take an open neighbourhood U of φ in Φ_A . For each $\psi \in L \setminus U$, there exists $f_{\psi} \in (M_{\psi})_{[1]}$ with $f_{\psi}(\varphi) = 1$, and then there is a neighbourhood U_{ψ} of ψ such that $|f_{\psi}(x)| < 1/2$ ($x \in U_{\psi}$). Since $L \setminus U$ is compact, there are $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_n \in L \setminus U$ such that

$$\bigcup \{ U_{\psi_i} : i \in \mathbb{N}_n \} \supset \Phi_A \setminus U \,.$$

Set $f = f_0 f_{\psi_1} \cdots f_{\psi_n}$, so that $f \in A_{[1]}$, $f(\varphi) = 1$, and $|f(\psi)| < 1/2$ ($\psi \in \Phi_A \setminus U$). This shows that φ is a strong boundary point for A.

We shall see in Theorem 4.12 that the converse of the above proposition holds for certain uniform algebras, but it does not hold for arbitrary Banach function algebras.

The first main result of this section is an extension of [57, Lemma 5.1].

THEOREM 4.3. Let A be a Banach function algebra.

(i) Take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$, and suppose that A has the separating ball property at φ . Then there is an idempotent $E_{\varphi} \in A''_{[1]}$ with $\langle E_{\varphi}, \varphi \rangle = 1$ and $\langle E_{\varphi}, \psi \rangle = 0$ ($\psi \in \Phi_A \setminus \{\varphi\}$).

(ii) Suppose that A has the separating ball property. Then the space Φ_A is discrete with respect to the relative weak topology, $\sigma(A', A'')$.

Proof. (i) Define the set

$$S = \{ f \in A_{[1]} : f(\varphi) = 1 \}.$$

Since A has the separating ball property at φ , the set S is not empty, and it is clearly a convex subset of the space A. Consider S as a subset of $A''_{[1]}$, and take L to be its weak-* closure in A''. Then L is a non-empty, compact, convex set in the locally convex space $(A'', \sigma(A'', A'))$. For each $f \in S$, the map

$$T_f: \mathbf{M} \mapsto f \cdot \mathbf{M}, \quad A'' \to A'',$$

is linear, and so $T_f \mid L$ is affine, and T_f is continuous with respect to the weak-* topology $\sigma(A'', A')$. Further, $T_f(S) \subset S$, and hence $T_f(L) \subset L$, for each $f \in S$, and the operators T_f commute. By the Markov–Kakutani theorem, Theorem 2.4, there exists $E_{\varphi} \in L \subset A''_{[1]}$ such that $f \cdot E_{\varphi} = E_{\varphi}$ $(f \in S)$. By taking a net in S that converges to E_{φ} weak-*, we see that E_{φ} is an idempotent in A''. Clearly $\langle E_{\varphi}, \varphi \rangle = 1$. For each $\psi \in \Phi_A \setminus \{\varphi\}$, there exists $f \in S$ with $f(\psi) = 0$, and so $\langle E_{\varphi}, \psi \rangle = f(\psi) \langle E_{\varphi}, \psi \rangle = 0$.

From this, it follows that φ is isolated in Φ_A with respect to the weak topology.

(ii) It follows immediately that Φ_A is discrete with respect to the weak topology when A has the separating ball property.

As a first application of the above theorem, we present the following result.

COROLLARY 4.4. Let A be a Banach function algebra with the separating ball property, and suppose that A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity with bound m. Then:

(i) each non-zero, maximal modular ideal of A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity with bound m + 1;

(ii) the algebra A is reflexive if and only if it is a finite-dimensional space.

Proof. (i) Take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$, and consider the maximal modular ideal M_{φ} , assumed to be nonzero. Let E_{φ} be the idempotent in $A''_{[1]}$ specified in Theorem 4.3(i), and let E be a weak-* accumulation point in $A''_{[m]}$ of the BPAI in A. Set $F_{\varphi} = E - E_{\varphi}$, so that $F_{\varphi} \in A''_{[m+1]}$. Further, $\langle F_{\varphi}, \varphi \rangle = 0$ and $\langle F_{\varphi}, \psi \rangle = 1$ ($\psi \in \Phi_A \setminus \{\varphi\}$). A net in $(M_{\varphi})_{[m+1]}$ that converges weak-* to F_{φ} is the required BPAI in M_{φ} .

(ii) Suppose that A is reflexive, and hence an ideal in A''. By Proposition 3.7 and clause (i), the algebra A and every non-zero, maximal modular ideal of A has a BAI; since A is reflexive, each of these ideals has an identity, and so Φ_A is compact and each point of Φ_A is isolated. Hence Φ_A is finite, and so A is a finite-dimensional space.

A bound for a bounded pointwise approximate identity in M_x that arises in clause (i) of the above corollary is $||\mathbf{E} - \mathbf{E}_{\varphi}||$, which is at most m + 1. In general, the bound m + 1 cannot be improved. For example, let Γ be an infinite, locally compact abelian group. Then the Fourier algebra $A(\Gamma)$ has a contractive approximate identity, and so, by the corollary, every non-zero, maximal modular ideal in $A(\Gamma)$ has a bounded pointwise approximate identity of bound 2. It is shown in [18, Example 3.15] that 2 is the minimum such bound.

The maximal ideal $\{f \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}) : f(0) = 0\}$ in the disc algebra does not have a bounded pointwise approximate identity, and so $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ is not pointwise contractive; this shows that we cannot remove the hypothesis that A have the separating ball property in Corollary 4.4 when obtaining clause (i). We also introduce the following definition.

DEFINITION 4.5. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. Then A has the weak separating ball property at φ if, given $\psi \in \Phi_A \cup \{\infty\}$ with $\psi \neq \varphi$, there is net (f_{ν}) in $(M_{\psi})_{[1]}$ such that $\lim_{\nu} f_{\nu}(\varphi) = 1$. The algebra A has the weak separating ball property if it has the weak separating ball property at each $\varphi \in \Phi_A$.

Each pointwise contractive Banach function algebra and each Banach function algebra with the separating ball property has the weak separating ball property.

Let A be a Banach function algebra with $|\Phi_A| \geq 2$, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. Suppose that, for each $\psi \in \Phi_A \setminus \{\varphi\}$, there is a net (g_{ν}) in $A_{[1]}$ such that $\lim_{\nu} g_{\nu}(\varphi) = 1$ and $\lim_{\nu} g_{\nu}(\psi) = 0$. Set

$$f_{\nu} = (g_{\nu}^2 - g_{\nu}(\psi)g_{\nu}) / \left\| g_{\nu}^2 - g_{\nu}(\psi)g_{\nu} \right\|$$

for each ν . Then the net (f_{ν}) is contained in $(M_{\psi})_{[1]}$ and $\lim_{\nu} f_{\nu}(\varphi) = 1$. It follows that A has the weak separating ball property.

DEFINITION 4.6. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then A has norm-one characters if $\|\varphi\| = 1$ ($\varphi \in \Phi_A$).

Certainly each unital Banach function algebra has norm-one characters; also, A has this property whenever A has the weak separating ball property. On the other hand, consider the maximal ideal $M = \{f \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}) : f(0) = 0\}$ in the disc algebra, so that $\Phi_M = \overline{\mathbb{D}} \setminus \{0\}$. Then, for each $z \in \mathbb{C}$ with $0 < |z| \le 1$, we have $||\varepsilon_z|| = |z|$, and so M does not have norm-one characters.

The following remark is obvious.

PROPOSITION 4.7. Let A be a Banach function algebra with $|\Phi_A| \geq 2$. Then A has the weak separating ball property if and only if M_{φ} has norm-one characters for each $\varphi \in \Phi_A$.

PROPOSITION 4.8. Let A be a Banach function algebra that is reflexive as a Banach space and is such that Φ_A is connected. Then the following are equivalent;

- (a) A is unital;
- (b) A has norm-one characters;
- (c) there exists $\varphi \in \Phi_A$ such that $\|\varphi\| = 1$.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) \Rightarrow (c) These implications are immediate.

(c) \Rightarrow (a) Take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$ with $\|\varphi\| = 1$. Since A is reflexive, it follows from the Hahn– Banach theorem that there exists $u \in A$ with $\|u\| = 1$ and $u(\varphi) = 1$. Define

$$K = \overline{\operatorname{co}} \{ u^n : n \in \mathbb{N} \},\$$

so that K is a convex and weakly compact set in A with $K \subset A_{[1]}$, and $v(\varphi) = 1$ ($v \in K$). The map $L_u \mid K : K \to K$ is weakly continuous on K, and so, by the Schauder–Tychonoff fixed point theorem, Theorem 2.5, this map has a fixed point: there exists $v \in K$ such that uv = v. Clearly wv = v ($w \in K$), and, in particular, $v^2 = v$, so that v is an idempotent in A. Since $v(\varphi) = 1$ and Φ_A is connected, the element v is the identity of A. Also ||v|| = 1, and so A is unital.

In Example 3.3 of [18], there are examples of Banach function algebras that are reflexive as Banach spaces and are defined on connected, compact, infinite spaces. These algebras are unital.

THEOREM 4.9. Let A be a dual Banach function algebra, with predual $F \subset A'$. Suppose that $\Phi_A \cap F \neq \emptyset$ and that $\varphi \in \Phi_A \cap F$ is such that $\|\varphi\| = 1$. Then there is an idempotent $e \in A_{[1]}$ such that $e(\varphi) = 1$ and fe = e for each $f \in A_{[1]}$ with $f(\varphi) = 1$.

Proof. Again consider the set

$$S_{\varphi} = \{ f \in A_{[1]} : f(\varphi) = 1 \}.$$

Since $\|\varphi\| = 1$, there is a net (f_{ν}) in $A_{[1]}$ with $\lim_{\nu} f_{\nu}(\varphi) = 1$. Let $f \in A_{[1]}$ be an accumulation point of (f_{ν}) with respect to the topology $\sigma(A, F)$. Then $f \in S_{\varphi}$ because $\varphi \in F$, and so S_{φ} is not empty. Clearly S_{φ} is convex, and it is compact with respect to the topology $\sigma(A, F)$. For $f \in S_{\varphi}$, the maps

$$L_f: g \mapsto fg, \quad S_{\varphi} \to S_{\varphi},$$

form a commuting family of affine maps that are continuous with respect to $\sigma(A, F)$, and so, again by Theorem 2.4, the family has a fixed point, say $e \in S_{\varphi} \subset A_{[1]}$. Thus fe = efor each $f \in S_{\varphi}$, and, in particular, $e^2 = e$.

The following example shows that the condition that $\varphi \in F$ in the above theorem cannot be removed when seeking an idempotent.

EXAMPLE 4.10. Let $A = (\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}^+), \star)$ be the standard semigroup algebra on \mathbb{Z}^+ , where \star denotes the convolution product, so that A is isomorphic to the natural, unital Banach function algebra on $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ consisting of the continuous functions on \mathbb{T} with absolutely convergent Taylor series. The maximal ideal M of functions in A that vanish at 0 corresponds to the algebra $\ell^1 = \ell^1(\mathbb{N})$; $c_0 = c_0(\mathbb{N})$ is a closed submodule of $M' = \ell^\infty(\mathbb{N})$, and clearly M is a dual Banach function algebra with predual c_0 . Let φ be a character on M that corresponds to evaluation at a point of \mathbb{T} . Then $\|\varphi\| = 1$, but $\varphi \notin c_0$. There is no non-zero idempotent in A.

The following example shows that the condition that $\varphi \in F$ in the above theorem cannot be removed when obtaining the conclusion that fe = e for each $f \in S_{\varphi}$.

EXAMPLE 4.11. Let $A = \ell^{\infty} = C(\beta \mathbb{N})$, where $\beta \mathbb{N}$ is the Stone–Čech compactification of \mathbb{N} , so that A is a dual Banach function algebra, with predual ℓ^1 . Of course, $\Phi_A = \beta \mathbb{N}$. Take $x \in \beta \mathbb{N}$. In the case where $x \in \mathbb{N}$, so that $\varepsilon_x \in \ell^1$, the corresponding idempotent of the above theorem is the characteristic function of x. However, when $x \in \beta \mathbb{N} \setminus \mathbb{N}$, so that $\varepsilon_x \notin \ell^1$, there is no idempotent $e \in A_{[1]}$ such that fe = e for each $f \in A_{[1]}$ with f(x) = 1.

4.1. Uniform algebras. We now recall some background concerning uniform algebras.

Let A be a uniform algebra on a non-empty, locally compact space K. The set of strong boundary points for A is now called the *Choquet boundary* of A, and is denoted by $\Gamma_0(A)$. A closed subset S of K is a *closed boundary* for A if $|f|_S = |f|_K$ $(f \in A)$; the intersection of all the closed boundaries for A is a closed boundary, called the *Šilov boundary*, $\Gamma(A)$. Suppose that K is compact. Then, by [12, Corollary 4.3.7(i)], $\Gamma(A) = \overline{\Gamma_0(A)}$ and $\Gamma(A)$ is a closed boundary. For example, let $A = A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ be the disc algebra. Then $\Gamma_0(A) = \Gamma(A) = \mathbb{T}$.

The next theorem relates approximate identities in a maximal ideal of a unital uniform algebra to strong boundary points. We recall that M''_x is commutative because uniform algebras are Arens regular, and that M''_x is itself a natural uniform algebra on $\Phi_{A''} \setminus \{x\}$. The result is an extension of [18, Theorem 4.7].

THEOREM 4.12. Let A be a unital uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K such that $|K| \ge 2$, and take $x \in K$. Then the following conditions on x are equivalent:

- (a) $x \in \Gamma_0(A)$;
- (b) M_x has a bounded approximate identity;
- (c) M''_x has an identity;
- (d) M_x has a contractive approximate identity;
- (e) x is an isolated point of $\Phi_{A''}$;
- (f) A has the separating ball property at x.

Proof. The equivalence of (a) and (b) is [12, Theorem 4.3.5, (d) \Leftrightarrow (e)]. Clauses (b) and (c) are clearly equivalent; trivially, (d) implies (b), and (f) implies (a) by Proposition 4.2.

Now suppose that (c) holds; the identity of M''_x is E. Since E is a non-zero idempotent in the uniform algebra $C(\tilde{K})$, necessarily $|E|_{\tilde{K}} = 1$, and so a net in $(M_x)_{[1]}$ that converges weak-* to E is a contractive approximate identity for M_x , giving (d).

Clearly (c) \Rightarrow (e). On the other hand, suppose that (e) holds. Then, by Šilov's idempotent theorem, there exists $E \in A''$ that is the characteristic function of $\Phi_{A''} \setminus \{x\}$, and then E is the identity of M''_x , giving (c).

Suppose that (a) holds, so that x is a strong boundary point for A, and take $y \in K$ with $y \neq x$. Then there exists $f \in A_{[1]}$ with f(x) = 1 and |f(y)| < 1, say $f(y) = \alpha$. Define

$$B(\zeta) = \frac{(1 - \overline{\alpha})(\zeta - \alpha)}{(1 - \alpha)(1 - \overline{\alpha}\zeta)} \quad (\zeta \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}) \,.$$

Then $B \in A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})_{[1]}$, and so $g := B \circ f \in A_{[1]}$. Clearly g(x) = 1 and g(y) = 0, and hence A has the separating ball property at x, giving (f).

DEFINITION 4.13. A natural uniform algebra A on a non-empty, compact space K is a Cole algebra if $\Gamma_0(A) = K$.

It was a long-standing conjecture, called the *peak-point conjecture* that C(K) is the only Cole algebra on a compact space K. The first counter-example was due to Cole [10], and is described in [51, §19]; an example of Basener [3], also described in [51, §19], gives

a compact space K in \mathbb{C}^2 such that R(K) is a non-trivial Cole algebra. Further, Feinstein [25] obtained examples of non-trivial, regular Cole algebras on compact, metrizable spaces.

The next result is an immediate consequence of Theorem 4.12.

COROLLARY 4.14. Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (a) A is a Cole algebra;
- (b) A has the separating ball property;
- (c) A is contractive;
- (d) each point of K is an isolated point of $\Phi_{A''}$.

Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K, and take $x, y \in K$. Then

$$x \sim y$$
 if $d_A(x, y) < 2$,

where d_A is the *Gleason metric* given by

$$d_A(x,y) = \|\varepsilon_x - \varepsilon_y\| \quad (x,y \in K).$$

Then \sim is an equivalence relation on K; the equivalence classes with respect to this relation are the *Gleason parts* for A. These parts form a partition of K, and each part is a completely regular and σ -compact topological space with respect to the Gel'fand topology; by a theorem of Garnett, these are the only topological restrictions on Gleason parts. For a discussion of Gleason parts, including Garnett's theorem, see [31, Chapter VI] and [51, §16]. Clearly, $\{x\}$ is a one-point Gleason part whenever x is a strong boundary point, but the converse fails, as we shall see below and in examples to be given in Chapter 7.

The Gleason parts of $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ for the disc algebra $A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ are the one-point parts that correspond to points of the circle \mathbb{T} together with the open disc \mathbb{D} . We shall write H^{∞} for $H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D})$, the uniform algebra of all bounded, analytic functions on \mathbb{D} (taken with respect to the uniform norm on \mathbb{D}); take Φ to be the character space of H^{∞} . Then the Gleason parts of Φ are well known; an early fine exposition is given in [34]; see also [31, 51]. In particular, each point of the Šilov boundary $\Gamma(H^{\infty})$ is a strong boundary point, but there are one-point parts that are not in $\Gamma(H^{\infty})$. In fact, each part of Φ is either a one-point part or an 'analytic disc'.

A related paper on Gleason parts and biduals of uniform algebras is [40].

The next proposition is standard [51, Lemma 16.1]; our proof is slightly different.

PROPOSITION 4.15. Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K, and take $x, y \in K$. Then the following are equivalent:

(a) $\|\varepsilon_x - \varepsilon_y\| = 2$;

(b) for each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $f \in (M_y)_{[1]}$ with $|f(x)| > 1 - \varepsilon$.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) Take $\varepsilon > 0$. There exists $g \in A_{[1]}$ with $|g(x) - g(y)| > 2 - \varepsilon$. Set $f = (g - g(y)1_K)/2$. Then $f \in (M_y)_{[1]}$ and $|f(x)| > (2 - \varepsilon)/2 > 1 - \varepsilon$.

(b) \Rightarrow (a) Take $\varepsilon > 0$. By Lemma 3.9, there exist $\delta > 0$ and $h \in A(\mathbb{D})_{[1]}$ with $|h(0) + 1| < \varepsilon$ and $|h(z) - 1| < \varepsilon$ whenever $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ with $|z - 1| < \delta$. Take $f \in (M_y)_{[1]}$ with $|f(x)| > 1 - \delta$, and set $g = h \circ f \in A_{[1]}$. Then

$$\|\varepsilon_x - \varepsilon_y\| \ge |g(x) - g(y)| > 2 - 2\varepsilon$$

This holds for each $\varepsilon > 0$, and so $\|\varepsilon_x - \varepsilon_y\| = 2$.

COROLLARY 4.16. Let A be a natural uniform algebra A on a non-empty, compact space K. Then a point $x \in K$ is such that $\{x\}$ is a one-point part if and only if A has the weak separating ball property at x.

The following theorem is an extension of Theorem 4.3(i) to uniform algebras; in general these algebras do not have the separating ball property.

THEOREM 4.17. Let A be a natural, uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K.

(i) Let P be a Gleason part for A, and take $x_0 \in P$. Then there is an idempotent element $E \in A''_{[1]}$ such that $E \mid K = \chi_P$ and such that F E = E whenever $F \in A''_{[1]}$ with $F(x_0) = 1$.

(ii) For each Gleason part P, there is an idempotent $E_P \in A_{[1]}''$ with $E_P \mid K = \chi_P$ and such that $E_P E_Q = 0$ in A'' whenever P and Q are distinct parts.

Proof. (i) We may suppose that $P \neq K$. Set

$$S = \{F \in A_{[1]}'' : F(x_0) = 1\}.$$

Since $1_K \in S$, the set S is not empty. Since A'' is a dual uniform algebra, with predual A', and since $\varepsilon_{x_0} \in \Phi_{A''} \cap A'$ with $\|\varepsilon_{x_0}\| = 1$, it follows from Theorem 4.9 that there exists an idempotent $E \in S$ such that FE = E whenever $F \in S$

Suppose that $y \in K$ and E(y) = 0, so that $E \in (M''_y)_{[1]}$. Then there is a net (f_ν) in $(M_y)_{[1]}$ such that $\lim_{\nu} f_{\nu}(x_0) = \langle \mathbf{E}, \varepsilon_{x_0} \rangle = 1$, and so, by Proposition 4.15, $y \notin P$.

Suppose that $y \in K \setminus P$. By Proposition 4.15, there is a sequence (f_n) in $(M_y)_{[1]}$ with $f_n(x_0) \to 1$ as $n \to \infty$. Let F be an accumulation point of (f_n) in A''. Then $F \in S$ and F(y) = 0, and so E(y) = FE(y) = 0.

It follows that $\{y \in K : E(y) = 0\} = K \setminus P$, and so $E \mid K = \chi_P$, as required.

(ii) Now choose $x_P \in P$ for each part P, so that there exists an idempotent element $E_P \in A''_{[1]}$ such that $E_P \mid K = \chi_P$ and such that $F E_P = E_P$ whenever $F \in A''_{[1]}$ with $F(x_P) = 1$. Take distinct parts P and Q, and set $F = 1 - E_P$. Then F is an idempotent in A'', and so $F \in A''_{[1]}$. Also $F(x_Q) = 1$, and so $(1 - E_P) E_Q = F E_Q = E_Q$, and hence $E_P E_Q = 0$.

COROLLARY 4.18. Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K. Then each Gleason part of K is clopen in K with respect to the relative weak topology, $\sigma(A', A'')$. Further, each weakly compact subset of K has non-empty intersection with only finitely many parts.

Proof. Let the Gleason part be P. Then the idempotent E of Theorem 4.17(i) belongs to $C(\Phi_{A''})$ and $E \mid K$ is the characteristic function of P, and so the result holds.

The following theorem is a main result of this section; for a generalization, see Theorem 8.4.

THEOREM 4.19. Let A be a uniform algebra. Then A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity if and only if A has norm-one characters.

Proof. The uniform algebra A'' is a dual Banach function algebra, with predual A'.

Suppose that A has norm-one characters, and take a non-empty, finite subset S of Φ_A and $\varepsilon > 0$. Take $\varphi \in S$. Then $\|\varphi\| = 1$ when we regard φ as an element of $\Phi_{A''}$. Since $\varphi \in \Phi_{A''} \cap A'$, it follows from Theorem 4.9 that there is an idempotent $E_{\varphi} \in A''$ such that $E_{\varphi}(\varphi) = 1$. For each $\varphi \in S$, set $U_{\varphi} = \{\psi \in \Phi_{A''} : E_{\varphi}(\psi) = 1\}$, so that U_{φ} is a compact and open subset of $\Phi_{A''}$ with $\varphi \in U_{\varphi}$. Thus $S \subset U := \bigcup \{U_{\varphi}; \varphi \in S\}$. The set U is compact and open in $\Phi_{A''}$, and so, by Šilov's idempotent theorem, the characteristic function of U, say E, belongs to A''; E is an idempotent and $E(\varphi) = 1$ ($\varphi \in S$). Since A'' is a uniform algebra, $|E|_{\Phi_{A''}} = 1$. It follows that there exists $f \in A_{[1]}$ with

$$|f(\varphi) - 1| = |f(\varphi) - E(\varphi)| < \varepsilon \quad (\varphi \in S).$$

Thus A has a CPAI.

The converse is immediate. \blacksquare

COROLLARY 4.20. Let A be a uniform algebra with $|\Phi_A| \ge 2$. Then the following conditions on A are equivalent:

- (a) A is pointwise contractive;
- (b) A has the weak separating ball property;
- (c) M_{φ} has norm-one characters for each $\varphi \in \Phi_A \cup \{\infty\}$.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) \Rightarrow (c) These are trivial.

(c) \Rightarrow (a) This follows from Theorem 4.19.

The following results extend those given in [18, Theorem 4.6]; they are also immediate from the above results.

PROPOSITION 4.21. Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a compact space K with $|K| \ge 2$.

(i) Take $x \in K$. Then $\{x\}$ is a one-point part if and only if M_x has a contractive pointwise approximate identity if and only if M_x has norm-one characters.

(ii) The algebra A is pointwise contractive if and only if each point of K is a one-point part.

(iii) Take $x \in K$, and suppose that M_x has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Then x is isolated in (K, d_A) .

We note that it will be shown in Example 7.6 that, in the above notation, it may be that x is an isolated point of (K, d_A) , but $\{x\}$ is not a one-point part. We do not know whether a maximal ideal M_x in a natural, uniform algebra on K has a bounded pointwise approximate identity whenever x is isolated in (K, d_A) , but we have the following result that applies in a special case. A unital uniform algebra A with Silov boundary $\Gamma(A)$ is logmodular if the set of functions log |f|, where f is an invertible function in A, when restricted to $\Gamma(A)$, forms a dense subset of $C_{\mathbb{R}}(\Gamma(A))$, the space of real-valued continuous functions on $\Gamma(A)$; see [51, §17]. For example, H^{∞} is a logmodular algebra [51, Example 17.4(d)].

PROPOSITION 4.22. Let A be a natural, logmodular uniform algebra on a compact space K with $|K| \ge 2$. Take $x \in K$, and suppose that x is isolated in (K, d_A) . Then M_x has a contractive pointwise approximate identity.

Proof. By Proposition 4.21(i), we must show that $\{x\}$ is a one-point part. Assume to the contrary that there is a part P with $x \in P$ and $|P| \ge 2$. Consider the metric d_A on P. Then x is an isolated point of (P, d_A) . Since A is logmodular, it follows from [57, Lemma 4.5] (extending [51, Theorem 17.1]) that there is a homeomorphism between \mathbb{D} and (P, d_A) . Since \mathbb{D} has no isolated point, the point x is also not isolated in (P, d_A) , a contradiction. Thus $\{x\}$ is a one-point part.

Let A be a natural, uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K, and take $x \in K$ such that $\{x\}$ is a one-point part. Then, by Theorem 4.17, there is an idempotent element $E_x \in A''$ such that $E_x(x) = 1$ and $E_x(y) = 0$ $(y \in K \setminus \{x\})$. As in Theorem 4.12, in the case where x is a strong boundary point for A, we may suppose that $E_x \in A''$ is the characteristic function of $\{x\}$ as a subset of $\Phi_{A''}$, but this is not the case when x is not a strong boundary point. Indeed, suppose that the characteristic function of $\{x\}$ belongs to A''. Then x is an isolated point of $\Phi_{A''}$, and hence, by Theorem 4.12, (e) \Rightarrow (a), x is a strong boundary point for A.

Let $\{x\}$ be a one-point part of K (with respect to A). Then we *claim* that x is always an isolated point of \overline{K} , the closure of K in $\Phi_{A''}$. Indeed, take $\varphi \in \overline{K} \setminus \{x\}$. Then there is a net (y_{α}) in $K \setminus \{x\}$ such that $\lim_{\alpha} y_{\alpha} = \varphi$ in $(\Phi_{A''}, \sigma(A''', A''))$. In particular,

$$0 = \lim_{\alpha} E_x(y_{\alpha}) = \langle E_x, \varphi \rangle,$$

and so $E_x | \overline{K}$ is the characteristic function of $\{x\}$ as a subset of \overline{K} , giving the claim. In the case where x is not a strong boundary point for A, it follows that

$$\{\varphi \in \Phi_{A''} : \langle E_x, \varphi \rangle = 1\} \not\subset \overline{K}$$

and so \overline{K} is not an open set in $\Phi_{A''}$.

This gives the following result.

PROPOSITION 4.23. Let A be a unital uniform algebra such that every point of Φ_A is a one-point part. Then Φ_A is open in $\Phi_{A''}$ if and only if each point of Φ_A is a strong boundary point for A.

We shall exhibit in Example 7.7 several examples that show that one-point parts in the character space of a uniform algebra are not necessarily strong boundary points, or even in the Šilov boundary.

5. The space L(A) and BSE norms

In this section, we shall introduce the key space L(A) for a Banach function algebra A, and use it to define the BSE norm on A.

DEFINITION 5.1. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and take a non-empty subset Ω of Φ_A . Then $L(A, \Omega)$ is the linear span of Ω as a subset of A', with L(A) for $L(A, \Phi_A)$.

Clearly

$$L(A)^{\perp} = \Phi_A^{\perp} = \{ \mathbf{M} \in A'' : \langle \mathbf{M}, \varphi \rangle = 0 \quad (\varphi \in \Phi_A) \}.$$

As Banach spaces, we have

$$L(A)' = A''/L(A)^{\perp}.$$
 (5.1)

The space L(A) is always weak-* dense in A'; L(A) is an A-submodule of A' because $f \cdot \varphi = \varphi(f) \varphi$ $(f \in A, \varphi \in \Phi_A)$, and so

$$L(A) \subset AA' := \lim \left\{ f \cdot \lambda : f \in A, \, \lambda \in A' \right\}.$$
(5.2)

Note that it follows from equation (2.7) that $M \cdot \lambda = \lambda \cdot M \in L(A, \Omega)$ whenever $M \in A''$ and $\lambda \in L(A, \Omega)$. The space $L(A, \Omega)^{\perp}$ is a closed ideal in A'' for each non-empty subset Ω of Φ_A .

PROPOSITION 5.2. Let A be a Banach function algebra that is an ideal in its bidual. Then $\overline{AA'} = \overline{L(A)}, A + L(A)^{\perp}$ is an ideal in A", and

$$(f + \mathbf{M}) \Box (g + \mathbf{N}) = fg \quad (f, g \in A, \, \mathbf{M}, \mathbf{N} \in L(A)^{\perp}).$$

$$(5.3)$$

Proof. Always $\overline{L(A)} \subset \overline{AA'}$.

Take $f \in A$ and $\lambda \in A'$, and assume towards a contradiction that $f \cdot \lambda \notin \overline{L(A)}$. Then there exists $M \in A''$ with $\langle M, f \cdot \lambda \rangle = 1$ and with $\langle M, \varphi \rangle = 0$ ($\varphi \in \Phi_A$). Now $M \cdot f \in A$ because A is an ideal in A'', and so

$$\langle \mathbf{M} \cdot f, \varphi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{M}, f \cdot \varphi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{M}, \varphi(f)\varphi \rangle = \varphi(f) \langle \mathbf{M}, \varphi \rangle = 0 \quad (\varphi \in \Phi_A).$$

Thus $M \cdot f = 0$, a contradiction of the fact that $\langle M \cdot f, \lambda \rangle = 1$. This shows that $A \cdot A' \subset \overline{L(A)}$, and hence that $\overline{AA'} \subset \overline{L(A)}$.

Thus $\overline{AA'} = \overline{L(A)}$.

Since both A and $L(A)^{\perp}$ are ideals in A'', so is $A + L(A)^{\perp}$.

Now take elements $f, g \in A$ and $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N} \in L(A)^{\perp}$. We have $\lambda \cdot f \in A'A = AA' \subset \overline{L(A)}$ for each $\lambda \in A'$, and so $\langle f \cdot \mathcal{N}, \lambda \rangle = \langle \mathcal{N}, \lambda \cdot f \rangle = 0$. Hence $f \cdot \mathcal{N} = 0$. Similarly. $\mathcal{M} \cdot g = 0$. Since $R_{\mathcal{N}}$ is weak-* continuous, it follows that $\mathcal{M} \Box \mathcal{N} = 0$. This gives equation (5.3).

COROLLARY 5.3. Let A be a Banach function algebra that is an ideal in its bidual and has a bounded approximate identity. Then $\overline{L(A)} = A \cdot A'$.

Proof. Since A has a BAI, it follows from Cohen's factorization theorem [12, §2.9] that $\overline{AA'} = A \cdot A'$.

PROPOSITION 5.4. Let A be a dual Banach function algebra, with predual $F \subset A'$, and suppose that $\Omega \subset \Phi_A$ is a determining set for A with $\Omega \subset F$. Then

$$L(A, \Omega) = F$$
 and $A'' = A \ltimes L(A, \Omega)^{\perp}$

Proof. By equation (2.10), $A'' = A \ltimes F^{\perp}$. Since $\Omega \subset F$, we have $L(A, \Omega) \subset F$. Now take $\mu \in F'$ with $\mu \mid L(A, \Omega) = 0$. Then μ is an element, say f, of A with $\varphi(f) = 0$ ($\varphi \in \Omega$), and so $\mu = f = 0$ because Ω is a determining set for A. It follows from the Hahn–Banach theorem that $\overline{L(A, \Omega)} = F$, and then $A'' = A \ltimes L(A, \Omega)^{\perp}$.

For example, let G be a compact, abelian group, and set $A = (M(G), \star)$, the measure algebra on G, regarded as the Banach sequence algebra $B(\Gamma)$ consisting of the Fourier– Stieltjes transforms of measures in M(G) on the discrete dual group $\Gamma = \hat{G}$ of G. Then Γ is determining for A and $\Gamma \subset C(G)$, and so, by the proposition, $\overline{L(A,\Gamma)} = C(G)$ and

$$M(G)'' = M(G) \ltimes C(G)^{\perp}$$
.

We now define the BSE norm of a Banach function algebra.

DEFINITION 5.5. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{BSE}} = \|f\|_{\mathrm{BSE},A} = \sup\{|\langle f, \lambda \rangle| : \lambda \in L(A)_{[1]}\} \quad (f \in A) \in L(A)_{[1]}\}$$

The function $\left\|\cdot\right\|_{\mathrm{BSE}}$ is clearly a norm on A such that

$$|f|_{\Phi_A} \le ||f||_{\text{BSE}} \le ||f|| \quad (f \in A).$$

By equation (2.1), $\|f\|_{BSE} = \|f + L(A)^{\perp}\|$ $(f \in A)$. Further, it is clear that $\|\cdot\|_{BSE}$ is an algebra norm, in the sense that

$$||fg||_{BSE} \le ||f||_{BSE} ||g||_{BSE} \quad (f, g \in A)$$

This was first proved in [52]. The norm $\|\cdot\|_{BSE}$ is called the BSE *norm* on A.

DEFINITION 5.6. A Banach function algebra A has a BSE norm if $\|\cdot\|_{BSE}$ is equivalent to the given norm, in the sense that there is a constant C > 0 such that

$$||f|| \le C ||f||_{BSE} \quad (f \in A).$$

Clearly every uniform algebra has a BSE norm.

The notion of a BSE norm and the related notion of a BSE algebra were introduced by Takahasi and Hatori in [52] and further studied in [39, 53, 54]; see also [19].

The BSE norm has particular significance because key examples in harmonic analysis have a BSE norm. For example, let G be a locally compact group, and write $A = (L^1(G), \star, \|\cdot\|_1)$ for the group algebra on G. Then A has a contractive approximate identity. In the case where G is abelian, A is identified via the Fourier transform with the Banach function algebra $A(\Gamma)$, where $\Gamma = \widehat{G}$, and then $\overline{L(A)}$ is identified with AP(G), the subspace of $L^{\infty}(G) = L^1(G)'$ consisting of the almost periodic functions, so that AP(G) is a self-adjoint, closed subalgebra of $C^b(G)$. Here $\|\cdot\|_{BSE} = \|\cdot\|_1$ on A; this is a consequence of the Bochner–Schoenberg–Eberlein theorem that is proved in [47, Theorem 1.9.1] and also follows easily from Kaplansky's density theorem, which shows that $AP(G)_{[1]}$ is weak-* dense in $C_0(G)''_{[1]}$. Of course, it is this theorem that leads to the terminology 'BSE norm'. More generally, let Γ be an arbitrary locally compact group, and let $A(\Gamma)$ and $B(\Gamma)$ denote the Fourier and Fourier–Stieltjes algebras, respectively, on Γ (see the classic thesis of Eymard [24] and the new book [38] of Kaniuth and Lau, where proofs of the following statements can be found). Then $A(\Gamma)$ is the closed ideal $\overline{J_{\infty}(B(\Gamma))}$ in $B(\Gamma)$, $A(\Gamma)$ is a natural, self-adjoint, strongly regular Banach function algebra on Γ , and $\Phi_{B(\Gamma)} = \Gamma \cup H$, where H is the hull of $A(\Gamma)$ as an ideal in $B(\Gamma)$. Let $C^*(\Gamma)$ be the group C^* -algebra of Γ . Then $C^*(\Gamma)' \cong B(\Gamma)$. Further, by [8], the following are equivalent:

- (a) Γ is amenable;
- (b) $A(\Gamma)$ has a contractive approximate identity;
- (c) $A(\Gamma)$ has a contractive pointwise approximate identity;
- (d) $A(\Gamma)$ has a bounded pointwise approximate identity.

In this case, it is also true that $||f|| = ||f||_{BSE}$ $(f \in B(\Gamma))$, and so $B(\Gamma)$ and $A(\Gamma)$ have BSE norms; this also follows from Kaplansky's density theorem, as in [24, Lemma (2.13)].

For other examples of Banach function algebras that have a BSE norm, see [39, 52, 53, 54]. There will be an account in [19], where more general results will be established.

PROPOSITION 5.7. Let A be a Banach function algebra with a BSE norm, and let B be a Banach function algebra that is isomorphic to a closed subalgebra of A. Then B has a BSE norm.

Proof. There are constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ such that

 $\|f\|_A \le C_1 \|f\|_B \ (f \in B) \text{ and } \|f\|_A \le C_2 \|f\|_{\text{BSE},A} \ (f \in A).$

Take $\lambda \in L(A)_{[1]}$. Then $\lambda \mid B \in L(B)_{[C_1]}$, and so $\|f\|_{BSE,A} \leq C_1 \|f\|_{BSE,B}$ for each $f \in B$. Thus $\|f\|_B \leq C_1^2 C_2 \|f\|_{BSE,B}$ for $f \in B$, and so B has a BSE norm.

Although $||f||_{BSE} \leq ||f||$ $(f \in A)$, we have the following result.

PROPOSITION 5.8. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then

$$\|\lambda\| = \sup\left\{ |\langle f, \lambda \rangle| : f \in A, \|f\|_{BSE} \le 1 \right\} \quad (\lambda \in L(A)).$$

$$(5.4)$$

Proof. Take $\lambda \in L(A)$, and let the supremum on the right be k.

Since $||f||_{BSE} \le ||f||$ $(f \in A)$, certainly $||\lambda|| \le k$. On the other hand,

$$\|\lambda\| = \sup\left\{ \left| \langle \mathbf{M} + L(A)^{\perp}, \lambda \rangle \right| : \mathbf{M} \in A'', \, \left\| \mathbf{M} + L(A)^{\perp} \right\| \le 1 \right\}$$

because $L(A)' \cong A''/L(A)^{\perp}$. But $||f||_{BSE} = ||f + L(A)^{\perp}||$ $(f \in A)$, and so $||\lambda|| \ge k$. Equation (5.4) follows.

THEOREM 5.9. Let A be a Banach function algebra with a bounded pointwise approximate identity of bound m. Then $||f||_{BSE} \leq m ||f||_{op}$ $(f \in A)$.

Proof. Take $f \in A$. For each $\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \varphi_i \in L(A)_{[1]}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $g \in A_{[m]}$ such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\alpha_i| |f(\varphi_i)| |1 - g(\varphi_i)| < \varepsilon ,$$

and so

$$|\langle f, \lambda \rangle| \le |\langle fg, \lambda \rangle| + |\langle f - fg, \lambda \rangle| \le ||fg|| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\alpha_i| |f(\varphi_i)| |1 - g(\varphi_i)| \le m ||f||_{\mathrm{op}} + \varepsilon.$$

It follows that $\|f\|_{BSE} \leq m \|f\|_{op}$, as required.

COROLLARY 5.10. Let $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach function algebra, and suppose that A has a BSE norm and a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Then $\|\cdot\|$ and $\|\cdot\|_{op}$ are equivalent on A.

Proof. By Theorem 5.9, there is m > 0 such that $||f||_{BSE} \leq m ||f||_{op}$ $(f \in A)$. By hypothesis, there is a constant C > 0 such that $||f|| \leq C ||f||_{BSE}$ $(f \in A)$, and so

$$|f||_{\text{op}} \le ||f|| \le C ||f||_{\text{BSE}} \le Cm ||f||_{\text{op}} \quad (f \in A).$$

Thus $\|\cdot\|$ and $\|\cdot\|_{op}$ are equivalent on A.

EXAMPLE 5.11. Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a compact space K with $|K| \ge 2$, and take $x \in K$ such that $\{x\}$ is a one-point part. By Proposition 4.21(i), M_x has a contractive pointwise approximate identity. Then it follows from the above corollary (with control of the constants) that the uniform norm and the operator norm on M_x are equal. However, in the case where x is not a strong boundary point, it follows from Theorem 4.12 that the maximal ideal M_x does not have a bounded approximate identity.

THEOREM 5.12. Let $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach function algebra that is an ideal in its bidual. Then

$$|\cdot|_{\Phi_A} \le \|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{op}} \le \|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{BSE}} \le \|\cdot\|$$

Proof. Certainly $|\cdot|_{\Phi_A} \leq ||\cdot||_{BSE} \leq ||\cdot||$ and $|\cdot|_{\Phi_A} \leq ||\cdot||_{op} \leq ||\cdot||$, and so it suffices to show that $||\cdot||_{op} \leq ||\cdot||_{BSE}$.

Take $f \in A$, $M \in L(A)^{\perp}$, and $g \in A_{[1]}$. Then there exists $\lambda \in A'_{[1]}$ with $||fg|| = \langle fg, \lambda \rangle$. By Proposition 5.2, $\overline{AA'} = \overline{L(A)}$, and so $g \cdot \lambda \in \overline{L(A)}$, and this implies that $\langle M, g \cdot \lambda \rangle = 0$. Since $g \cdot \lambda \in A'_{[1]}$, necessarily

 $\|f + \mathbf{M}\| \ge |\langle f + \mathbf{M}, g \cdot \lambda \rangle| = |\langle f, g \cdot \lambda \rangle| = |\langle fg, \lambda \rangle| = \|fg\| \ .$

Thus sup{ $||fg|| : g \in A_{[1]}$ } ≤ inf{ $||f + M|| : M \in L(A)^{\perp}$ }, i.e., $||f||_{op} \le ||f||_{BSE}$. The result follows. ■

COROLLARY 5.13. Let A be a Banach function algebra that is an ideal in its bidual.

(i) Suppose that A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Then A has a BSE norm.

(ii) Suppose that A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity. Then

$$||f||_{BSE} = ||f|| \quad (f \in A).$$

Proof. (i) By Proposition 3.7, A has a BAI, say the bound is m. By Proposition 3.2, $\|\cdot\| \le m \|\cdot\|_{\text{op}}$. Thus it follows from Theorem 5.12 that $\|\cdot\|$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\text{BSE}}$ are equivalent.

(ii) This follows by taking m = 1 in the above calculation.

6. The algebra $A''/L(A)^{\perp}$

Let A be a Banach function algebra. In this section, we shall introduce the Banach space

$$\mathcal{Q}(A) = A''/L(A)^{\perp} = L(A)^{\perp}$$

(taken with the quotient norm, $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$), which we shall see is also a Banach function algebra, and establish some general results. We find it to be somewhat surprising that it seems that there has been little earlier study of this Banach algebra in an abstract setting; however, there is an implicit definition of our algebra $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ in [44, Theorem 3.1.14], where some of the properties of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ that we develop are given.

For $M \in A''$, the corresponding element in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is denoted by [M]. Note that, given $f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$, there exists $M \in A''$ with [M] = f and $||M|| = ||f||_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. Indeed, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $M_n \in A''$ with $[M_n] = f$ and $||M_n|| < ||f||_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} + 1/n$, and a $\sigma(A'', A')$ -accumulation point $M \in A''$ of the sequence (M_n) has the required properties.

The space $\overline{L(A)}$ is canonically embedded in $\overline{L(A)}'' = \mathcal{Q}(A)'$ by setting

$$\langle [\mathbf{M}], \lambda \rangle = \langle \mathbf{M}, \lambda \rangle \quad (\mathbf{M} \in A'')$$

for $\lambda \in \overline{L(A)}$, so that

$$\|[\mathbf{M}]\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \sup\{|\langle \mathbf{M}, \lambda\rangle| : \lambda \in L(A)_{[1]}\}.$$
(6.1)

First we verify that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is always a semi-simple, commutative Banach algebra.

It follows from (2.8) that the space $L(A)^{\perp}$ is a weak-* closed ideal in A''. Thus $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A''/L(A)^{\perp}$ is a Banach algebra.

Take M, N $\in A''$. Then it follows from equation (2.8) that M \square N - N \square M $\in L(A)^{\perp}$, and so [M] [N] = [N] [M]. Hence $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a commutative algebra. For each $\varphi \in \Phi_A$, the map

$$\widetilde{\varphi} : \mathcal{M} + L(A)^{\perp} \mapsto \langle \mathcal{M}, \varphi \rangle, \quad \mathcal{Q}(A) \to \mathbb{C},$$

is a well-defined character on $\mathcal{Q}(A)$, and $M + L(A)^{\perp} = 0$ whenever $\tilde{\varphi}(M + L(A)^{\perp}) = 0$ for all $\varphi \in \Phi_A$, and so $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is semi-simple. Hence $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is (identified with) a Banach function algebra and as a subalgebra of $\ell^{\infty}(\Phi_A)$. Take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. By identifying φ with $\tilde{\varphi}$, defined above, we can, and shall, regard Φ_A as a determining subset of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

Clearly $A \cap L(A)^{\perp} = \{0\}$ in A'', and so $A + L(A)^{\perp}$ is an algebraic direct sum. Each element $f \in A$ determines [f] in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$, and $[f] \mid \Phi_A = f$, and so we can regard A as a subalgebra of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ by identifying $f \in A$ with $[f] \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$. It follows that

$$||f||_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = ||f||_{BSE} \quad (f \in A).$$

Since $\mathcal{Q}(A)' = L(A)''$ and L(A)'' is identified with the annihilator of $L(A)^{\perp}$ in A''', each $\Lambda \in L(A)''$ acts on $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ through the formula

$$\langle [\mathbf{M}], \Lambda \rangle_{\mathcal{Q}(A), \mathcal{Q}(A)'} = \langle \mathbf{M}, \Lambda \rangle_{A'', A'''} \quad (\mathbf{M} \in A'').$$
(6.2)

In particular, equation (6.2) holds when $\Lambda \in \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

It follows that L(A) is a closed submodule of $\mathcal{Q}(A)'$, and it is clear that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a dual Banach function algebra, with isometric predual $\overline{L(A)}$.

Given $[M] \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$, say with $\|[M]\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \|M\| = m$, there is a net (f_{α}) in $A_{[m]}$ that converges weak-* to M in A''. Since

$$m \leq \liminf_{\alpha} \|f_{\alpha}\| \leq \limsup_{\alpha} \|f_{\alpha}\| \leq m$$
,

it follows that $\lim_{\alpha} ||f_{\alpha}|| = m$. Further, $\lim_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} = [M]$ in the space

$$\left(\mathcal{Q}(A), \sigma(\mathcal{Q}(A), \overline{L(A)}\right)$$

and so $A_{[1]}$ is weak-* dense in $\mathcal{Q}(A)_{[1]}$.

The relative topology on Φ_A from $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is the weak topology $\sigma(A', A'')$, and so

$$\mathcal{Q}(A) = \{ \mathbf{M} \mid \Phi_A : \mathbf{M} \in A'' \} \subset \ell^{\infty}(\Phi_A).$$

As we shall see in Example 7.3, the embedding of Φ_A in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ need not be continuous. Since

$$\Phi_A \subset \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} \subset L(A)'' \subset A''',$$

each $\psi \in \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is of the form $\psi = \varphi + \xi$, where $\varphi = \psi \mid A \in \Phi_A \cup \{0\}$ and $\xi \in A^{\perp}$, and so $\langle [f], \psi \rangle = \langle f, \varphi \rangle$ $(f \in A)$. In particular, it follows that

$$f(\Phi_A) \subset [f](\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}) \subset f(\Phi_A) \cup \{0\} \quad \text{and} \quad |[f]|_{\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}} = |f|_{\Phi_A} \quad (f \in A).$$
(6.3)

We see that $\mathcal{Q}(A)'' = L(A)'' \oplus L(A)^{\perp} = \mathcal{Q}(A) \oplus L(A)^{\perp}$ as Banach spaces, and that $L(A)^{\perp}$ is an ideal in $\mathcal{Q}(A)''$, so that

$$\mathcal{Q}(A)'' = \mathcal{Q}(A) \ltimes L(A)^{\perp}$$

We have established the following theorem.

THEOREM 6.1. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then $L(A)^{\perp}$ is a closed ideal in A'' and $A + L(A)^{\perp}$ is a subalgebra of A''. The quotient Banach algebra

$$\mathcal{Q}(A) := A''/L(A)^{\perp} = L(A)'$$

is commutative and semi-simple, so that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a Banach function algebra, $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a subalgebra of $\ell^{\infty}(\Phi_A)$, and $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ contains A as a subalgebra. Further, $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a dual Banach function algebra, with isometric predual $\overline{L(A)}$, $A_{[1]}$ is $\sigma(\mathcal{Q}(A), \overline{L(A)})$ -dense in $\mathcal{Q}(A)_{[1]}$, and

$$\mathcal{Q}(A)'' = L(A)' \oplus L(A)^{\perp}$$
 and $\mathcal{Q}(A)'' = \mathcal{Q}(A) \ltimes L(A)^{\perp}$.

In fact, the quotient algebra $A''/L(A, \Omega)^{\perp}$ is a Banach function algebra for each nonempty subset Ω of Φ_A . The set Ω is always a determining set for $A''/L(A, \Omega)^{\perp}$.

Since $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} \subset L(A)''$, the Gel'fand topology on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is the relative weak-* topology $\sigma(L(A)'', L(A)')$. We shall write $\overline{\Phi_A}$ for the weak-*-closure of Φ_A in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. In the case where $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is regular as a Banach function algebra on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, it is clear that $\overline{\Phi_A} = \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. However, in general, $\overline{\Phi_A} \subsetneq \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$; for example, see Example 7.8.

In the following result, τ_p is the topology of pointwise convergence on the space Φ_A .

PROPOSITION 6.2. Let $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach function algebra. Then, given $[M] \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$ with $\|[M]\| = m$, there is a net (f_{α}) in $A_{[m]}$ such that $\lim_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} = M$ with respect to τ_p and $\lim_{\alpha} \|f_{\alpha}\| = \lim_{\alpha} \|f_{\alpha}\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = m$. *Proof.* Take $M \in A''$ with $\|[M]\| = m$. Then, as noted above, there is a net (f_{α}) in $A_{[m]}$ such that $\lim_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} = M$ with respect to τ_p and $\lim_{\alpha} \|f_{\alpha}\| = m$. The net (f_{α}) is contained in $\mathcal{Q}(A)_{[m]}$, and so $\lim_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} = [M]$ in the topology $\sigma(\mathcal{Q}(A), \overline{L(A)})$. Hence

 $m = \|[\mathbf{M}]\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} \le \liminf_{\alpha} \|f_{\alpha}\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} \le \limsup_{\alpha} \|f_{\alpha}\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} \le m,$

and this gives the required result. \blacksquare

The above proposition immediately gives the following corollary, which characterizes the elements of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ in $\ell^{\infty}(\Phi_A)$.

COROLLARY 6.3. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is the set of functions $f \in \ell^{\infty}(\Phi_A)$ for which there is a bounded net (f_{α}) in A with $\lim_{\alpha} f_{\alpha} = f$ in $(\ell^{\infty}(\Phi_A), \tau_p)$; for $f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$, the infimum of the bounds of such nets is equal to $\|f\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

PROPOSITION 6.4. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then:

(i) $\|[\mathbf{M}]\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \|[\mathbf{M}]\|_{\mathrm{BSE},\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ ($\mathbf{M} \in A''$), and so $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ has a BSE norm;

(ii) the algebra A has a BSE norm if and only if A is isomorphic to a closed subalgebra of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$;

(iii) the algebra $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ has an identity if and only if A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity.

Proof. (i) The space $\overline{L(\mathcal{Q}(A))}$ is the closure in L(A)'' of $L(\mathcal{Q}(A))$, and $\overline{L(A)} \subset \overline{L(\mathcal{Q}(A))} \subset L(A)''$

isometrically. Thus, for each $M \in A''$, we have

$$\left\|\mathbf{M} + L(A)^{\perp}\right\| = \sup\{\left|\langle \mathbf{M}, \lambda \rangle\right| : \lambda \in L(A)_{[1]}\}.$$

Since $\sup \left\{ \left| \langle \mathbf{M} + L(A)^{\perp}, \Lambda \rangle \right| : \Lambda \in L(\mathcal{Q}(A))_{[1]} \right\} \leq \left\| \mathbf{M} + L(A)^{\perp} \right\|$, we see that $\left\| \mathbf{M} + L(A)^{\perp} \right\| = \sup \left\{ \left| \langle \mathbf{M} + L(A)^{\perp}, \Lambda \rangle \right| : \Lambda \in L(\mathcal{Q}(A))_{[1]} \right\},$

and so

 $\|[\mathbf{M}]\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \|[\mathbf{M}]\|_{\mathrm{BSE},\mathcal{Q}(A)} \quad (\mathbf{M} \in A'').$

In particular, this shows that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ has a BSE norm.

(ii) We have $\|[f]\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \|f\|_{BSE,A} \leq \|f\|_A$ $(f \in A)$, and so A has a BSE norm if and only if A is closed in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$.

(iii) First, suppose that A has a BPAI, say (f_{α}) , and let E be a weak-* accumulation point of the net (f_{α}) in A". Clearly $\langle E, \varphi \rangle = 1$ ($\varphi \in \Phi_A$), and so

$$E \square M - M \in L(A)^{\perp} \quad (M \in A'').$$

Hence [E] is the identity of the commutative Banach algebra $\mathcal{Q}(A)$.

Conversely, suppose that $E \in A''$ and that [E] is the identity of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$. Then

$$\langle \mathbf{E}, \varphi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{E} + L(A)^{\perp}, \varphi \rangle = 1 \quad (\varphi \in \Phi_A).$$

There is a net, say (f_{α}) , in A that is bounded in norm by $||\mathbf{E}||$ and that converges weak-* to E in A'', and clearly (f_{α}) is a BPAI for A.

The norm of the identity of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ that arises in clause (iii), above, is not necessarily equal to 1. Of course, in the case where A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity, the corresponding element $E \in A''$ is such that $\|[E]\| = 1$, and so $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a unital Banach function algebra.

It follows from clause (iii), above, that $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ and $\overline{\Phi_A}$ are compact when A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity.

COROLLARY 6.5. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and suppose that (e_{α}) and (f_{β}) are bounded pointwise approximate identities in A. Then:

(i) [E] = [F] for any weak-* accumulation points E and F of (e_{α}) and (f_{β}) , respectively, in A'';

(ii) for each weak-* accumulation point E of (e_{α}) in A'', there exists $\mu \in L(A)^{\perp}$ with $||E + \mu|| = ||[E]||$.

Proof. (i) This follows because an identity of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is uniquely defined.

(ii) This follows because $\|[\mathbf{E}]\| = \inf\{\|\mathbf{E} + \mu\| : \mu \in L(A)^{\perp}\}\$ and the space $L(A)^{\perp}$ is weak-* closed in A'', so that the infimum is attained.

In particular, when A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity, the norm of the identity in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ does not depend on the choice of the bounded pointwise approximate identity.

In the following corollary, note that neither A nor A'' is necessarily unital.

COROLLARY 6.6. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and suppose that A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Take an element $f \in A$ such that $f(\varphi) \neq 1$ ($\varphi \in \Phi_A$). Then there exists $M \in A''$ such that

$$\langle \mathbf{M}, \varphi \rangle (1 - f(\varphi)) = 1 \quad (\varphi \in \Phi_A).$$

Proof. By Proposition 6.4(iii), $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ has an identity, say [E]. It follows from the hypothesis and equation (6.3) that $\langle [f], \psi \rangle \neq 1$ ($\psi \in \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$), and hence

 $\langle [\mathbf{E}] - [f], \psi \rangle \neq 0 \quad (\psi \in \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}).$

Thus E - [f] is invertible in Q(A), i.e., there exists $M \in A''$ with $[M] \cdot ([E] - [f]) = [E]$ in Q(A). The result follows.

We shall now regard $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ as a Banach function algebra, and usually write f, u, etc., for generic elements of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$.

PROPOSITION 6.7. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$ with $\|\varphi\| = 1$. Then there is an idempotent $u \in \mathcal{Q}(A)_{[1]}$ such that $u(\varphi) = 1$ and fu = u whenever $f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)_{[1]}$ with $f(\varphi) = 1$.

Proof. Since Q(A) is a dual Banach function algebra with predual $\overline{L(A)}$ and since $\varphi \in L(A)$, this is a special case of Theorem 4.9.

The following is immediate from Proposition 5.4.

PROPOSITION 6.8. Let A be a dual Banach function algebra, with predual $F \subset A'$, and suppose that $\Phi_A \subset F$. Then $\overline{L(A)} = F$, $A'' = A \ltimes L(A)^{\perp}$, and $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A$.

6.1. The subset Φ_A of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. In the next results, we continue to regard Φ_A as a subset of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and will give conditions that imply that it is an open subset of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

LEMMA 6.9. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and let S be a non-empty subset of Φ_A . Then the following are equivalent:

- (a) each point of S is isolated in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$;
- (b) S is open and discrete in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) This is immediate.

(b) \Rightarrow (a) Take $\varphi \in S$, and suppose that (φ_{α}) is a net in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ that converges to φ . Since S is open in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, the net (φ_{α}) is eventually in S. Since S is discrete in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, eventually $\varphi_{\alpha} = \varphi$. Thus φ is isolated in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

THEOREM 6.10. Let A be a Banach function algebra.

(i) Suppose that $\varphi \in \Phi_A$ and that A has the weak separating ball property at φ . Then φ is an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

(ii) Suppose that A has the weak separating ball property. Then Φ_A is the set of isolated points of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and so Φ_A is open and discrete as a subspace of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

Proof. (i) Note that $\|\varphi\| = 1$ because A has the weak separating ball property at φ , and so, by Proposition 6.7, there is an idempotent $u \in \mathcal{Q}(A)_{[1]}$ such that $u(\varphi) = 1$ and fu = u whenever $f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)_{[1]}$ with $f(\varphi) = 1$.

We may suppose that $|\Phi_A| \geq 2$. Take $\psi \in \Phi_A$ with $\psi \neq \varphi$. Then there is a net (g_ν) in $(M_\psi)_{[1]}$ with $\lim_{\nu} g_\nu(\varphi) = 1$. Since $\|g_\nu\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} \leq \|g_\nu\|_A$, this net has a weak-* accumulation point, say g, in $\mathcal{Q}(A)_{[1]}$ with $g(\varphi) = 1$; further, $g(\psi) = 0$. It follows that $u(\psi) = 0$, and so $(fu - f(\varphi)u)(\psi) = 0$ for each $f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$. Thus $(fu - f(\varphi)u) \mid \Phi_A = 0$ $(f \in \mathcal{Q}(A))$. Since Φ_A is a determining set for $\mathcal{Q}(A)$, we have

$$fu = f(\varphi)u \quad (f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)).$$

Suppose that $\Phi_A \subsetneq \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and take $\psi \in \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ with $\psi \neq \varphi$. Then there exists $f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$ with $f(\varphi) = 1$ and $f(\psi) = 0$, and hence $u(\psi) = 0$. This shows that u is the characteristic function of $\{\varphi\}$ in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and hence φ is an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. This is immediate when $\Phi_A = \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

(ii) By (i), each point of Φ_A is an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. Since Φ_A is determining for $\mathcal{Q}(A)$, each isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ belongs to Φ_A . By Lemma 6.9, Φ_A is open and discrete as a subspace of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

PROPOSITION 6.11. Let A be a Banach function algebra.

(i) Take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$ such that M_{φ} is non-zero, and suppose that M_{φ} has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Then φ is weakly isolated in Φ_A and an isolated point of the space $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

(ii) Each isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is in Φ_A , and is weakly isolated in Φ_A .

Proof. (i) Let E be a weak-* accumulation point of the BPAI of M_{φ} in A'', so that $E \mid \Phi_A$ is the characteristic function of $\Phi \setminus \{\varphi\}$. This implies that φ is weakly isolated in Φ_A .

For each $F \in A''$ with $F(\varphi) = 0$, we have $(FE - F) \mid \Phi_A = 0$, and so [F][E] = [F]in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$. It follows that [E] is the characteristic function of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} \setminus \{\varphi\}$, and so φ is an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

(ii) Let ψ be an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. By Šilov's idempotent theorem, the characteristic function χ_{ψ} of $\{\psi\}$ is in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$. Since Φ_A is a determining set for $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, necessarily $\psi \in \Phi_A$, and clearly ψ is weakly isolated in Φ_A .

THEOREM 6.12. Let A be a Banach function algebra such that $|\Phi_A| \ge 2$, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. Then the following are equivalent:

(a) the ideal M_{φ} has a bounded pointwise approximate identity;

(b) the algebra A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity and φ is an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

Proof. The characteristic function of $\{\varphi\}$ on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is denoted by χ_{φ} .

(a) \Rightarrow (b) Take E to be a weak-* accumulation point in A'' of a BPAI in M_{φ} . By Proposition 6.11(i), φ is an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and so $\chi_{\varphi} \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$. Then [E] + χ_{φ} is the identity of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$, and so, again by Proposition 6.4(iii), A has a BPAI.

(b) \Rightarrow (a) Since A has a BPAI, there exists $E \in A''$ such that [E] is the identity of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$. Since φ is an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, it follows that $\chi_{\varphi} \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$, and so there exists $F \in A''$ such that $[F] = \chi_{\varphi}$. The element E - F is in M''_{φ} , and is such that $\langle E - F, \psi \rangle = 1$ ($\psi \in \Phi_A \setminus \{\varphi\}$), and so M_{φ} has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. \blacksquare

COROLLARY 6.13. Let A be a Banach function algebra with a bounded pointwise approximate identity and such that $|\Phi_A| \ge 2$, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. Then the ideal M_{φ} has a bounded pointwise approximate identity if and only if φ is an isolated point of $\Phi_{Q(A)}$.

For example, let A be the disc algebra, so that A has an identity. The maximal ideal M_0 does not have a bounded pointwise approximate identity, and so 0 is not an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. We shall identify $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ in Example 7.5. Again, take Γ to be a locally compact group. Then $A(\Gamma)$ has the separating ball property (see Example 11.3(ii)), and so, by Theorem 6.10(i), each point of Γ is isolated in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma))}$. However, as noted on page 30, in the case where Γ is not amenable, $A(\Gamma)$ does not have a bounded pointwise approximate identity, and so no maximal modular ideal in $A(\Gamma)$ has a bounded pointwise approximate identity.

Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K. In the following proposition, we again regard K as a subset of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. Also, we write G(A) for the set of points $x \in K$ such that $\{x\}$ is a one-point Gleason part in K. Recall that d_A denotes the Gleason metric on K. PROPOSITION 6.14. Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K.

(i) Each point of G(A) is an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and so the set G(A) is open and discrete in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

(ii) Each isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is an isolated point of (K, d_A) .

(iii) In the case where $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, the space G(A) is equal to the set of isolated points of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

Proof. (i) Suppose that $x \in G(A)$. Then, by Corollary 4.16, A has the weak separating ball property at x, and so, by Theorem 6.10(i), x is an isolated point of $\Phi_{Q(A)}$.

(ii) Suppose that x is an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, so that $x \in K$ by Proposition 6.11(ii). Then there exists $F \in A''$ such that $F \mid \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is the characteristic function of $\{x\}$ as a subset of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and again $x \in K$. Set r = ||F||, and take $y \in K$ with $y \neq x$. Then

$$d_A(y,x) \ge |\langle F, \varepsilon_y \rangle - \langle F, \varepsilon_x \rangle| /r = 1/r,$$

and so x is an isolated point of (K, d_A) .

(iii) Now suppose that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. By (i), we must show that each isolated point φ of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is in G(A). Such a point φ is an isolated point of (K, d_A) by (ii).

Since x is isolated in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, the function χ_x belongs to $\mathcal{Q}(A)$; since $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra, $\|\chi_x\| = 1$. Take $F \in A''_{[1]}$ with $F \mid \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \chi_x$, and again take $y \in K \setminus \{x\}$. Then $\langle F, \varepsilon_y \rangle = 0$ and $\langle F, \varepsilon_x \rangle = 1$, and so there is a net (f_ν) in $A_{[1]}$ with $\lim_{\nu} f_{\nu}(y) = 0$ and $\lim_{\nu} f_{\nu}(x) = 1$. It follows that y is not in the same Gleason part as x, and so $x \in G(A)$.

We shall give an example in Example 7.6, below, to show that an isolated point of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ need not belong to G(A), and so we shall have an example of a uniform algebra A such that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is not a uniform algebra.

6.2. Compactness in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and consider the closure, $\overline{\Phi_A}$, of Φ_A in the space $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, where the latter space has its usual weak-* topology, $\sigma(\mathcal{Q}(A)', \mathcal{Q}(A))$, identified with $\sigma(L(A)'', L(A)')$. Here we consider the question when this closure is compact. We shall show that this is the case if and only if Φ_A is weakly closed in A'.

Let A be a Banach function algebra, and suppose that Φ_A is not weakly closed in A'. Then, as noted several times before, the weak closure of Φ_A in A' is $\Phi_A \cup \{0\}$.

Now let F be a Banach space such that its dual B = F' is a Banach function algebra. Then B' = F''. Let Ω be a non-empty subset of Φ_B that is contained in F. We note that a net (φ_{α}) in Ω converges to zero in the topology $\sigma(B', B)$ if and only if (φ_{α}) converges to zero in the weak topology, $\sigma(F, F')$. On the other hand, no net (φ_{α}) in Ω converges to zero in the weak-* topology $\sigma(B', B)$ of B' if and only if the closure $\overline{\Omega}$ of Ω in Φ_B is compact.

These comments prove the following result.

LEMMA 6.15. Let F be a Banach space such that its dual B = F' is a Banach function algebra. Suppose that the set $\Omega := \Phi_B \cap F$ is non-empty, and let $\overline{\Omega}$ be its closure in Φ_B . Then $\overline{\Omega}$ is compact as a subset of Φ_B if and only if Ω is weakly closed in F.

Now let A be a Banach function algebra, and set $F = \overline{L(A)}$ and $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A''/F^{\perp}$, as before.

THEOREM 6.16. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (a) Φ_A is weakly closed in A';
- (b) the closure of Φ_A in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is compact.

Proof. This follows from Lemma 6.15, taking $B = \mathcal{Q}(A)$ and $\Omega = \Phi_A$.

PROPOSITION 6.17. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and suppose that A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Then Φ_A is weakly closed in A'.

Proof. By Proposition 6.4(iii), $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ has an identity, and so $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is compact. Hence, the closure of Φ_A in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is compact, and so Φ_A is weakly closed in A' by Theorem 6.16. \blacksquare

We do not know whether the converse of the above proposition holds.

7. Examples

We now present some examples of classical Banach function algebras A, and describe the corresponding Banach function algebra $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A''/L(A)^{\perp}$ and its character space $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

7.1. Elementary examples. We first give examples that show that, for a Banach function algebra A, we can have $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A$ and that we can have $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A''$.

EXAMPLE 7.1. Let $A = (\ell^1, \cdot)$, the space of summable sequences with pointwise product, so that A is a natural, Tauberian Banach sequence algebra on N, and hence an ideal in its bidual. Further, A is a dual Banach function algebra with predual c_0 . Here

$$A' = \ell^{\infty} = C(\beta \mathbb{N}) \,,$$

so that $L(A) = c_{00} \subset c_0$ and $A'' = M(\beta \mathbb{N})$. Thus $L(A)^{\perp} = c_0^{\perp} = M(\mathbb{N}^*)$, where $\mathbb{N}^* = \beta \mathbb{N} \setminus \mathbb{N}$ is the growth of \mathbb{N} in $\beta \mathbb{N}$, and $A'' \cong A \oplus_1 L(A)^{\perp}$. As in equation (5.3), the product in A'' is given by

$$(\alpha, \mu) \square (\beta, \nu) = (\alpha\beta, 0) \quad (\alpha, \beta \in \ell^1, \, \mu, \nu \in M(\mathbb{N}^*)).$$

Thus the algebra A is Arens regular, $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A$, and $\Phi_A = \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \mathbb{N}$. Also we have $A'' = \mathcal{Q}(A) \ltimes L(A)^{\perp}$ as a Banach algebra.

Since $L(A)_{[1]}$ is weak-* dense in $A'_{[1]}$, the algebra A has a BSE norm; this also follows from Proposition 6.4(i).

EXAMPLE 7.2. Take α such that $0 < \alpha < 1$, and consider the Banach function algebras $A = \lim_{\alpha} \mathbb{I}$ and $\lim_{\alpha} \mathbb{I}$ of Lipschitz functions on the closed interval \mathbb{I} , as in [12, §4.4]. Then the Lipschitz algebra A is Arens regular and $A'' = \operatorname{Lip}_{\alpha} \mathbb{I}$ [12, Theorem 4.4.34]. The Banach function algebras A and A'' are regular, natural, and self-adjoint on \mathbb{I} . However these algebras do not have the separating ball property, and maximal ideals in them do not have a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Here $L(A)^{\perp} = \{0\}$ and $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A''$, so that $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \mathbb{I}$.

7.2. Uniform algebras. We now consider the case where A is a uniform algebra on a locally compact space.

EXAMPLE 7.3. Set $A = C_0(K)$, where K is a non-empty, locally compact space, so that A has the separating ball property. Then A' = M(K) and $A'' = C(\widetilde{K})$, where \widetilde{K} , the hyper-Stonean envelope of K, is a hyper-Stonean space, as we noted earlier. Thus $\Phi_{A''} = \widetilde{K}$.

We recall that $M(K) = M_c(K) \oplus_1 M_d(K)$, where $M_c(K)$ and $M_d(K)$ denote the closed subspaces of M(K) consisting of the continuous and discrete measures, respectively. We have $M_d(K) = \ell^1(K)$, and so $M_d(K)' = \ell^{\infty}(K) = C(\beta K_d)$, where K_d denotes the space K with the discrete topology and βS denotes the Stone–Čech compactification of a discrete space S. We regard βK_d as a clopen subspace of \widetilde{K} , and set $\widetilde{K}_c = \widetilde{K} \setminus \beta K_d$, so that $M_c(K)' = C(\widetilde{K}_c)$. For details of these remarks, see [13].

Here it is clear that $\overline{L(A)} \cong \ell^1(K)$, and hence that

$$\mathcal{Q}(A) = \ell^{\infty}(K) = C(\beta K_d) \text{ and } \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \beta K_d.$$

Thus the predual of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is $\ell^1(K)$, and Φ_A and $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ can be identified with K and βK_d , respectively, so that $\overline{\Phi_A} = \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ and Φ_A is the set of isolated points in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, in accord with Theorem 6.10(ii). It follows that

$$L(A)^{\perp} = \{F \in C(\widetilde{K}) : F \mid \beta K_d = 0\} = I(\beta K_d)$$

and $A'' = \mathcal{Q}(A) \ltimes L(A)^{\perp}$ as a Banach algebra. In fact, since βK_d is a clopen subset of \widetilde{K} , we can identify $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ with the closed ideal

$$\{F \in C(\widetilde{K}) : F \mid \widetilde{K}_c = 0\} = I(\widetilde{K}_c)$$

in A'', so that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra, and hence is itself Arens regular.

Here the embedding of Φ_A in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is continuous only in the special case that K is discrete. In particular, consider the case where $A = c_0$. Then

$$\mathcal{Q}(A) = A'' = \ell^{\infty} = C(\beta \mathbb{N})$$

Again set A = C(K) for a compact space K, so that $\mathcal{Q}(A) = C(\beta K_d)$. Then $\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{Q}(A))$ is equal to $C(\beta((\beta K_d)_d))$, usually a far bigger space than $\mathcal{Q}(A)$.

The natural continuous surjection from \widetilde{K} onto K_{∞} , the one-point compactification of K, is denoted by π_K . Take $x \in K_{\infty}$. Then

$$K_{\{x\}} = \pi_K^{-1}(\{x\}) = \{p \in \widetilde{K} : \pi_K(p) = x\}$$

is the *fibre* in \widetilde{K} at x. Each fibre $K_{\{x\}}$ is a closed subspace of \widetilde{K} , and clearly we have $\widetilde{K} = \bigcup \{K_{\{x\}} : x \in K_{\infty}\}$. It is easy to see that, when $C_0(K)$ is regarded as a subspace of $C(\widetilde{K})$ via the canonical embedding, the space $C_0(K)$ consists of the functions $F \in C(\widetilde{K})$ such that $F \mid K_{\{x\}}$ is constant for each $x \in K$ and also such that $F \mid K_{\{\infty\}} = 0$.

EXAMPLE 7.4. Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a compact space K. Then A'' is a closed subalgebra of $C(\widetilde{K})$, and A is Arens regular; the canonical image of A in A''consists of the functions in A'' that are constant on each fibre in \widetilde{K} . However A'' does not necessarily separate the points of \widetilde{K} , and so A'' may not be a uniform algebra on \widetilde{K} . The character space of A'' is again denoted by $\Phi_{A''}$, and we again regard K as a subset of $\Phi_{A''}$; its closure in $\Phi_{A''}$ is \overline{K} . For a study of the algebra A'' (for a special class of 'tight' uniform algebras), see [11].

Denote by $I = I(\overline{K})$ the closed ideal in A'' (when defined on $\Phi_{A''}$) consisting of all functions in A'' that vanish on \overline{K} , so that $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A''/I$. The hull of I in $\Phi_{A''}$ is h(I), so that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a natural Banach function algebra on h(I).

We now determine $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ and $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ in the case where A is the disc algebra. We are greatly indebted to Professor Ken Davidson for some valuable explanations.

EXAMPLE 7.5. Let $A = A(\mathbb{D})$ be the disc algebra. Our main source for results that we use in this example is the book of Garnett [30].

We shall write H^1 for the Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{D})$ that consists of the analytic functions f on \mathbb{D} such that

$$\|f\|_{H^1} := \sup_{0 < r < 1} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \left| f(r e^{i\theta}) \right| d\theta < \infty,$$

with H_0^1 for $\{f \in H^1 : f(0) = 0\}$. For these spaces, see [30, Chapter II and p. 133].

We regard A as a closed subalgebra of $C(\mathbb{T})$, and we denote the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{T} by m. The space of measures that are absolutely continuous with respect to m is identified with $L^1(\mathbb{T},m)$ and $M_{sc}(\mathbb{T})$ is the space of continuous measures on \mathbb{T} that are singular with respect to m, and then

$$C(\mathbb{T})' = M(\mathbb{T}) = L^1(\mathbb{T}, m) \oplus_1 \ell^1(\mathbb{T}) \oplus_1 M_{sc}(\mathbb{T}).$$

The space A^{\perp} is the annihilator of A in $M(\mathbb{T})$. The fact that A^{\perp} can be identified as a closed subspace of $L^1(\mathbb{T}, m)$ is the classical F. and M. Riesz theorem for the disc algebra, and, as explained in [30, p. 133], this implies that A^{\perp} can be identified with the space H_0^1 (see also [31, Theorem II.7.10]). Thus we conclude that

$$A' = (L^1(\mathbb{T}, m)/H_0^1) \oplus_1 \ell^1(\mathbb{T}) \oplus_1 M_{sc}(\mathbb{T}).$$

$$(7.1)$$

By a theorem of Ando [2] that is given in [30, Theorem V.5.4], $L^1(\mathbb{T}, m)/H_0^1$ is the unique isometric predual of H^{∞} as a Banach space. Thus it follows from equation (7.1) that

$$A'' = H^{\infty} \oplus_{\infty} \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}) \oplus_{\infty} M_{sc}(\mathbb{T})$$

as a Banach space.

Each character on A, given by $z \in \overline{\mathbb{D}}$, has a unique representing measure, say μ_z , on \mathbb{T} , so that

$$f(z) = \int_{\mathbb{T}} f \,\mathrm{d}\mu_z \quad (f \in A);$$

see [30, p. 200].

Take $z \in \mathbb{T}$. Then the unique representing measure for ε_z is the point mass, δ_z , at z, and so $\overline{\lim} \{ \varepsilon_z : z \in \mathbb{T} \} = \ell^1(\mathbb{T})$, i.e., $\overline{L(A, \mathbb{T})} = \ell^1(\mathbb{T})$.

Each element of $L(A, \overline{\mathbb{D}})'$ extends by Hahn–Banach to an element of A''. The restriction to $L(A, \mathbb{D})$ of each element of $\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}) \oplus_{\infty} M_{sc}(\mathbb{T})'$ is the zero functional, and so $L(A, \mathbb{D})'$ is a identified with a subspace of H^{∞} . Now take $f \in H^{\infty}$. Then the map

$$\Lambda_f: \lambda = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i \varepsilon_{z_i} \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i f(z_i) \,, \quad L(A, \mathbb{D}) \to \mathbb{C} \,,$$

is a linear functional on $L(A, \mathbb{D})$. Fix $\varepsilon > 0$. There exists $z \in \mathbb{D}$ with $|f(z)| > |f|_{\mathbb{D}} - \varepsilon$, and so $\|\Lambda_f\| \ge |\langle \Lambda_f, \varepsilon_z \rangle| = |f(z)| > |f|_{\mathbb{D}} - \varepsilon$, whence $\|\Lambda_f\| \ge |f|_{\mathbb{D}}$. Set $f_r(z) = f(rz)$ $(z \in \mathbb{D})$ for 0 < r < 1, so that $f_r \in A$, and take $\lambda \in L(A, \mathbb{D})$. Then $|\lambda(f_r)| \le \|\lambda\| \|f_r\|_{\mathbb{D}}$ (0 < r < 1), and hence

$$|\langle \Lambda_f, \lambda \rangle| = \lim_{r \to 1} |\lambda(f_r)| \le ||\lambda|| |f|_{\mathbb{D}}.$$

Thus $\Lambda_f \in L(A, \mathbb{D})'$ with $\|\Lambda_f\| = |f|_{\mathbb{D}}$, and the element of H^{∞} corresponding to Λ_f is f. It follows that $L(A, \mathbb{D})' \cong H^{\infty}$. It now follows from equation (7.1) that $\overline{L(A)} = (L^1(\mathbb{T}, m)/H_0^1) \oplus_1 \ell^1(\mathbb{T})$, and hence that

$$\mathcal{Q}(A) = L(A)' = H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \oplus_{\infty} \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$$

as a Banach space.

Take $f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)$. It is clear that f is identified with the pair $(f \mid \mathbb{D}, f \mid \mathbb{T})$ in the space $H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \oplus_{\infty} \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$ and that the product in this latter space is given by

$$(F_1, G_1) (F_2, G_2) = (F_1 F_2, G_1 G_2) \quad (F_1, F_2 \in H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}), G_1, G_2 \in \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})),$$

and so $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is identified with the uniform algebra $H^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}) \oplus_{\infty} \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$.

The character space of $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is the disjoint union of $\Phi_{H^{\infty}}$ and $\beta \mathbb{T}_d$. We recall that, by Carleson's corona theorem [30, Chapter VIII], the character space of H^{∞} is a compact space containing \mathbb{D} as a dense subset, and so the set $\overline{\mathbb{D}}$ is dense in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ and $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is exactly the hull of $L(A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}))^{\perp}$.

The above proof can be generalized to apply to uniform algebras defined on suitable subsets of \mathbb{C}^n using the techniques of [9], [11], and [48].

EXAMPLE 7.6. In [26, Theorem 2.1], Feinstein constructed a separable, strongly regular, natural uniform algebra A on a compact space K such that there is a two-point Gleason part, say $P := \{x_1, x_2\}$, in K and such that all other points of K are peak points, and hence one-point Gleason parts. Here $\Gamma(A) = K$ and $\Gamma_0(A) = K \setminus P$.

Take a finite set F in $K \setminus \{x_1\}$; we may suppose that $x_2 \in F$, so that F has the form $\{x_2, x_3, \ldots, x_n\}$, where x_2, x_3, \ldots, x_n are distinct points in K. Take $f_2 \in M_{x_2}$ with $f_2(x_1) = 1$, and set $m = |f_2|_K$. Fix $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, and take $\delta > 0$ such that $(1 - \delta)^n < \varepsilon$. For $j = 3, \ldots, n$, take $f_j \in M_{x_j}$ with $|f_j(x_1) - 1| < \delta$ and $|f_j|_K = 1$, and then define $f = f_2 f_3 \cdots f_n \in A$, so that $|f|_K \leq m$ and $|f(x_1) - 1| < (1 - \delta)^n < \varepsilon$. Finally, define $g = f(x_1) 1_K - f$, so that $g \in M_{x_1}$ with $|g(x_j) - 1| < \varepsilon$ and $|g|_K \leq m + 1 + \varepsilon$. It follows that M_{x_1} has a bounded pointwise approximate identity with bound m + 1. Similarly, M_{x_2} has a contractive pointwise approximate identity.

By Theorem 4.17(i), there exists an idempotent $E \in A''$ such that $\langle E, \varepsilon_x \rangle = 1$ $(x \in P)$ and $\langle E, \varepsilon_y \rangle = 0$ $(y \in K \setminus P)$. For $M \in A''$, consider the element

$$F_M = (M E - \langle M, \varepsilon_{x_1} \rangle E) (M - \langle M, \varepsilon_{x_2} \rangle E) \in A''.$$

As in Theorem 6.10, $\langle [F_M], \varepsilon_y \rangle = 0$ $(y \in K)$, and this implies that $[F_M] = 0$ in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$. Take $\varphi \in \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} \setminus P$, so that $\langle [E], \varphi \rangle = 0$ or $\langle [E], \varphi \rangle = 1$, and assume towards a contradiction that $\langle [E], \varphi \rangle = 1$. Then there exists $M \in A''$ with $\langle [M], \varepsilon_{x_1} \rangle = \langle [M], \varepsilon_{x_2} \rangle = 1$ and $\langle [M], \varphi \rangle = 0$, and hence $\langle F_M, \varphi \rangle = 1$, a contradiction. We conclude that [E] is the characteristic function of P in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and so each of the two points x_1 and x_2 is isolated in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

Certainly x_1 and x_2 are isolated in (K, d_A) , but $\{x_1\}$ and $\{x_2\}$ are not one-point parts. As we remarked, Proposition 6.14(iii) implies that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is not a uniform algebra, but it is equivalent to a uniform algebra. It follows from Proposition 4.4 that the maximal ideal M_{x_1} does not have norm-one characters because it clearly does not have the weak separating ball property. Nevertheless, $\Phi_{M_{x_1}}$ is weakly closed in M'_{x_1} . Indeed, there exists $F \in M_{x_1}''$ with $\langle F, \varepsilon_y \rangle = 1$ $(y \in K \setminus P)$, and this implies that $\Phi_{M_{x_1}}$ is weakly closed in M_{x_1}' .

An example that is a development of the above example will give a uniform algebra A such that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is not even equivalent to a uniform algebra on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$; see [15].

EXAMPLE 7.7. In [50], Sidney constructed a natural, separable uniform algebra on a compact space K and a point $x \in K$ such that $\{x\}$ is a one-point Gleason part, but such that M_x^2 is not dense in M_x , and so M_x does not have an approximate identity.

In [32], it is shown that there is a natural, separable, regular uniform algebra A on a compact space K and $x \in K$ such that $\Gamma_0(A) = K \setminus \{x\}$ (so that each point of K is a one-point part, and hence A is pointwise contractive), but again M_x^2 is not dense in M_x .

In [14, Theorem 2.3], it is shown that there is a natural, separable uniform algebra on a compact metric space K such that each point of K is a one-point Gleason part, but $\Gamma(A) \subsetneq K$, so that A is not a Cole algebra, and hence not contractive.

Recall that it was shown in Proposition 4.21(i) that a maximal ideal M_x in a natural uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space has a contractive pointwise approximate identity if and only if $\{x\}$ is a one-point part. Thus the above examples show that there are maximal ideals in uniform algebras that have a contractive pointwise approximate identity, but such that they do not have any approximate identity.

7.3. Harmonic analysis. Here we give some examples related to Banach function algebras that arise in harmonic analysis. Again the group algebra of a locally compact group G is $(L^1(G), \star)$ and $A(\Gamma)$ and $B(\Gamma)$ are the Fourier and Fourier–Stieltjes algebras of a locally compact group Γ .

EXAMPLE 7.8. Let G be a compact, abelian group, and set $A = (L^1(G), \star)$, so that $\Phi_A = \Gamma$, the dual group of G. Then Γ is discrete and $A(\Gamma)$ is a Tauberian Banach sequence algebra on Γ , and hence an ideal in its bidual. Also $A' = L^{\infty}(G)$, a C*-algebra for the pointwise product, $\overline{L(A)} = C(G)$, and $A'' = M(G) \oplus_1 C(G)^{\perp}$, so that

$$\mathcal{Q}(A) = \mathcal{Q}(L^1(G)) = M(G).$$
(7.2)

Since $(M(G), \star)$ is a closed subalgebra of (A'', \Box) , we again see that

$$A'' = \mathcal{Q}(A) \ltimes L(A)^{\perp}$$

as a Banach algebra. We have $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \Gamma \cup H$, where H is the hull of A when A is considered as an ideal in M(G). Here, the embedding of Φ_A into $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is continuous. Since M(G) is a unital Banach algebra, $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is compact and so $\overline{\Phi_A}$ is also compact. In the case where G is infinite, the Wiener–Pitt phenomenon shows that $\overline{\Phi_A}$ is a proper subset of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

EXAMPLE 7.9. Let G be a locally compact abelian group, with dual group Γ . Then bG, the dual group to Γ_d , is the compact abelian group that is the Bohr compactification of G, so that the Banach function algebra $B(\Gamma_d)$ is identified with $(M(bG), \star)$.

Set $A = (L^1(G), \star)$, identified with the Banach function algebra $A(\Gamma)$. We have noted that $\overline{L(A)}$ is identified with AP(G), and hence with C(bG).

As Banach spaces, we have

$$\mathcal{Q}(A) = L(A)' = C(b\,G)' = M(b\,G),$$

and $(\mathcal{Q}(A), \cdot)$ is Banach-algebra isometrically isomorphic to $(M(bG), \star)$ and hence to $(B(\Gamma_d), \cdot)$.

EXAMPLE 7.10. Let Γ be a locally compact group. The dual space $A(\Gamma)'$ is identified with $VN(\Gamma)$, the group von Neumann algebra of Γ ; see [38, Theorem 2.3.9]. For $x \in \Gamma$ and $h \in L^2(\Gamma)$, set

$$(\lambda_x h)(y) = h(x^{-1}y) \quad (y \in \Gamma),$$

so that $\lambda_x \in VN(\Gamma) \subset \mathcal{B}(L^2(\Gamma))$ and $VN(\Gamma)$ is the weak-operator closure of the space lin { $\lambda_x : x \in \Gamma$ } [24, Définition (3.9)]. Each operator λ_x acts as a character on $A(\Gamma)$, and indeed we can identify $\Phi_{A(\Gamma)}$ with { $\lambda_x : x \in \Gamma$ }; for this, see [38, Lemma 2.3.1 and Theorem 2.3.8]. Thus $\overline{L(A(\Gamma))}$ can be identified with the C^* -subalgebra of $VN(\Gamma)$ generated by { $\lambda_x : x \in \Gamma$ }. This latter C^* -algebra is denoted by $C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma)$ in the literature; see [43, §4] and [8]. Thus

$$\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma)) = C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma)'$$

We shall make some remarks on the identification of $C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma)'$.

The reduced C^* -algebra of Γ is denoted by $C^*_{\rho}(\Gamma)$; when Γ is amenable, we have $C^*_{\rho}(\Gamma) = C^*(\Gamma)$. It was shown by Bédos in [4] that there is a natural surjection

$$R: C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma) \to C^*_{\rho}(\Gamma_d)$$
,

where Γ_d is the group Γ with the discrete topology, and so we can say that the algebra $\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma))$ contains the reduced Fourier–Stieltjes algebra $B_{\rho}(\Gamma_d) = C^*_{\rho}(\Gamma_d)'$, and hence

$$B_{\rho}(\Gamma_d) \subset \mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma))$$

In the two cases where Γ is discrete and where Γ_d is amenable, it is shown in [4, Theorem 3] that $C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma) = C^*_{\rho}(\Gamma_d)$. It follows that, in the case where Γ is discrete,

$$\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma)) = C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma)' = C^*_{\rho}(\Gamma)' = B_{\rho}(\Gamma),$$

and that, when Γ_d is amenable,

$$\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma)) = C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma)' = C^*_{\rho}(\Gamma_d)' = C^*(\Gamma_d)' = B(\Gamma_d).$$

These equations recover the previous example, equation (7.2), in the case where Γ is abelian and discrete.

In the case where the locally compact group Γ is amenable, the above map R is an injection if and only if Γ_d is amenable; in this case, we have $\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma)) = B_\rho(\Gamma_d)$. An extension of this result was given in [5, Theorem 1]: for an arbitrary locally compact group Γ , the map $R : C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma) \to C^*_{\rho}(\Gamma_d)$ is an isomorphism if and only if Γ contains an open subgroup Δ such that Δ_d is amenable. It seems to be an open question whether $\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma)) = B(\Gamma_d)$ in the case where $\Gamma = SO(3)$; in this case Γ is amenable, but Γ_d is not amenable.

We now give a separate, explicit identification of the isometric algebra isomorphism from $B(\Gamma_d)$ onto $Q(A(\Gamma))$ in the case where Γ_d is amenable.

Indeed, let Γ be a locally compact group such that Γ_d is amenable. For $u \in B(\Gamma_d)$, define

$$L_u: \lambda \mapsto \langle u, \lambda \rangle, \quad C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma) \to \mathbb{C}$$

Since $C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma) = C^*(\Gamma_d)$ and $C^*(\Gamma_d)' = B(\Gamma_d)$, we see that

$$||L_u|| = ||u|| \quad (u \in B(\Gamma_d)).$$

Since $C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma)$ is a C^* -subalgebra of $VN(\Gamma)$, the functional L_u on $C^*(\Gamma_d)$ has a Hahn– Banach extension $\widetilde{u} \in VN(\Gamma)' = A(\Gamma)''$ with $\|\widetilde{u}\| = \|u\|$. Suppose that $v \in A(\Gamma)''$ is another such extension of u. Then $\widetilde{u} - v \in L(A(\Gamma))^{\perp}$, and so the map

$$\theta: u \mapsto [\widetilde{u}], \quad B(\Gamma_d) \to \mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma)),$$

is a well-defined linear isometry, easily seen to be an algebra homomorphism.

To show that θ is a surjection, take $M \in A(\Gamma)''$. Then there is a bounded net, say (f_{α}) , in $A(\Gamma)$ that converges weak-* to M. Since

$$A(\Gamma) \subset B(\Gamma) \subset B(\Gamma_d)$$

isometrically, the net (f_{α}) is bounded in $B(\Gamma_d) = C^*(\Gamma_d)'$, and so has a weak-* accumulation point, say u, in $B(\Gamma_d)$, and $\theta(u) = [M] \in \mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma))$. Thus $\theta : B(\Gamma_d) \to \mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma))$ is an isometric algebra isomorphism.

Again suppose that Γ is a locally compact group such that Γ_d is amenable. Then

$$\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma))} = \Phi_{B(\Gamma_d)} \,,$$

and so $\Gamma = \Phi_{A(\Gamma)} \subset \Phi_{B(\Gamma_d)}$. Since $A(\Gamma_d)$ is a closed ideal in $B(\Gamma_d)$, it follows that $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma))} = \Gamma_d \cup H$, where H is the hull of $A(\Gamma_d)$ considered as a closed ideal in $B(\Gamma_d)$, and $\Phi_{A(\Gamma)}$ is identified with the set of isolated points in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma))}$, as in Theorem 6.10.

Note that Example 7.9 is a special case of the above example.

EXAMPLE 7.11. Let $\omega = (\omega_n : n \in \mathbb{Z})$ be a weight on the group $(\mathbb{Z}, +)$, so that the map $\omega : \mathbb{Z} \to [1, \infty)$ is such that $\omega_0 = 1$ and $\omega_{m+n} \leq \omega_m \omega_n$ $(m, n \in \mathbb{Z})$, and let B_{ω} be the weighted space $\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}, \omega)$, with convolution product \star , so that B_{ω} is a subalgebra of $(\ell^1(\mathbb{Z}), \star)$. The commutative Banach algebra B_{ω} is an example of a *Beurling algebra*; for a study of considerably more general versions of these algebras, see [12, §4.6] and [16].

The algebras B_{ω} can be identified with a natural Banach function algebra on a certain compact subspace of \mathbb{C} ; the algebra B_{ω} is a dual Banach function algebra with predual

$$c_0(\mathbb{Z}, 1/\omega) = \left\{ \left(\beta_n : n \in \mathbb{Z}\right) : \lim_{|n| \to \infty} \left|\beta_n\right| / \omega_n = 0 \right\}.$$

In fact, we shall consider just the case where

$$\inf\{\omega_n^{1/n} : n \in \mathbb{N}\} = \sup\{\omega_{-n}^{-1/n} : n \in \mathbb{N}\} = 1,$$
(7.3)

so that B_{ω} is identified with a natural Banach function algebra on the unit circle \mathbb{T} . Suppose further that $\lim_{|n|\to\infty} \omega_n = \infty$ (for example, we can take $\omega = (\omega_n : n \in \mathbb{Z})$, where

$$\omega_n = (1+|n|)^{\alpha} \quad (n \in \mathbb{Z})$$

for some $\alpha > 0$). Then each character on B_{ω} has the form $(\zeta^n : n \in \mathbb{Z})$ for some $\zeta \in \mathbb{T}$, and so $\Phi_{B_{\omega}} \subset c_0(\mathbb{Z}, 1/\omega)$. It follows from Proposition 5.4 that $\overline{L(B_{\omega})} = c_0(\mathbb{Z}, 1/\omega)$ and that $\mathcal{Q}(B_{\omega}) = B_{\omega}$.

We are not clear on the identification of $\mathcal{Q}(B_{\omega})$ when ω satisfies (7.3) and is unbounded, but it is not the case that $\lim_{|n|\to\infty} \omega_n = \infty$; such weights exist.

EXAMPLE 7.12. Let Γ be a locally compact group, and take p such that 1 . $Then the Figà-Talamanca–Herz algebra <math>A = A_p(\Gamma)$ is defined in [12, Definition 4.5.29]; it was studied by Herz [33], and is described in the book of Derighetti [22, Chapter 3]. It is known that $(A_p(\Gamma), \cdot)$ is a natural, self-adjoint, strongly regular Banach function algebra on Γ with the separating ball property; for this, see [22, Chapter 3], [33, Propositions 2 and 3], and [57, Proposition 2.5].

As noted in [8], $\Phi_A = \Gamma$ is weakly closed in A' if and only if Γ is amenable, and so, by Theorem 6.16, the closure of Φ_A in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is compact if and only if Γ is amenable.

Let Γ be a discrete, amenable group, and again set $A = A_p(\Gamma)$. Then A is an ideal in A'' and A has a bounded approximate identity. Let $B_\rho(\Gamma)$ be the multiplier algebra of A. Then, as in Example 7.8, we have $Q(A) = B_\rho(\Gamma)$ and

$$A'' = B_{\rho}(\Gamma) \ltimes L(A)^{\perp},$$

so that $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \Gamma \cup H$, where *H* is the hull of *A* when *A* is regarded as an ideal in $B_{\rho}(\Gamma)$.

8. Existence of contractive pointwise approximate identities

As we stated in the introduction, we are interested in finding necessary and sufficient conditions on a Banach function algebra to have a bounded pointwise approximate identity and, especially, a contractive pointwise approximate identity. We shall obtain such conditions in this section, and then give some applications.

Recall that a Banach function algebra A with a contractive pointwise approximate identity has norm-one characters.

THEOREM 8.1. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity if and only if $\|\lambda\| = 1$ ($\lambda \in \operatorname{co} \Phi_A$).

Proof. Certainly $\|\lambda\| \leq 1$ ($\lambda \in \operatorname{co} \Phi_A$).

Suppose that A has a CPAI. Then there exists an element $E \in A''$ such that ||E|| = 1and $\langle E, \varphi \rangle = 1$ ($\varphi \in \Phi_A$). Take $\lambda \in \operatorname{co} \Phi_A$. Then $\langle E, \lambda \rangle = 1$, and so $||\lambda|| \ge 1$. Hence $||\lambda|| = 1$.

Conversely, suppose that $\|\lambda\| = 1$ ($\lambda \in \operatorname{co} \Phi_A$). Then, for each $\lambda \in \operatorname{co} \Phi_A$, there exists $M \in A''$ with $\|M\| = 1$ and $\langle M, \lambda \rangle = 1$. In particular, take $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and a subset $S = \{\varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_n\}$ of Φ_A . Set $\lambda_S = (\sum_{j=1}^n \varphi_j)/n \in \operatorname{co} \Phi_A$. Since $\|\lambda_S\| = 1$, there exists $M_S \in A''$ with $\|M_S\| = 1$ and $\langle M_S, \lambda_S \rangle = 1$. Since $|\langle M_S, \varphi \rangle| \leq 1$ ($\varphi \in \Phi_A$), the latter is possible only if $\langle M_S, \varphi_j \rangle = 1$ ($j \in \mathbb{N}_n$). Thus, for each non-empty, finite subset S of Φ_A , there is $M_S \in A''_{[1]}$ with $\langle M_S, \varphi \rangle = 1$ ($\varphi \in S$), and this easily gives a CPAI in A.

As a first application of the above theorem, we present the following result.

Let A and B be Banach function algebras, and suppose that $\theta : A \to B$ is a homomorphism. We recall the standard fact [12, Theorem 2.3.3] that θ is automatically continuous, and so it has a dual map $\theta' : B' \to A'$ that restricts to a continuous map $\theta' : \Phi_B \to \Phi_A \cup \{0\}.$

THEOREM 8.2. Let A and B be Banach function algebras, and suppose that $\theta : A \to B$ is a monomorphism with dense range such that $\theta'(\Phi_B) = \Phi_A$. Then the map $\theta' : \overline{L(B)} \to \overline{L(A)}$ is a surjective isometry if and only if

$$\|\theta(f)\|_{\text{BSE}, B} = \|f\|_{\text{BSE}, A} \quad (f \in A).$$
 (8.1)

In this case, $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ and $\mathcal{Q}(B)$ are isometrically isomorphic as Banach algebras.

Proof. Since $\overline{\theta(A)} = B$, it follows that $\theta(A)$ is also dense in $(B, \|\cdot\|_{BSE, B})$, and so $\{\theta(f) : f \in A, \|\theta(f)\|_{BSE, B} \le 1\}$ is dense in the set $\{g \in B : \|g\|_{BSE, B} \le 1\}$.

Now suppose that equation (8.1) holds. It follows that $\{\theta(f) : f \in A, \|f\|_{BSE, A} \leq 1\}$ is dense in the set $\{g \in B : \|g\|_{BSE, B} \leq 1\}$.

Next take $\lambda \in L(B)$, so that $\theta'(\lambda) \in L(A)$. By Proposition 5.8,

$$\left\|\theta'(\lambda)\right\|_{A'} = \sup\left\{\left|\langle f, \, \theta'(\lambda)\rangle\right| : f \in A, \, \|f\|_{\mathrm{BSE}, \, A} \le 1\right\},\,$$

and so

$$\left\|\theta'(\lambda)\right\|_{A'} = \sup\{\left|\langle g,\,\lambda\rangle\right|: g\in B,\, \left\|g\right\|_{\mathrm{BSE},\,B} \leq 1\}\,.$$

Thus, again by Proposition 5.8, $\|\theta'(\lambda)\|_{A'} = \|\lambda\|_{B'}$, and so $\theta' : \overline{L(B)} \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isometry. Since $\theta'(\Phi_B) = \Phi_A$, this map is a surjection.

The converse is immediate from the definitions.

Set $\mu = \theta' \mid L(B) : L(B) \to L(A)$. In the case where μ is a surjective isometry, the dual map $\mu' : L(A)' \to L(B)'$ is also a surjective isometry, and so $\mu' : Q(A) \to Q(B)$ is also a surjective isometry. Moreover, μ' is a homomorphism because θ is a homomorphism. Hence Q(A) and Q(B) are isometrically isomorphic as Banach algebras.

COROLLARY 8.3. Let A and B be Banach function algebras, and suppose that $\theta : A \to B$ is a monomorphism with dense range such that $\theta'(\Phi_B) = \Phi_A$ and such that

$$\|\theta(f)\|_{\text{BSE},B} = \|f\|_{\text{BSE},A} \quad (f \in A).$$

Then A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity if and only if B has a contractive pointwise approximate identity.

Proof. This now follows from Theorems 8.1 and 8.2. \blacksquare

THEOREM 8.4. Let A be a Banach function algebra such that $||f||_{BSE} = |f|_{\Phi_A}$ $(f \in A)$. Then A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity if and only if A has norm-one characters.

Proof. Suppose that A has norm-one characters. Take B to be the uniform closure of A in $C_0(\Phi_A)$, so that $\Phi_B = \Phi_A$ and B has norm-one characters. Since $\|\cdot\|_{\text{BSE}, B} = |\cdot|_{\Phi_A}$, it follows from the hypothesis that $\|f\|_{\text{BSE}, B} = \|f\|_{\text{BSE}, A}$ $(f \in A)$. By Corollary 8.3, A has a CPAI if and only if B has a CPAI. By Theorem 4.19, B has a CPAI, and so A has a CPAI.

The converse is immediate. \blacksquare

Let $(A, \|\cdot\|_A)$ be a Banach function algebra. Then $(A, \|\cdot\|_{BSE})$ is complete if and only if A has a BSE norm, and this is not always the case. Let $(B, \|\cdot\|_B)$ be the Banach function algebra that is the completion of $(A, \|\cdot\|_{BSE})$, so that $\Phi_B = \Phi_A$ and L(B) = L(A). It follows from equation (5.4) that $\|\lambda\|_{B'} = \|\lambda\|_{A'}$ ($\lambda \in L(A)$), and so

$$||f||_{\text{BSE},A} = ||f||_B = ||f||_{\text{BSE},B} \quad (f \in A).$$

Let $\theta: A \to B$ be the identity map. Then equation (8.1) is satisfied, and so Theorem 8.2 applies, and so we have the following corollary, which also uses Corollary 8.3.

COROLLARY 8.5. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and let B be the Banach function algebra that is the completion of $(A, \|\cdot\|_{BSE})$. Then

$$\left(\mathcal{Q}(A), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}\right) = \left(\mathcal{Q}(B), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(B)}\right),$$

and B has a contractive pointwise approximate identity if and only if A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity. \blacksquare

The following isomorphic form of Theorem 8.2 also holds.

PROPOSITION 8.6. Let A and B be Banach function algebras, and suppose that $\theta : A \to B$ is a monomorphism with dense range such that $\theta'(\Phi_B) = \Phi_A$. Suppose that A and B both have BSE norms. Then $\theta' : \overline{L(B)} \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isomorphism if and only if θ is a surjection. For example, let Γ_1 and Γ_2 be two locally compact groups, and suppose that there is a monomorphism $\theta : A(\Gamma_1) \to A(\Gamma_2)$ such that θ has dense range. Since $A(\Gamma_1)$ is a regular Banach function algebra, it follows that $\theta'(\Phi_{A(\Gamma_2)}) = \Phi_{A(\Gamma_1)}$. Thus Proposition 8.6 shows that $\theta' : C'_{\delta}(\Gamma_2) \to C'_{\delta}(\Gamma_1)$ is an isomorphism if and only if θ is a surjection.

Recall that, whenever A is a natural Banach function algebra on a locally compact space K and S is Segal algebra with respect to A, the Banach function algebra S is also a natural Banach function algebra on K, and so we can regard L(A) as a subspace of both A' and S'.

Let S be a Segal algebra with respect to a Banach function algebra A, and take $j: L(A) \to L(S)$ to be the identity mapping, so that j is a contraction. The adjoint map is $j': L(S)' \to L(A)'$, so that

$$j'(\mathbf{M} + L(S)^{\perp}) = \mathbf{M} + L(A)^{\perp} \quad (\mathbf{M} \in S'').$$

(In the above equation, the M on the left is an element of $S'' \subset A''$, but the M on the right is regarded as an element of A''.) The map $j' : \mathcal{Q}(S) \to \mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a contractive algebra homomorphism, and it is clearly injective. Thus $j' : \mathcal{Q}(S) \to \mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a Banach-algebra monomorphism, but, in general, the image $j'(\mathcal{Q}(S))$ is not dense in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$. Clearly we have

$$j(\Phi_A) = \Phi_S$$
 and $j''(\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}) \subset \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(S)} \cup \{0\}.$

In the case where $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$ is compact, $j''(\overline{\Phi_A})$ is a compact subset of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(S)} \cup \{0\}$, but it can be that $0 \in j''(\overline{\Phi_A})$. For example, take $A = c_0$ and $S = \ell^1$, so that $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \beta \mathbb{N}$ and $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(S)} = \mathbb{N}$.

The following theorem implies that, in the case where S has a contractive pointwise approximate identity, the map $j: L(A) \to L(S)$ is an isometry, and so $j': \mathcal{Q}(S) \to \mathcal{Q}(A)$ is an isometric Banach-algebra isomorphism.

THEOREM 8.7. Let $(A, \|\cdot\|_A)$ be a Banach function algebra, and suppose that $(S, \|\cdot\|_S)$ is a Segal algebra with respect to A. Then the following are equivalent:

- (a) S has a contractive pointwise approximate identity;
- (b) A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity and

$$\|\lambda\|_{S'} = \|\lambda\|_{A'} \quad (\lambda \in L(A)).$$
 (8.2)

(c) A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity and

$$||f||_{\text{BSE},S} = ||f||_{\text{BSE},A} \quad (f \in S).$$
 (8.3)

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) Suppose that *S* has a CPAI, say (e_{α}) . Then the net (e_{α}) is also a CPAI for *A* because $||f||_{A} \leq ||f||_{S}$ $(f \in S)$. Also we clearly have $||\lambda||_{S'} \leq ||\lambda||_{A'}$ $(\lambda \in L(A))$. Now take $\lambda \in L(A)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists $f \in A_{[1]}$ with $|\langle f, \lambda \rangle| > ||\lambda||_{A'} - \varepsilon$. The net $(e_{\alpha}f)$ is in *S*, and $||e_{\alpha}f||_{S} \leq ||e_{\alpha}||_{S} ||f||_{A} \leq 1$, and so

$$|\langle f, \lambda \rangle| = \lim_{\alpha} |\langle e_{\alpha} f, \lambda \rangle| \le \limsup_{\alpha} ||e_{\alpha} f||_{S} ||\lambda||_{S'} \le ||\lambda||_{S'} ,$$

which shows that $\|\lambda\|_{A'} - \varepsilon < \|\lambda\|_{S'}$. It follows that $\|\lambda\|_{A'} \le \|\lambda\|_{S'}$, and then equation (8.2) follows.

(b) \Rightarrow (a) By Theorem 8.1, $\|\lambda\|_{A'} = 1$ ($\lambda \in \operatorname{co} \Phi_A$), and so, immediately from equation (8.2), $\|\lambda\|_{S'} = 1$ ($\lambda \in \operatorname{co} \Phi_A$). Hence, by Theorem 8.1 again, S has a CPAI.

(b) \Rightarrow (c) By the definition of the BSE norm, (8.2) implies (8.3).

(c) \Rightarrow (b) It follows from equation (8.3) that the set $\{f \in S : ||f||_{BSE, A} \le 1\}$ is dense in the set $\{g \in A : ||g||_{BSE, A} \le 1\}$. It now follows from equation (5.4) that equation (8.2) also holds, giving (b).

The above result has some rather unexpected consequences; the next theorem is a main result of this work.

THEOREM 8.8. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and let S_1 and S_2 be two Segal algebras with respect to A. Suppose that S_1 and S_2 both have contractive pointwise approximate identities. Then

$$(\overline{L(S_1)}, \|\cdot\|_{S'_1}) = (\overline{L(S_2)}, \|\cdot\|_{S'_2}) = (\overline{L(A)}, \|\cdot\|_{A'})$$

as Banach spaces and

$$(\mathcal{Q}(S_1), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(S_1)}) = (\mathcal{Q}(S_2), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(S_2)}) = (\mathcal{Q}(A), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}).$$
(8.4)

Proof. By the above theorem, the identifications of $L(S_1)$ and $L(S_2)$ with L(A) are both isometries, and so $\overline{L(S_1)} = \overline{L(S_2)}$, whence $L(S_1)' = L(S_2)' = L(A)'$. Thus the identifications of $\mathcal{Q}(S_1)$ and $\mathcal{Q}(S_2)$ with $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ are both Banach-algebra isometries, and hence equation (8.4) follows.

COROLLARY 8.9. Let G be a locally compact abelian group, and let S be a Segal algebra with respect to $L^1(G)$. Suppose that S has a contractive pointwise approximate identity. Then $(\overline{L(S)}, \|\cdot\|_{S'}) \cong (AP(G), |\cdot|_G)$ and

$$\left(\mathcal{Q}(S), \left\|\cdot\right\|_{\mathcal{Q}(S)}\right) = \left(M(b\,G), \left\|\cdot\right\|\right).$$

Further, $||f||_{BSE,S} = ||f||_1$ $(f \in S)$, and hence the Banach function algebra S has a BSE norm if and only if $S = L^1(G)$.

Proof. By the Bochner–Schoenberg–Eberlein theorem, $||f||_{BSE,L^1(G)} = ||f||_1$ for each $f \in L^1(G)$), and so this follows from Theorems 8.7 and 8.8 and earlier examples.

Thus, in the case where the Segal algebra S has a contractive pointwise approximate identity, the biduals of S and $L^1(G)$ are equal modulo the ideals $L(S)^{\perp}$ and $AP(G)^{\perp}$, respectively.

EXAMPLES 8.10. (i) Set $A = c_0$ and $S = \ell^1$, regarded as natural Banach sequence algebras on \mathbb{N} , so that S is a Segal algebra with respect to A. Then A has an obvious contractive approximate identity, but S does not have a bounded pointwise approximate identity; this easy example shows that a Segal algebra with respect to a Banach function algebra that has a contractive pointwise approximate identity need not itself have a contractive pointwise approximate identity.

(ii) Let G be a locally compact abelian group that is neither discrete nor compact; the dual group is Γ . Take p with 1 .

Set $S_1 = L^1(G) \cap L^p(G)$, taken with the norm given by

$$||f||_{S_1} = \max\{||f||_1, ||f||_p\} \quad (f \in S_1).$$

Also set $S_2 = \{f \in L^1(G) : \widehat{f} \in L^p(\Gamma)\}$, taken with the norm given by

$$||f||_{S_2} = \max\left\{ ||f||_1, \left\| \hat{f} \right\|_p \right\} \quad (f \in S_2)$$

Then S_1 and S_2 are both Segal algebras with respect to $L^1(G)$ [12, Examples 4.5.27].

Neither S_1 nor S_2 has a bounded approximate identity, but it is proved in [35] that both S_1 and S_2 have contractive pointwise approximate identities. Thus we can conclude from the above results that $\overline{L(S_1)} \cong \overline{L(S_2)}$ and

$$(\mathcal{Q}(S_1), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(S_1)}) = (\mathcal{Q}(S_2), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(S_2)}) = (M(bG), \|\cdot\|),$$

that

$$\left\|f + L(S)^{\perp}\right\| = \left\|f + AP(G)^{\perp}\right\| \quad (f \in S)$$

for $S = S_1$ and $S = S_2$, and that neither S_1 nor S_2 has a BSE norm. Indeed, by Theorem 8.7 and the fact that the BSE norm for $L^1(G)$ is equal to the given norm, we have

$$||f||_{\text{BSE},S} = ||f||_1 \quad (f \in S)$$

for $S = S_1$ and $S = S_2$.

9. ℓ^1 -norms on L(A)

In this section, our aim is to compare the spaces $\overline{L(A)}$ and $\ell^1(\Phi_A)$ for a Banach function algebra A, and determine when these two Banach spaces are mutually isometric or isomorphic. Equality of these two spaces is closely related to the equality of the two norms $|\cdot|_{\Phi_A}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{BSE}$, and is connected to the weak separating ball property.

Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then there is a natural contraction

$$\iota: f \mapsto \sum \{ f(\varphi) \, \varphi : (\varphi \in \Phi_A) \} \,, \quad (\ell^1(\Phi_A), \|\cdot\|_1) \to (A', \|\cdot\|) \,,$$

Clearly $\iota(\ell^1(\Phi_A))$ contains L(A) and is contained in L(A), and so $\iota(\ell^1(\Phi_A))$ is a dense subspace of $\overline{L(A)}$. However, the map ι is not always an injection: it may be that there exist a sequence (φ_n) in Φ_A and an element $\alpha = (\alpha_n) \in \ell^1$ such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n \varphi_n = 0$ (with convergence of the sum in A'), but with $\alpha \neq 0$. For example, this occurs in the case where A is the disc algebra $A(\mathbb{D})$. For a discussion of this point, see [27]. Fortunately, the following lemma shows that this difficulty does not arise in the cases of interest to us.

Recall from Corollary 4.4(i) that a Banach function algebra that has a bounded pointwise approximate identity and has the separating ball property is such that every nonzero, maximal modular ideal has a bounded pointwise approximate identity.

LEMMA 9.1. Let A be a Banach function algebra such that M_{φ} is non-zero and has a bounded pointwise approximate identity for each $\varphi \in \Phi_A \cup \{\infty\}$. Take a set $\{\alpha_{\varphi} : \varphi \in \Phi_A\}$ in \mathbb{C} with

$$\sum_{\substack{\{|\alpha_{\varphi}| : \varphi \in \Phi_A\} < \infty \text{ and } \sum_{\{\alpha_{\varphi} \varphi : \varphi \in \Phi_A\} = 0}} \sum_{\substack{\{\alpha_{\varphi} \varphi : \varphi \in \Phi_A\} = 0}} |\varphi| = 0$$

Then $\alpha_{\varphi} = 0 \ (\varphi \in \Phi_A).$

Proof. Assume towards a contradiction that there exists $\varphi_0 \in \Phi_A$ such that $\alpha_{\varphi_0} \neq 0$.

Since both A and M_{φ_0} have bounded pointwise approximate identities, it follows from Proposition 3.6 that there exists an element $M \in A''$ such that $\langle M, \varphi \rangle = \delta_{\varphi,\varphi_0} \ (\varphi \in \Phi_A)$. Then

$$0 = \left\langle \mathbf{M}, \sum_{\varphi \in \Phi_A} \alpha_{\varphi} \varphi \right\rangle = \sum_{\varphi \in \Phi_A} \alpha_{\varphi} \langle \mathbf{M}, \varphi \rangle = \alpha_{\varphi_0},$$

a contradiction. Thus $\alpha_{\varphi} = 0 \ (\varphi \in \Phi_A)$.

It follows that, in the case where A satisfies the conditions of the above lemma, the map $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to A'$ is an injection, and so we can regard $\ell^1(\Phi_A)$ as a subspace of $\overline{L(A)}$. For $\lambda = \iota(f)$, where $f \in \ell^1(\Phi_A)$, we set $\|\lambda\|_1 = \|f\|_1$; in particular, for an element $\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i \varphi_i \in L(A)$, we have $\|\lambda\|_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n |\alpha_i|$.

PROPOSITION 9.2. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and suppose that A is pointwise contractive. Then $||f||_{BSE} \leq 4 |f|_{\Phi_A}$ $(f \in A)$.

Proof. Take $\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \varphi_i \in L(A)$, and take $\varepsilon > 0$. Since A is pointwise contractive, Proposition 3.8(ii) shows that there is $f \in A_{[4]}$ such that $|\alpha_i f(\varphi_i) - |\alpha_i|| < \varepsilon$ $(i \in \mathbb{N}_n)$. Hence

$$\|\lambda\|_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n |\alpha_i| \le |\langle f, \lambda \rangle| + n\varepsilon \le \|f\| \|\lambda\| + n\varepsilon \le 4 \|\lambda\| + n\varepsilon.$$

Thus $\|\lambda\|_1 \leq 4 \|\lambda\|$.

Now take $f \in A$. For each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \varphi_i$ in $L(A)_{[1]}$ such that $|\langle f, \lambda \rangle| > ||f||_{BSE} - \varepsilon$. and then

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{BSE}} \leq \left|\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i} f(\varphi_{i})\right| + \varepsilon \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\alpha_{i}| \, |f|_{\Phi_{A}} + \varepsilon = \|\lambda\|_{1} \, |f|_{\Phi_{A}} + \varepsilon \leq 4 \, |f|_{\Phi_{A}} + \varepsilon$$

and so $||f||_{BSE} \leq 4 |f|_{\Phi_A}$, giving the result.

We can now give our main classification theorem for unital Banach function algebras that have a BSE norm.

THEOREM 9.3. Let A be a unital Banach function algebra with a BSE norm.

(i) Suppose that A is contractive. Then A is equivalent to a Cole algebra.

(ii) Suppose that A is pointwise contractive. Then A is equivalent to a uniform algebra for which each singleton in Φ_A is a one-point part.

Proof. The result is trivial when $|\Phi_A| = 1$ (and then A is a Cole algebra), and so we may suppose that $|\Phi_A| \ge 2$.

In both cases, A is pointwise contractive, and so, by Proposition 9.2, A is equivalent to a uniform algebra.

(i) Since A is contractive, $(A, |\cdot|_{\Phi_A})$ is also contractive, and so it is a Cole algebra by Corollary 4.14.

(ii) Since A is pointwise contractive, $(A, |\cdot|_{\Phi_A})$ is also pointwise contractive, and so each singleton in Φ_A is a one-point part by Proposition 4.21(ii).

It is not true that every contractive or pointwise contractive Banach function algebra is necessarily equivalent to a uniform algebra; this will be shown in Examples 9.11 and 9.12. In this case, of course, the algebras cannot have a BSE norm.

PROPOSITION 9.4. Let A be a self-adjoint Banach function algebra. Then the linear map $\iota: \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is a surjective isometry if and only if $||f||_{BSE} = |f|_{\Phi_A}$ $(f \in A)$.

Proof. The embedding of A into $C_0(\Phi_A)$ is a continuous monomorphism with dense range, and so Theorem 8.2 applies. The result follows because $\overline{L(C_0(\Phi_A))} \cong \ell^1(\Phi_A)$.

PROPOSITION 9.5. Let A be a pointwise contractive, unital uniform algebra. Then the linear map $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is a surjective isometry.

Proof. Consider $\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \varphi_i \in L(A)_{[1]}$, and take $\varepsilon > 0$. By Proposition 3.10, there exists $f \in A_{[1]}$ with $|\alpha_i f(x_i) - |\alpha_i|| < \varepsilon$ $(i \in \mathbb{N}_n)$ and then, as in Proposition 9.2, $\|\lambda\|_1 = \|\lambda\|$. Thus the specified map is a surjective isometry.

COROLLARY 9.6. Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a non-empty, compact space K. Then the following are equivalent:

(a) each singleton in K is a one-point Gleason part;

(b)
$$(\mathcal{Q}(A), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}) = (\ell^{\infty}(K), |\cdot|_{K}).$$

In particular, Q(A) is a uniform algebra in this case.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) By Proposition 4.21(ii), A is pointwise contractive, and so the map $\iota: \ell^1(K) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is a surjective isometry by Proposition 9.5. Thus

$$\iota': \mathcal{Q}(A) = \overline{L(A)}' \to \ell^{\infty}(K)$$

is a surjective isometry. Since $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a subalgebra of $\ell^{\infty}(K)$, (b) follows.

(b) \Rightarrow (a) Take $x, y \in K$ with $x \neq y$. Then there exists $f \in \ell^{\infty}(K)_{[1]}$ with f(x) = 1and f(y) = -1. By (b), $f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)_{[1]}$, and so there exists $F \in A''_{[1]}$ with $F \mid K = f$. This shows that $\|\varepsilon_x - \varepsilon_y\| = 2$, and so $x \not\sim y$. Thus (a) follows.

PROPOSITION 9.7. Let A be a Tauberian Banach sequence algebra on a non-empty set S such that A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Then the following conditions on A are equivalent:

(a) the linear map $\iota: \ell^1(S) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isomorphism;

(b)
$$A = c_0(S)$$
.

Proof. The norm on A is denoted by $\|\cdot\|$.

(a) \Rightarrow (b) There is a constant m > 0 such that $\|\lambda\|_1 \leq m \|\lambda\|$ ($\lambda \in L(A)$). Take $f \in A$. As in the proof of Proposition 9.2, $\|f\|_{BSE} \leq m \|f\|_{\Phi_A}$, and so $\|\cdot\|_{BSE} \sim |\cdot|_S$ on A. By Corollary 5.13(i), A has a BSE norm, and so $\|\cdot\| \sim \|\cdot\|_{BSE}$ on A. Thus $|\cdot|_S$ and $\|\cdot\|$ are equivalent on A. Since A is dense in $c_0(S)$, necessarily $A = c_0(S)$.

(b) \Rightarrow (a) Since $A = c_0(S)$, it follows that $\iota : \ell^1(S) \to A'$ is an isomorphism. As before, $\overline{L(A)} = \ell^1(S)$, and so $A' = \overline{L(A)}$, giving (a).

The following is a further main theorem of this work.

THEOREM 9.8. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then the following conditions on A are equivalent:

- (a) the linear map $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isometric surjection;
- (b) A has the weak separating ball property and $||f||_{BSE} = |f|_{\Phi_A}$ $(f \in A)$;
- (c) A is pointwise contractive and $||f||_{BSE} = |f|_{\Phi_A}$ $(f \in A)$.

In the case where $|\Phi_A| \ge 2$, the above conditions are also equivalent to:

(d) for each $\varphi \in \Phi_A$, the maximal modular ideal M_{φ} has norm-one characters and $\|f\|_{BSE} = |f|_{\Phi_A}$ $(f \in A)$.

Proof. Take B to be the uniform closure of A in $C_0(\Phi_A)$, so that B is a natural uniform algebra on Φ_A . Then the embedding of A into B is a continuous monomorphism with dense range.

(a) \Rightarrow (c) Take $\varphi \in \Phi_A \cup \{\infty\}$, and consider the corresponding ideal M_{φ} in A.

Define $F_{\varphi} \in \ell^{\infty}(\Phi_A) \cong \ell^1(\Phi_A)'$ to be the characteristic function of $\Phi_A \setminus \{\varphi\}$, so that $\|F_{\varphi}\|_{\infty} = 1$. Then, as a continuous linear functional on $(L(A), \|\cdot\|)$, we have $\|F_{\varphi}\| = 1$ because $\overline{L(A)} \cong \ell^1(\Phi_A)$. Extend F_{φ} to be an element F_{φ} of A'' with $\|F_{\varphi}\| = 1$. Then

there is a net (f_{ν}) in $A_{[1]}$ that converges weak-* to F_{φ} , and we may suppose that (f_{ν}) is in $(M_{\varphi})_{[1]}$. Clearly (f_{ν}) is a CPAI in M_{φ} , and hence A is pointwise contractive.

Take $f \in A$. Then

 $\|f\|_{\mathrm{BSE}} = \sup\{|\langle f, \lambda\rangle| : \lambda \in L(A)_{[1]}\} = \sup\{|\langle f, \lambda\rangle| : \lambda \in \ell^{1}(\Phi_{A})_{[1]}\} = |f|_{\Phi_{A}},$

as required.

(c) \Rightarrow (b) This is immediate.

(b) \Rightarrow (a) Since A has the weak separating ball property, B also has the weak separating ball property, and so B is pointwise contractive by Corollary 4.20. By Proposition 9.5, $(\overline{L(B)}, \|\cdot\|) \cong (\ell^1(\Phi_A), \|\cdot\|_1)$.

For each $f \in A$, we have $||f||_{\text{BSE},A} = |f|_{\Phi_A}$ by hypothesis, and $||f||_{\text{BSE},B} = |f|_{\Phi_A}$, and so $||f||_{\text{BSE},A} = ||f||_{\text{BSE},B}$. It follows from Theorem 8.2 that $\overline{L(B)} \cong \overline{L(A)}$, and so $(\overline{L(A)}, \|\cdot\|) \cong (\ell^1(\Phi_A), \|\cdot\|_1)$, giving (a).

Now suppose that $|\Phi_A| \ge 2$. Then (b) \Leftrightarrow (d) by Proposition 4.7.

Example 9.11, to be given below, will show that a Banach function algebra M such that map $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_M) \to \overline{L(M)}$ is an isometric surjection is not necessarily equivalent to a uniform algebra.

The following is the isomorphic analogue of the above theorem.

THEOREM 9.9. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Then the following conditions on A are equivalent:

(a) the linear map $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isomorphism;

(b) $\|\cdot\|_{BSE} \sim |\cdot|_{\Phi_A}$ on A and A and each non-zero maximal modular ideal of A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity.

Proof. (a) \Rightarrow (b) This is essentially the same argument as that contained in the proof of Theorem 9.8, (a) \Rightarrow (c).

(b) \Rightarrow (a) This implication is trivial when $A = (\mathbb{C}, |\cdot|)$, and so we may suppose that $|\Phi_A| \geq 2$. By Lemma 9.1, the map ι is an injection. Since $\|\cdot\|_{BSE} \sim |\cdot|_{\Phi_A}$, there is a constant $\beta > 0$ such that $\|f\|_{BSE} \leq 1$ whenever $f \in A$ with $|f|_{\Phi_A} \leq \beta$. It follows from equation (5.4) that $\|\iota(\lambda)\| \geq \beta \|\lambda\|_1$ ($\lambda \in L(A)$), and so $\|\iota(f)\| \geq \beta \|f\|_1$ ($f \in \ell^1(\Phi_A)$) because L(A) is dense in $\ell^1(\Phi_A)$. This implies clause (a).

The next theorem concerns the question when $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra on its character space $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$.

THEOREM 9.10. Let A be a Banach function algebra.

(i) Suppose that the linear map $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isometric surjection. Then $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = \beta K_d$, where $K = \Phi_A$.

(ii) Suppose that A is dense in the uniform algebra $(C_0(\Phi_A), |\cdot|_{\Phi_A})$ and that $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. Then the linear map $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isometric surjection.

Proof. (i) As in Corollary 9.6, $(\mathcal{Q}(A), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}) = (\ell^{\infty}(K), |\cdot|_{K})$, and so $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is identified with the uniform algebra $C(\beta K_d)$.

(ii) Since $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, necessarily

 $\| [f] \|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = |f|_{\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}} \quad (f \in \mathcal{Q}(A)) \,.$

Take $f \in A$. By equation (6.3), $|f|_{\Phi_{Q(A)}} = |f|_{\Phi_A}$. Also $||f||_{BSE} = ||[f]||_{Q(A)}$. Hence $||f||_{BSE} = |f|_{\Phi_A}$.

Now take $\lambda \in L(A)$. It again follows from equation (5.4) that

 $\|\lambda\| = \sup\{|\langle f, \, \lambda\rangle| : f \in A, \, |f|_{\Phi_A} \le 1\}\,.$

Since A is dense in $C_0(\Phi_A)$, the set $\{f \in A : |f|_{\Phi_A} \leq 1\}$ is dense in $C_0(\Phi_A)_{[1]}$, and so

$$\|\lambda\| = \sup\{|\langle f, \lambda\rangle| : f \in C_0(\Phi_A)_{[1]}\}.$$

This implies that $\|\lambda\| = \|\lambda\|_1$, and hence that $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isometric surjection.

Let $A = A(\overline{\mathbb{D}})$ be the disc algebra. By Example 7.5, $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra on $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. However, it is not true that each point of $\Phi_A = \overline{\mathbb{D}}$ is a one-point part, and so, by Proposition 4.21(ii), A is not pointwise contractive. By Theorem 9.8, (c) \Rightarrow (a), it is also not true that $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isometric surjection. It follows that we cannot delete the hypothesis that A be dense in the space $(C_0(\Phi_A), |\cdot|_{\Phi_A})$ in clause (ii) of Theorem 9.10.

Suppose that A is a natural uniform algebra on a compact space K such that each singleton in K is a one-point part. Then $\iota : \ell^1(\Phi_A) \to \overline{L(A)}$ is an isometric surjection by Theorem 9.5 and $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a uniform algebra by Corollary 9.6. However we noted on page 23 that there are Cole algebras A that are not equal to C(K) (and hence not dense in C(K)). Thus the converse to Theorem 9.10(ii) does not hold.

In the following example, we shall exhibit a Banach function algebra M that is not equivalent to a uniform algebra, but is such that $\mathcal{Q}(M)$ is a uniform algebra; the algebra M does not have a BSE norm.

EXAMPLE 9.11. Let A be the example constructed in [18, Example 5.1] and expounded in [19]. Briefly, A consists of the functions $f \in C(\mathbb{I})$ such that

$$I(f) := \int_0^1 \frac{|f(t) - f(0)|}{t} \, \mathrm{d}t < \infty;$$

we define

$$||f|| = |f|_{\mathbb{I}} + I(f) \quad (f \in A)$$

Then $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ is a natural, self-adjoint, unital Banach function algebra on \mathbb{I} . The algebra A is a dense, proper subalgebra of $C(\mathbb{I})$, and so A is not equivalent to a uniform algebra. Set

$$M = \{ f \in A : f(0) = 0 \}.$$

Then the maximal ideal M of A does not have a bounded approximate identity, but it does have a contractive pointwise approximate identity; indeed, it is noted in [18, Example 5.1] that A is pointwise contractive. As in Theorem 8.4, M has norm-one characters.

This example A of a unital Banach function algebra that is pointwise contractive, but not equivalent to a uniform algebra, shows that the requirement in Theorem 9.3 that Ahave a BSE norm cannot be dropped for the proof of clause (ii).

Set K = (0, 1] and $C_0 = C_0(K)$, so that C_0 has a contractive approximate identity. Then M is a Segal algebra with respect to C_0 , and so, by Theorem 8.7, (a) \Rightarrow (c),

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{BSE},M} = |f|_{\mathbb{I}} \quad (f \in M) \,,$$

which shows that M does not have a BSE norm. Further, by Theorem 8.8, we have

$$\overline{L(M)} = \overline{L(C_0)} = \ell^1(K) \text{ and } (\mathcal{Q}(M), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(M)} = (C(\beta K_d), |\cdot|_{\beta K_d}).$$

Also $\mathcal{Q}(A) = C(\beta \mathbb{I}_d)$, and so $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ and $\mathcal{Q}(M)$ are isometrically isomorphic as Banach algebras.

The Banach function algebra M is such that $\mathcal{Q}(M)$ is a uniform algebra, but M itself is not equivalent to a uniform algebra.

EXAMPLE 9.12. Let A be the example constructed in [18, Example 5.2]. The algebra A is a natural, unital Banach function algebra on the circle \mathbb{T} such that A is dense in $(C(\mathbb{T}), |\cdot|_{\mathbb{T}})$, but A is not equivalent to the uniform algebra $(C(\mathbb{T}), |\cdot|_{\mathbb{T}})$. It is shown that A is contractive. For this example, $||f||_{\text{BSE}} \leq 4 |f|_{\mathbb{T}}$ $(f \in A)$ by Proposition 9.2, and so A does not have a BSE norm. (In fact, $||f||_{\text{BSE}} = |f|_{\mathbb{T}}$ $(f \in A)$.)

This example A of a unital Banach function algebra that is contractive, but not equivalent to a uniform algebra, shows that the requirement in Theorem 9.3 that A have a BSE norm cannot be dropped for the proof of clause (i).

10. Embedding multiplier algebras

Our aim in this section is to show that, for each Banach function algebra A that has a contractive pointwise approximate identity and whose norm is equal to its BSE norm, the multiplier algebra of A embeds isometrically into the unital Banach function algebra $Q(A) = A''/L(A)^{\perp}$.

Let $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ be a natural Banach function algebra on a locally compact space K, with multiplier algebra $\mathcal{M}(A)$, as on page 11, so that

$$\mathcal{M}(A) = \{ f \in C^{b}(K) : fA \subset A \},\$$

and

$$|f|_K \le ||f||_{\text{op}} \le ||f|| \quad (f \in A).$$
 (10.1)

For example, $\mathcal{M}(c_0) = \ell^{\infty} = C(\beta \mathbb{N}).$

For a general algebra A, there is also a definition of left multipliers on A and of the multiplier algebra, $\mathcal{M}(A)$; see [12, §1.4], for example. In the case where A is a Banach algebra with a contractive approximate identity, it is proved in [12, Theorem 2.9.49] that there is a specific isometric algebra embedding θ of $\mathcal{M}(A)$ into (A'', \diamond) .

Now let A be a Banach function algebra with a contractive approximate identity. Then it follows easily that, in the case where $||f||_{BSE} = ||f||$ $(f \in A)$, the above map θ gives an isometric algebra embedding of $\mathcal{M}(A)$ into $\mathcal{Q}(A)$. The theorem below gives the same conclusion when A has just a contractive pointwise approximate identity, rather than a contractive approximate identity.

Let A be a Banach function algebra, and take $T \in \mathcal{M}(A)$. Then

$$T''(\mathbf{M} \Box \mathbf{N}) = T''(\mathbf{M}) \Box \mathbf{N} \quad (\mathbf{M}, \mathbf{N} \in A'').$$

$$(10.2)$$

Suppose that A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity, say (e_{α}) , and let $T = L_f \in \mathcal{M}(A)$. Then

$$\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} (Te_{\alpha})(\varphi) = f(\varphi) \quad (\varphi \in \Phi_A).$$
(10.3)

Take E and F to be weak-* accumulation points of (e_{α}) in $A''_{[1]}$. Then (10.3) shows that $T''(E) - T''(F) \in \Phi_A^{\perp}$, and hence [T''(E)] = [T''(F)] in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$. Thus the map θ in the following theorem does not depend on the choice of E.

THEOREM 10.1. Let A be a Banach function algebra such that $||f||_{BSE} = ||f||$ $(f \in A)$. Suppose that A has a contractive pointwise approximate identity with a weak-* accumulation point E in A". Then the map

$$\theta: T \mapsto [T''(\mathbf{E})], \quad (\mathcal{M}(A), \|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{op}}) \to (\mathcal{Q}(A), \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}),$$

is an isometric algebra embedding.

Proof. It is clear that θ is a linear map. Take $T \in \mathcal{M}(A)$. Since $E \in A_{[1]}''$, it follows that $\|\theta(T)\|_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} \leq \|T\|_{\text{op}}$, and so θ is a contraction.

Take $S, T \in \mathcal{M}(A)$, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. First note that

$$\langle fg, S'(\varphi) \rangle = \langle f, \varphi \rangle \langle g, S'(\varphi) \rangle \quad (f, g \in A).$$

Thus $\langle f \cdot T''(\mathbf{E}), S'(\varphi) \rangle = \langle f, \varphi \rangle \langle T''(\mathbf{E}), S'(\varphi) \rangle$ $(f \in A)$, and hence $\langle S''(\mathbf{E} \Box T''(\mathbf{E})), \varphi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{E} \Box T''(\mathbf{E}), S'(\varphi) \rangle = \langle T''(\mathbf{E}), S'(\varphi) \rangle = \langle (S'' \circ T'')(\mathbf{E}), \varphi \rangle.$ It follows that

$$\langle (S \circ T)''(\mathbf{E}), \varphi \rangle = \langle (S'' \circ T'')(\mathbf{E}), \varphi \rangle = \langle S''(\mathbf{E} \Box T''(\mathbf{E})), \varphi \rangle = \langle S''(\mathbf{E}) \Box T''(\mathbf{E}), \varphi \rangle \quad \text{by (10.2)},$$

and so $(S \circ T)''(E) - S''(E) \Box T''(E) \in L(A)^{\perp}$. This shows that $[(S \circ T)''(E)] = [S''(E)][T''(E)]$

in $\mathcal{Q}(A)$. Hence $\theta : \mathcal{M}(A) \to \mathcal{Q}(A)$ is an algebra homomorphism.

Now take a multiplier $T \in \mathcal{M}(A)$. For each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $f \in A_{[1]}$ such that $\|Tf\| > \|T\|_{\text{op}} - \varepsilon$. Since $\|Tf\|_{\text{BSE}} = \|Tf\|$, there also exists $\lambda \in L(A)_{[1]}$ such that $|\langle Tf, \lambda \rangle| > \|T\|_{\text{op}} - \varepsilon$. Now

$$|\langle Tf, \lambda \rangle| = |\langle \mathbf{E} \cdot Tf, \lambda \rangle| = |\langle T''(\mathbf{E}) \cdot f, \lambda \rangle| = |\langle T''(\mathbf{E}), f \cdot \lambda \rangle|.$$

Since $f \cdot \lambda \in L(A)_{[1]}$, it follows that $|\langle Tf, \lambda \rangle| \leq ||[T''(\mathbf{E})]||_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and this implies that $||T||_{\mathrm{op}} \leq ||[T''(\mathbf{E})]||_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} + \varepsilon$. Thus $||T||_{\mathrm{op}} \leq ||[T''(\mathbf{E})]||_{\mathcal{Q}(A)} = ||\theta(T)||_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and so the map θ is an isometry.

EXAMPLE 10.2. In general, the above map θ is not a surjection.

For example, suppose that $A = \lim_{\alpha} \mathbb{I}$, as in Example 7.2, so that $\mathcal{Q}(A) = A'' = \operatorname{Lip}_{\alpha} \mathbb{I}$. Then $\mathcal{M}(A) = A$ because A is unital, and so the range of θ is $A \subsetneq \mathcal{Q}(A)$.

Again, let $A = L^1(G)$ for a locally compact abelian group G. Then $\mathcal{M}(A) = \mathcal{M}(G)$ and $\mathcal{Q}(A) = \mathcal{M}(bG)$, as in Example 7.9. Clearly, $\mathcal{M}(G)$ embeds isometrically into $\mathcal{M}(bG)$, but the embedding is rarely a surjection.

EXAMPLE 10.3. Let M be the Segal algebra mentioned in Example 9.11. Then it is easy to see that $\mathcal{M}(M) = C^{b}((0,1])$, and so $\mathcal{M}(M)$ embeds isometrically and algebraically in $\ell^{\infty}((0,1]) = \mathcal{Q}(M)$.

PROPOSITION 10.4. Let A be a Banach function algebra that is an ideal in its bidual and that has a contractive pointwise approximate identity. Then $Q(A) = \mathcal{M}(A)$.

Proof. By Corollary 5.13(ii), $||f||_{BSE} = ||f||$ $(f \in A)$, and so, by Theorem 10.1, the map $\theta: T \mapsto [T''(E)], \ \mathcal{M}(A) \to \mathcal{Q}(A)$, is an isometric algebra embedding.

Take $M \in A''$. Then the map $R_M : f \mapsto f \cdot M$, $A \to A$, is a multiplier on A because A is an ideal in A'', and $\theta(R_M) = [M]$. Hence the map $\theta : \mathcal{M}(A) \to \mathcal{Q}(A)$ is a surjection.

EXAMPLE 10.5. Let A be a Banach function algebra with a contractive approximate identity such that A is an ideal in A''. Then $\overline{L(A)} = A \cdot A'$ by Corollary 5.3. In the case where A is also Arens regular, AA' = A' by [56, Corollary 3.2], and so $\overline{L(A)} = A'$ and hence $L(A)^{\perp} = \{0\}$. Thus Q(A) = A''. By Proposition 10.4, $\mathcal{M}(A) = Q(A)$. Hence $\Phi_{Q(A)} = \Phi_A \cup H$, where H is the hull of A considered as an ideal in $\mathcal{M}(A)$.

For example, let $A = c_0 \widehat{\otimes} c_0$. Then the algebra A satisfies the specified conditions, and so $\mathcal{Q}(A) = \mathcal{M}(A) = A''$. Indeed, A is a Tauberian Banach sequence algebra, and

so A is an ideal in A''; further, A has a bounded approximate identity, and A is Arens regular by [55, Corollary 4.17(a)].

EXAMPLE 10.6. Let G be a locally compact abelian group that is neither discrete nor compact, and let S be either of the Segal algebras S_1 or S_2 that were considered in Example 8.10(ii). Then, as we have seen in Corollary 8.9, S does not have a BSE norm, but $\mathcal{Q}(S) = \mathcal{Q}(L^1(G)) = M(bG)$. By [28], $\mathcal{M}(S) = M(G)$. As M(G) embeds in M(bG), we see that $\mathcal{M}(S)$ embeds into $\mathcal{Q}(S)$, although S does not have a bounded approximate identity.

11. Reflexive ideals and weakly compact homomorphisms

In this final section, we shall consider when Banach function algebras contain non-trivial, closed ideals that are reflexive as Banach spaces and also when there are non-zero, weakly compact homomorphisms between two Banach function algebras; our proofs use notions that are given above.

11.1. Reflexive ideals. We first consider the consequences of assumptions that certain closed ideals in and quotients of a Banach function algebra are reflexive.

DEFINITION 11.1. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and let I be a non-zero, closed ideal in A. Then I is *reflexive* if I is reflexive as a Banach space.

Suppose that A is a Banach function algebra and that S is a finite set of isolated points in Φ_A . Then the closed ideal $I(\Phi_A \setminus S)$ is a finite-dimensional Banach space, and hence reflexive. However it is not true that all reflexive ideals in a Banach function algebra are finite dimensional. Indeed, [18, Example 3.3] exhibits an infinite-dimensional, unital, Banach function algebra A that is reflexive as a Banach space and is such that Φ_A is connected. Thus A has many non-trivial reflexive ideals, although Φ_A has no isolated points and no non-zero, finite-dimensional, closed ideals.

Let A be a regular Banach function algebra, and suppose that I is a reflexive ideal. Then it follows from (2.6) that $\overline{J(h(I))}$ is also reflexive, and so we concentrate on closed ideals of this latter form.

DEFINITION 11.2. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. Then A has the strong separating ball property at φ if, for each neighbourhood U of φ in Φ_A , there exists $f \in A_{[1]}$ with $f(\varphi) = 1$ and supp $f \subset U$. The algebra A has the strong separating ball property if it has the strong separating ball property at φ for each $\varphi \in \Phi_A$.

EXAMPLES 11.3. (i) Let K be a non-empty, locally compact space. Then $C_0(K)$ has the strong separating ball property.

(ii) Let Γ be a locally compact group. The Figà-Talamanca–Herz algebras $A_p(\Gamma)$ were mentioned in Example 7.12. We *claim* that each Banach function algebra $A_p(\Gamma)$ has the strong separating ball property; in particular, the Fourier algebra $A(\Gamma)$ has this property.

Indeed, take $x \in \Gamma$ and $U \in \mathcal{N}_x$. There is a symmetric, open, relatively compact neighbourhood V of e_{Γ} such that $xV^2 \subset U$, say $\alpha = 1/m_{\Gamma}(V)$. Set $f = \alpha^{1/p}\chi_{xV}$ and $g = \alpha^{1/q}\chi_V$, where q = p'. Then $||f||_p = ||g||_q = 1$. Set $u = f \star g$, so that $u \in A_p(\Gamma)_{[1]}$. Clearly

$$u(x) = \alpha^{1/p+1/q} \int_V \chi_{xV}(xy) \,\mathrm{d}m_\Gamma(y) = \alpha \cdot (1/\alpha) = 1$$

and supp $u \subset xV^2 \subset U$. Hence $A_p(\Gamma)$ has the strong separating ball property.

THEOREM 11.4. Let A be a Banach function algebra with the strong separating ball property, and take a proper, closed subset S of Φ_A . Suppose that $\overline{J(S)}$ is a reflexive ideal in A. Then the space $\Phi_A \setminus S$ is discrete. *Proof.* Take $\varphi \in \Phi_A \setminus S$, and consider the set

$$K_{\varphi} = \{ f \in \overline{J(S)}_{[1]} : f(\varphi) = 1 \} \,.$$

Since A has the strong separating ball property at φ , the set K_{φ} is non-empty, and clearly it is convex. Since $\overline{J(S)}$ is reflexive, the set K_{φ} is weakly compact in A. For $g \in K_{\varphi}$, the maps $L_g: f \mapsto gf$, $K_{\varphi} \to K_{\varphi}$, form a commuting family of continuous, affine maps, and so, again by Theorem 2.4, the family has a fixed point, say $h \in A$. Thus $h(\varphi) = 1$ and gh = h for each $g \in K_{\varphi}$

For each $\psi \in \Phi_A \setminus S$ with $\psi \neq \varphi$, there exists $g \in K_{\varphi}$ with $g(\psi) = 0$. This implies that $h(\psi) = g(\psi)h(\psi) = 0$, and so h is the characteristic function of $\{\varphi\}$. It follows that φ is isolated in Φ_A , and so $\Phi_A \setminus S$ is discrete.

Since there are reflexive Banach function algebras that have connected character space, we cannot delete the hypothesis that A have the strong separating ball property in the above theorem.

COROLLARY 11.5. Let Γ be a locally compact group, and take p with $1 . Then <math>A_p(\Gamma)$ contains a non-zero, reflexive closed ideal if and only if Γ is discrete.

Proof. Set $A = A_p(\Gamma)$.

As noted above, A has many reflexive closed ideals when Γ is discrete.

Conversely, suppose that A contains a non-zero, reflexive closed ideal I. Set S = h(I), so that S is a proper, closed subset of $\Gamma = \Phi_A$. Since A is regular, $\overline{J(S)} \subset I$, and so the ideal $\overline{J(S)}$ is reflexive. Since A has the strong separating ball property, it follows from Theorem 11.4 that each point in $\Gamma \setminus S$ is isolated in Γ . Since Γ is a group, each point of Γ is isolated, and so Γ is discrete. \blacksquare

Let E be a Banach space that is weakly sequentially complete. By Rosenthal's ℓ^1 theorem [1, Corollary 10.2.2], either E is reflexive or it contains an isomorphic copy of ℓ^1 . The Fourier algebra $A(\Gamma) = A_2(\Gamma)$ is weakly sequentially complete, being the predual of a von Neumann algebra, and so we have the following result.

COROLLARY 11.6. Let Γ be a non-discrete, locally compact group. Then every non-zero, closed ideal of $A(\Gamma)$ contains an isomorphic copy of ℓ^1 .

In the case where G is abelian and non-compact, the above corollary (for the algebra $A = L^{1}(G)$) was obtained by Rosenthal in his seminal memoir [46, Theorem 2.12 and Corollary 2.13] as a consequence of more general results.

THEOREM 11.7. Let A be a Banach function algebra with the separating ball property such that Φ_A is weakly closed in A'. Suppose that I is a proper closed ideal in A such that A/I is reflexive. Then h(I) is finite.

Proof. Since A/I is reflexive, the space $I^{\perp} \cong (A/I)'$ is a reflexive subspace of A', and h(I) is a subset of I^{\perp} . Since A has the separating ball property, it follows from Theorem 4.3(ii) that Φ_A is weakly discrete, and so h(I) is relatively weakly compact as a subset of $(I^{\perp})_{[1]}$. Since Φ_A is weakly closed, the weak closure of h(I) in A' is contained in the discrete space Φ_A , and hence h(I) is finite.

COROLLARY 11.8. Let Γ be a locally compact, amenable group, and take p such that 1 . Suppose that <math>I is a proper closed ideal in $A_p(\Gamma)$ such that $A_p(\Gamma)/I$ is reflexive. Then h(I) is finite.

Proof. Set $A = A_p(\Gamma)$. As we remarked in Example 7.12, $\Phi_A = \Gamma$ is weakly closed in A' whenever Γ is amenable. By Example 11.3(ii), A has the strong separating ball property, and so the result follows from Theorem 11.7.

The above corollary does not hold for an arbitrary locally compact group Γ . Indeed, let Γ be a locally compact group that contains \mathbb{F}_2 as a closed subgroup (so that Γ is not amenable). Then $A_p(\mathbb{F}_2)$ is a quotient of $A_p(\Gamma)$ by a result of Herz (see [22, Theorem 5 of §7.8]). The space \mathbb{F}_2 contains an infinite so-called Leinert set, say S. It follows from clause (b) of the proof of [6, Proposition 1] that, for 1 , the restriction map

$$R: A_p(\Gamma) \to \ell^{\infty}(S)$$

is such that $||R(f)||_q \leq C_p ||f||_{A_p(\Gamma)}$ $(f \in A_p(\Gamma))$, where q = p'. That is, the map $R : A_p(\Gamma) \to \ell^q(S)$ is a bounded linear surjection. Let $I = \ker R$, a closed ideal in $A_p(\Gamma)$. Then I is such that the quotient $A_p(\Gamma)/I$ is a reflexive space, but h(I) is infinite. Since $A_p(\Gamma)$ is isometrically isomorphic to $A_q(\Gamma)$ for each locally compact group Γ , it follows that, whenever Γ contains \mathbb{F}_2 as a closed subgroup, the algebra $A_p(\Gamma)$ contains a reflexive ideal I such that h(I) is infinite. Thus, we cannot omit the word 'amenable' in the hypotheses of Corollary 11.8.

The above remark, in the case where p = 2, is essentially contained in [57, p. 362].

11.2. Weakly compact homomorphisms. We now consider *weakly compact homomorphisms* between two Banach function algebras; these are algebra homomorphisms that are weakly compact as bounded linear operators. There are many papers in the literature on weakly compact homomorphisms between Banach algebras; for example, see [29, 36].

THEOREM 11.9. Let A and B be Banach function algebras. Suppose that A has normone characters and that the only idempotent in B is zero. Then the only weakly compact homomorphism from A into B is the zero homomorphism.

Proof. Assume towards a contradiction that $\theta : A \to B$ is a non-zero, weakly compact homomorphism. Then $\theta' \mid \Phi_B : \Phi_B \to \Phi_A \cup \{0\}$ is a continuous map, and there exists $\psi_0 \in \Phi_B$ such that $\varphi_0 := \theta'(\psi_0) \in \Phi_A$ because $\theta \neq 0$. By hypothesis, $\|\varphi_0\| = 1$, and so, by Proposition 6.7, there is an idempotent $u \in \mathcal{Q}(A)_{[1]}$ with $u(\varphi_0) = 1$.

Since θ is weakly compact, the range of the map $\theta'' : A'' \to B''$ is contained in B. Take $\mathbf{M} \in L(A)^{\perp}$. For each $\psi \in \Phi_B$, we have $\langle \theta''(\mathbf{M}), \psi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{M}, \theta'(\psi) \rangle = 0$, and so $\theta''(\mathbf{M}) = 0$ in B. Thus the map

$$\widetilde{\theta} : [\mathbf{M}] \mapsto \theta''(\mathbf{M}), \quad \mathcal{Q}(A) \to B,$$

is well defined; clearly, $\widetilde{\theta}$ is a continuous homomorphism.

Set $g = \tilde{\theta}(u) \in B$. Then g is an idempotent in B, and so g = 0. However we have $g(\psi_0) = u(\phi_0) = 1$, the required contradiction.

Thus the only weakly compact homomorphism from A into B is the zero homomorphism. \blacksquare

COROLLARY 11.10. Let A be a Banach function algebra such that A has norm-one characters, and let $B = A(\Gamma)$, where Γ is a locally compact group that is connected and non-compact. Then the only weakly compact homomorphism from A into B is the zero homomorphism.

12. Open questions

We conclude with a list of some questions that we have not resolved.

- 1. Let A be a unital uniform algebra. Is every subset P of Φ_A that is a Gleason part with respect to A also a Gleason part with respect to A'' when it is regarded as a subset of $\Phi_{A''}$? In particular, is this true when the part P is a singleton?
- 2. Let $(A, \|\cdot\|)$ be a Banach function algebra such that $\inf\{\|\varphi\| : \varphi \in \Phi_A\} > 0$. Is there a norm $|||\cdot|||$ on A that is equivalent to $\|\cdot\|$ and such that $(A, |||\cdot|||)$ is a Banach function algebra and $|||\varphi||| = 1$ for each $\varphi \in \Phi_A$?
- 3. Let A be a Banach function algebra. Since the only possible weak-* accumulation point of Φ_A in A' is 0, the set Φ_A is weakly closed in A' whenever there exists $M \in A''$ such that $\inf\{|\langle M, \varphi \rangle| : \varphi \in \Phi_A\} > 0$. Is the converse always true?
- 4. Let A be a Banach function algebra, and take $\varphi \in \Phi_A$. We know from Proposition 6.11(ii) that φ is weakly isolated in Φ_A whenever φ is an isolated point when regarded as an element of $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$. Is the converse always true?
- 5. Let A be a Banach function algebra. We know from Proposition 6.17 that Φ_A is weakly closed in A' whenever A has a bounded pointwise approximate identity. Is the converse always true?
- 6. Let A be a natural uniform algebra on a compact space K. We do not know whether each point x that is isolated in (K, d_A) is also isolated in $\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}$, and so, by Corollary 6.13, we do not know whether the corresponding maximal ideal M_x always has a bounded pointwise approximate identity.
- 7. Is there a Banach function algebra A that does not have a bounded pointwise approximate identity, but is such that the norms $\|\cdot\|_{op}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{BSE}$ are equivalent on A?
- 8. Let A be a Banach function algebra that is an ideal in its bidual and is such that $||f||_{BSE} = ||f||_{op}$ $(f \in A)$. Does A necessarily have a contractive pointwise approximate identity?
- 9. In Example 7.5, we identified $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ in the case where A is the disc algebra. It is likely that similar, but more complicated, arguments will identify $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ for more general unital uniform algebras, such as the tight uniform algebras of [11].
- 10. Let Γ be a locally compact group. In Example 7.10, we identified $\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma))$ in certain cases. Can these results be extended to more general groups?
- 11. Let ω be a weight on the group $(\mathbb{Z}, +)$ such that

$$\inf\{\omega_n^{1/n} : n \in \mathbb{N}\} = \sup\{\omega_{-n}^{-1/n} : n \in \mathbb{N}\} = 1,$$

with corresponding Beurling algebra A_{ω} . In Example 7.11, we showed that we have $\mathcal{Q}(A_{\omega}) = A_{\omega}$ for many weights ω . Is this true for all such weights ω ?

12. Let Γ be a locally compact group, and take p with 1 . We do not have $any identification of <math>\mathcal{Q}(A_p(\Gamma))$ for groups that are not both discrete and amenable, save in the case where p = 2.

References

- F. Albiac and N. J. Kalton, *Topics in Banach Space Theory*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 233, Springer, New York, 2006.
- [2] T. Ando, On the predual of H^{∞} , Comment. Math., Special Issue 1 (1978), 33–40.
- [3] R. F. Basener, On rationally convex hulls, Trans. American Math. Soc 182 (1973), 353–381.
- [4] E. Bédos, On the C*-algebra generated by the left regular representations of a locally compact group, Proc. American Math. Soc. 120 (1994), 603–608.
- [5] M. B. Bekka, E. Kaniuth, A. T.-M. Lau, and G. Schlichting, On C^{*}-algebras associated with locally compact groups, Proc. American Math. Soc. 124 (1996), 3151–3158.
- [6] M. Bożejko, Remark on Herz-Schur multipliers on free groups, Math. Ann. 258 (1981/82), 11–15.
- [7] A Browder, Introduction to Function Algebras, Benjamin, New York, NY, 1969.
- [8] C. Chou and G. Xu, The weak closure of the set of left translation operators, Proc. American Math. Soc. 127 (1999), 465–471.
- R. Clouâtre and K. Davidson, Duality, convexity and peak interpolation in the Drury-Arveson space, Advances in Math. 295 (2016), 90–149.
- [10] B. J. Cole, One point parts and the peak point conjecture, Ph.D. Thesis, Yale University, 1968.
- B. J. Cole and T. W. Gamelin, *Tight uniform algebras and algebras of analytic functions*, J. Functional Analysis 46 (1982), 158–220.
- [12] H. G. Dales, Banach Algebras and Automatic Continuity, London Mathematical Society Monographs, Volume 24, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 2000.
- [13] H. G. Dales, F. K. Dashiell, Jr., A. T.-M. Lau, and D. Strauss, Banach Spaces of Continuous Functions as Dual Spaces, CMS Books in Mathematics/Ouvrages de Mathématiques de la SMC, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2016.
- [14] H. G. Dales and J. F. Feinstein, Banach function algebras with dense invertible group, Proc. American Math. Soc. 136 (2008), 1295–1304.
- [15] H. G. Dales, J. F. Feinstein, and P. Gorkin, Uniform algebras as BSE algebras, in preparation.
- [16] H. G. Dales and A. T.-M. Lau, *The second duals of Beurling algebras*, Memoirs American Math. Soc. 177 (2005), pp. 191.
- [17] H. G. Dales, A. T.-M. Lau, and D. Strauss, Banach algebras on semigroups and on their compactifications, Memoirs American Math. Soc. 205 (2010), pp. 165.
- [18] H. G. Dales and A. Ulger, Approximate identities in Banach function algebras, Studia Math. 226 (2015), 155–187.
- [19] H. G. Dales and A. Ülger, Banach Function Algebras, BSE Norms, and Arens Regularity, in preparation.
- [20] M. Daws, H. P. Pham, and S. White, Conditions implying the uniqueness of the weak *-topology on certain group algebras, Houston J. Math. 35 (2009), 253–276.
- M. Daws, R. Haydon, T. Schlumprecht, and S. White, Shift invariant preduals of ℓ¹(Z) Israel J. Math. 192 (2012), 541–585.
- [22] A. Derighetti, Convolution Operators on Groups, Lecture Notes of the Unione Matematica Italiana, Volume 11, Springer, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [23] N. Dunford and J. T. Schwartz, *Linear Operators, Part I: General Theory*, Interscience Publishers, New York, 1957.
- [24] P. Eymard, L'algèbre de Fourier d'un groupe localement compact, Bull. Soc. Math. France

92 (1964), 181–236.

- [25] J. F. Feinstein, A non-trivial, strongly regular uniform algebra, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 45 (1992), 288–300.
- [26] J. F. Feinstein, Regularity conditions for Banach function algebras. Function spaces (Edwardsville, Il, 1994), Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math. 172, Dekker, New York, 1995, pp. 117–122.
- [27] J. F. Feinstein, Countable linear combinations of characters on commutative Banach algebras, Contemporary Math. 435 (2007), 153–157.
- [28] A. Figà-Talamanca and G. I. Gaudry, Multipliers and sets of uniqueness of L^p, Michigan Math. Journal, 17 (1970), 179–191.
- [29] J. E. Gale, T. J. Ransford, and M. C. White, Weakly compact homomorphisms, Trans. American Math. Soc. 331 (1992), 815–824.
- [30] J. B. Garnett, Bounded Analytic Functions, Academic Press, San Diego, 1981.
- [31] T. W. Gamelin, Uniform Algebras, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1969.
- [32] S. N. Ghosh and A. J. Izzo, in preparation.
- [33] C. S. Herz, Harmonic synthesis for subgroups, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 23 (1973), 91–123.
- [34] K. Hoffman, Banach spaces of analytic functions, Prentice–Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New York, 1962
- [35] J. Inoue and S.-E. Takahasi, Constructions of bounded weak approximate identities for Segal algebras on LCA groups, Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 66 (2000), 257–271.
- [36] B. E. Johnson, Weakly compact homomorphisms between Banach algebras, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 112 (1992), 157–163.
- [37] C. A. Jones and C. D. Lahr, Weak and norm approximate identities are different, Pacific J. Math. 72 (1977), 99–104.
- [38] E. Kaniuth and A. T.-M. Lau, Fourier and Fourier-Stieltjes Algebras on Locally Compact Groups, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Volume 231, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 2018.
- [39] E. Kaniuth and A. Ulger, The Bochner-Schoenberg-Eberlein property for commutative Banach algebras, especially Fourier and Fourier-Stieltjes algebras, Trans. American Math. Soc. 362 (2010), 4331–4356.
- [40] M. Kosiek and K. Rudol, Dual algebras and A-measures, J. of Function Spaces 2014, Art. ID 364271, 8 pp.
- [41] R. Larsen, An Introduction to the Theory of Multipliers, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 175. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1971.
- [42] K. B. Laursen and M. M. Neumann, An Introduction to Spectral Theory, London Mathematical Society Monographs, Volume 20, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 2000.
- [43] A. T.-M. Lau, Uniformly continuous functionals on the Fourier algebra of any locally compact group, Trans. American Math. Soc. 251 (1979), 39–59.
- [44] T. W. Palmer, Banach Algebras and the General Theory of *-Algebras, Volume I, Algebras and Banach Algebras, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, Volume 49, Cambridge University Press, 1994.
- [45] A. L. T. Patterson, Amenability, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Number 29, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1988.
- [46] H. P. Rosenthal, Projections onto translation invariant subspaces of $L^p(G)$, Memoirs American Math. Soc. 63 (1966), 1–84.
- [47] W. Rudin, Fourier Analysis on Groups, Wiley, New York, 1962.

- [48] W. Rudin, Function Theory in the Unit Ball of \mathbb{C}^n , Springer-Verlag, New York, 1980.
- [49] V. Runde, Amenable Banach Algebras a Panorama, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer–Verlag, 2020.
- [50] S. J. Sidney, Properties of the sequence of closed powers of a maximal ideal in a sup-norm algebra, Trans. American Math. Soc. 131 (1968), 128–148.
- [51] E. L. Stout, *The Theory of Uniform Algebras*, Bogden and Quigley, Tarrytown-on-Hudson, New York, 1971.
- [52] S.-E. Takahasi and O. Hatori, Commutative Banach algebras which satisfy a Bochner-Schoenberg-Eberlein-type theorem, Proc. American Math. Soc. 110 (1990), 149–158.
- [53] S.-E. Takahasi and O. Hatori, Commutative Banach algebras and BSE-inequalities, Math. Japonica 37 (1992), 47–52.
- [54] S.-E. Takahasi, Y. Takahashi, O. Hatori, and K. Tanahashi, Commutative Banach algebras and BSE norm, Math. Japonica 46 (1997), 273–277.
- [55] A. Ülger, Weakly compact bilinear forms and Arens regularity, Proc. American Math. Soc. 101 (1987), 697–704.
- [56] A. Ülger, Arens regularity sometimes implies the RNP, Pacific J. Math. 143 (1990), 377– 399.
- [57] A. Ülger, Some results about the spectrum of commutative Banach algebras under the weak topology and applications, Monatsh. Math. 121 (1996), 353–379.

Index of Terms

 C^* -algebra, 14 Banach function algebra, 10 Banach function algebra, unital, 10 adjoint, second adjoint, 8 almost periodic functions, 29 annihilator, 9 approximate identity, 16 approximate identity, bounded, 16 approximate identity, bounded pointwise, 16 approximate identity, contractive, 16 approximate identity, contractive pointwise, 16 approximate identity, pointwise, 16 approximate identity, pointwise bounded, 48 approximate identity, pointwise contractive, 48 Arens products, 13 Arens regular, 13 Banach algebra, 9 Banach algebra, dual, 14 Banach algebra, dual, isometric, 14 Banach function algebra, contractive, 16, 54Banach function algebra, dual, 14, 33 Banach function algebra, has a BSE norm, 29 Banach function algebra, ideal in its bidual, 14 Banach function algebra, natural, 11 Banach function algebra, norm-one characters, 21 Banach function algebra, pointwise contractive, 16 Banach function algebra, regular, 12 Banach function algebra, self-adjoint, 11 Banach function algebra, strongly regular, 12

Banach function algebra, Tauberian, 12 Banach sequence algebra, 12 Beurling algebra, 46 bidual space, 8 Bochner-Schoenberg-Eberlein theorem, 29, 51 boundary, 23 boundary, Choquet, 23 boundary, closed, 23 boundary, Silov, 23 BSE norm, 29 centre, 9 character space, 9 character, evaluation, 11 classification theorem, 54 Cohen's factorization theorem, 28 Cole algebra, 23, 54 compactification, Bohr, 44 compactification, one-point, 11 compactification, Stone–Cech, 40 complemented, 9 determining set, 10 disc algebra, 12, 20, 41, 57 Dixmier projection, 9 dual group, 29 fibre, 41 Figà-Talamanca–Herz algebra, 47, 62 Fourier algebra, 19, 20, 30 Fourier–Stieltjes algebra, 30 function algebra, 10 Gleason metric, 24, 37 Gleason part, 24 group algebra, 29 hull, 12hyper-Stonean envelope, 14, 40 idempotent, 9 isomorphic, isometrically isomorphic, 8 Kaplansky's density theorem, 29, 30

Leinert set, 64 Lipschitz algebra, 40, 60

Markov–Kakutani fixed-point theorem, 15, 20 measure algebra, 14 multiplier, 9 multiplier algebra, 10, 59

peak set, peak point, 11 peak-point conjecture, 23 predual, 14 predual, unique, 14

reflexive ideal, 62 Rosenthal's theorem, 63 Schauder–Tychonoff fixed-point theorem, 15 Segal algebra, 16, 50, 51, 61 semi-direct product, 9 separating ball property, 19 separating ball property, strong, 62 separating ball property, weak, 21 set of synthesis, 12 strong boundary point, 12 support, 12

uniform algebra, 10, 40 uniform algebra, Cole algebra, 23, 44 uniform algebra, equivalent to, 10 uniform algebra, logmodular, 27

weakly compact homomorphism, 64

Index of Symbols

$\cos S, 8$	T', T'', 8
$(\mathcal{B}(E,F), \ \cdot\ _{\mathrm{op}}), \mathcal{B}(E), 8$	$VN(\Gamma), 45$
$1_K, 10$	C, 8
$A = B \ltimes I, 9$	D, 8
A", 13	$\Gamma_0(A), \Gamma(A), 23$
A(K), 12	I, 8
$A(\Gamma)$, 20, 29, 30, 37, 44, 45, 63, 65	$\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{N}_n, 8$
$A(\overline{\mathbb{D}}), 12, 23, 24, 41, 57$	$\mathbb{N}^*, 40$
AP(G), 29	$\Phi_A, 9$
$A^{\sharp}, 9$	$\Phi_{\mathcal{Q}(A)}, 32$
$A_p(\mathbb{F}_2), 64$	$\mathbb{T}, 8$
$A_p(\Gamma), 47, 62-64$	$\widetilde{\widetilde{K}}$, 14, 40
$B(\Gamma), 29, 30, 44$	$\mathbb{Z}, 8$
$B_{\omega}, 46$	$\beta S, 40$
$B_{ ho}(\Gamma), 47$	$\delta_x, 11$
C(K), 10	ℓ^{1} , 40
$C^*(\Gamma), 30$	$\ell^{(1)}(K), 11$
$C^*_{\delta}(\Gamma), 45$	$\ell^1(\Phi_A), 53$
$C^{o}_{\rho}(\Gamma), 45$	$\ell^{\infty}(S), 12$
$C_{00}^{\mu}(K), 10$	ℓ^p , 13, 19
$C_0(K), C^b(K), C_{00}(K), 10$	$\kappa_E, 8$
$E', E'', E_{[r]}, 8$	$\lim S, 8$
$E \sim F, E \cong F, 8$	S , 8
G(A), 37	$\ \cdot\ _1 \leq \ \cdot\ _2, \ \cdot\ _1 \sim \ \cdot\ _2, 8$
$H^{1}, 42$	$\ \cdot\ _{\mathrm{BSE}}, 29$
$H^{\infty}, 24, 27$	$\ \cdot\ _{\mathrm{op}}$, 8
I(S), 12	$\overline{\Phi_A}, 33$
J(S), 12	$\pi_A, 13$
$J_x, 12$	$\sigma(E, E'), \sigma(E', E), 8$
$L(A), L(A, \Omega), 28$	$\widehat{G}, 29$
$L^1(G), 29, 44, 51, 61$	bG, 44
$L^1(G) \cap L^p(G), 52$	$c_0 \widehat{\otimes} c_0, 60$
$L_f, 11$	$c_{00}(S), 12$
M(G), 14, 29	$d_A, 24, 37$
M(K), 11	h(I), 12
$M^{\sharp}, 11$	$K_{\{x\}}, 41$
$M_{arphi}, 9$	$\mathcal{M}(A), 10, 11, 59$
$M_x, M_\infty, 11$	$\mathcal{Q}(A(\Gamma)), 45$
P(K), 12	$\mathcal{Q}(A),32,33$
R(K), 12, 24	$\mathcal{Q}(A)'', 33$
$R_{ m N},13$	$\mathfrak{Z}(A), 9$
$S^{\perp}, 9$	$lip_{\alpha}\mathbb{I}, Lip_{\alpha}\mathbb{I}, 40, 60$
	[79]